
 

  
October 6th, 2025 

 
 
Please Note: The Council Meeting will be conducted at Rolla City Hall. Citizens are encouraged to watch the 
proceedings live on the City of Rolla, Missouri YouTube page at https://www.youtube.com/@City_of_Rolla/streams 
 

COUNCIL PRAYER 
     Ministerial Alliance 

AGENDA OF THE ROLLA CITY COUNCIL 
Monday, October 6th, 2025; 6:30 P.M. 

City Hall Council Chambers 
901 North Elm Street 

 
PRESIDING: Mayor Pro-Tempore Kevin Greven 
 

COUNCIL ROLL: Vacancy, AUGUST ROLUFS, ANDREW BEHRENDT, NATHAN CHIRBAN, 
STEVE JACKSON, AARON PACE, WILLIAM HAHN, TOM MC NEVEN, 
KEVIN GREVEN, DAVID SHELBY, TINA BALCH AND MICHEAL DICKENS 

 
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *  

 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Councilwoman Balch 
 

I. CONSENT AGENDA –  
 

A. Consider Approval of the City Council Minutes of: 
1. City Council Minutes – September 2nd, 2025 
2. Closed Session Minutes – September 2nd, 2025 
3. City Council Minutes – September 17th, 2025 
4. City Council Workshop Minutes – September 17th, 2025 

 
II. REPORT OF MAYOR and COUNCIL/REPORTS OF BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS/CITY 

DEPARTMENTS 
 

a) Environmental Services Department Monthly Report August 2025 
b) Building Codes monthly report – August 2025 
c) Rolla Municipal Court summary – August 2025 
d) Police Department Monthly Report – August 2025 
e) Animal Control Division Report – August 2025 
f) The Centre Income Statement ending August 2025 
g) Fire Incident Report for August 2025 
h) City of Rolla Financials for August 2025 

 
III. PUBLIC HEARINGS -   

 
A. Public Hearing and Ordinance to approve the renaming of Sandstone Street to Sandstone Drive. (City 

Planner Tom Coots) Public Hearing/First Reading 
 

IV. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS and SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS – None 
 

 
 
 

https://www.youtube.com/@City_of_Rolla/streams


2 | P a g e  
 October 6th, 2025 

 
 

V. OLD BUSINESS –   
A. Ordinance to approve Preliminary Engineering Agreement with BNSF for 18th/Bardley Roundabout. (Public 

Works Director) Final Reading  
 

B. Ordinance to enter into agreement with MoDOT for Transportation Alternatives Funds Agreement to replace 
45 non-compliant curb ramps. (PW Director Darin Pryor) Final Reading. 
 

C. Ordinance amending Sec.31-3 of the Rolla City Code pertaining to Park Hours. (Parks Director Floyd 
Jernigan) Final Reading 
 

D. Ordinance approving a CUP to allow an Agricultural Business Use (golf driving range) in the R-1, Subruban 
Residential district at 1905 Country Ridge Rd. (City Planner Tom Coots) Final Reading 
 

VI. NEW BUSINESS –   
A. Ordinance authorizing a Municipal Agreement with the Missouri Highways and Transportation Commission 

for repairs to the 10th Street (Route BB) bridge over the railroad. (Public Works Director, Darin Pryor) First 
Reading 
 

B. Ordinance  prohibiting parking on Little Oaks Road between Route 63 and Rolla Street. (PW Director Darin 
Pryor) First Reading 

 
C. Ordinance authoring the execution of an Airport Infrastructure Grant Agreement with the Missouri Highways 

and Transportation Commission. (PW Director Darin Pryor) First Reading 
 

D. Ordinance regarding the rights and duties of pedestrians and motorists in roadways and intersections. (Police 
Chief Sean Fagan) First Reading  

 
E. Ordinance to amend Chapter 18 of the City Code pertaining to trash service fees. (Environmental Services 

Director Roger Pankey) First Reading 
 

F.     Discussion/Motion to ratify the Centre’s Natatorium (indoor pool)-continued operation. (City Administrator 
John Butz) 

 
VII. CLAIMS and/or FISCAL TRANSACTIONS –    

A. Motion to award bid to Fabick Cat for a Caterpillar 430 Backhoe. (PW Director Darin Pryor)  
B. Motion to award bid to:  

a. Rush Truck Centers of Missouri for the purchase of an International HV507 truck. 
b.  Viking-Cives Midwest for a 16’ dump bed. (PW Director Darin Pryor)  

C. Motion to ratify City Administration’s renewal with Sunlife for excess coverage for health insurance. (City 
Administrator, John Butz)  

 
VIII. CITIZEN COMMUNICATION 

 
IX. MAYOR/CITY COUNCIL COMMENTS 

 
X. COMMENTS FOR THE GOOD OF THE ORDER  

 
A. Next City Council meeting, Monday, October 20th.  
B. Gina Zervos – RHS Director of Communications: 2025 Homecoming Parade on Thursday, October 16th at  

6:00 p.m. 
 

A. CLOSED SESSION – Closed Session per RSMo 610.021 – NONE 
 

XI. ADJOURNMENT -  



September 2, 2025 

ROLLA CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 2ND, 2025; 6:30 P.M. 
ROLLA CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
901 NORTH ELM STREET 

Presiding:  Mayor Louis J. Magdits IV 

Council Members in Physical Attendance: August Rolufs, Andrew Behrendt, Nathan Chirban, Aaron Pace, 
Steve Jackson, William Hahn, Tom McNeven, Kevin Greven, David Shelby, and Micheal Dickens. 

Council Members Absent: Ward 1 Vacancy and Tina Balch 

Department Directors and Other City Officials in Physical Attendance: Public Works Director Darin Pryor, 
Fire Chief Jeff Breen, Community Development Director Dawn Bell, Environmental Service Director Roger 
Pankey, Parks Director Floyd Jernigan, City Planner Tom Coots, Interim Centre Recreation Director Josh 
Stephens, Police Major Will Loughridge, Finance Director Steffanie Rogers, City Administrator John Butz 
and City Counselor Nathan Nickolas. 

Mayor Louis J. Magdits IV called the meeting to order at approximately 6:30 p.m. and asked Councilman 
Greven to lead in the Pledge of Allegiance.  

I. CONSENT AGENDA –

A. Consider Approval of the City Council Minutes of:
A. City Council Minutes – August 4th, 2025
B. Closed Session Minutes – August 4th, 2025
C. City Council Minutes – August 18th, 2025
D. City Council Workshop Minutes – August 25th, 2025

A motion was made by Shelby, seconded by Chirban, to approve the minutes. Motion passed unanimously 
by voice vote. 

II. REPORT OF MAYOR and COUNCIL/REPORTS OF BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS/CITY
DEPARTMENTS 

a) Environmental Services Department Monthly Report July 2025
b) Building Codes monthly report – July 2025
c) Police Department Monthly Report – July 2025
d) Animal Control Division Report – July 2025
e) The Centre Income Statement ending July 2025
f) Fire Incident Report for July 2025
g) City of Rolla Financials for July 2025
h) Rolla Municipal Court summary – July 2025
i) Enhanced Enterprise Zone Board Minutes for August 21, 2025

There were no notable comments or questions regarding the reports. 

I.A.1



2 | P a g e
September 2, 2025 

III. PUBLIC HEARINGS -

A. Public Hearing and Ordinance to approve the FY 2026 Budget and 2026 Sewer Fees.
(City Administrator John Butz) Mayor Magdits opened the public hearing at 6:32 p.m. City
Administrator John Butz shared the budget as it had been reviewed during the August 25th workshop.
There is $1 per month sewer service availability fee increase as well as a 8%-10% increase on trash
fees for residential and commercial customers. With no other questions, Mayor City Counselor
Nathan Nickolaus explained a fee verses a tax pertaining to the Hancock Amendment. Magdits
closed the public hearing at 6:39 p.m. City Counselor Nathan Nickolaus read the ordinance for its
first reading by title: AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING AN ANNUAL BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL
YEAR BEGINNING ON OCTOBER 1, 2025 AND APPROPRIATING FUNDS PURSUANT
THERETO.

IV. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS and SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS – None

V. OLD BUSINESS –

A. Ordinance to approve the Conditional Use Permit to allow an Agricultural Business Use (golf 
driving range) in the R-1, Suburban Residential district at 1905 Country Ridge Rd. (Com. Dev. 
Director Dawn Bell) There were multiple concerns expressed about the lack of clearly defined 
conditions within the ordinance regarding the CUP.  A motion was made by Hahn, seconded by 
Jackson, to table the discussion until the first meeting in October, to allow staff time to amend 
the ordinance with greater specificity. Motion passed unanimously by voice vote.

B. Ordinance to approve the vacation of an easement at 418 Hutchinson Drive. (City Planner Tom 
Coots) City Counselor Nathan Nickolaus read the ordinance for its final reading by title: 
ORDINANCE 4874: AN ORDINANCE APPROVING THE VACATION OF AN EASEMENT 
LOCATED AT 418 HUTCHINSON DRIVE. A motion was made by Chirban, seconded by Hahn to 
approve the ordinance. A roll call showed: Rolufs, Behrendt, Chirban, Pace, Jackson, Hahn, 
McNeven, Greven, Shelby, and Dickens. Nays: None.

VI. NEW BUSINESS –

A. Ordinance to approve the 2025-2026 sewer service availability fee increase. PW Director Darin 
Pryor presented the proposed increases as discussed in the earlier public hearing and as is included in 
the proposed 2025-2026 Budget. City Counselor Nathan Nickolaus read the ordinance for its first 
reading by title: AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CERTAIN SECTIONS OF CHAPTER 35 OF 
THE GENERAL ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI, KNOWN AS THE 
CODE OF THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI, RELATING TO SEWERS AND WATER.

B. Motion to appoint a Council attendee or to delegate same to the City Administrator for the Annual 
LAGERS meeting, October 30th-31st, 2025. (City Administrator John Butz) A motion was made by 
Jackson to nominate Greven, seconded by Chirban. Motion passed unanimously by voice vote. 
Councilman Greven accepted the nomination.

I . A . 2



3 | P a g e
September 2, 2025 

C. Resolution to demonstrate support for a possible affordable housing project by showing our
commitment to extend the Acorn Trail. (Community Development Director Dawn Bell) City
Counselor Nathan Nickolaus read the resolution for one reading, by title: RESOLUTION 2073: A
RESOLUTION EXPRESSING THE CITY OF ROLLA'S SUPPORT FOR TERRAVEST
DEVELOPMENT CORP’S HOUSING PROJECT, PARK POINTE, AND ITS APPLICATION TO
THE MISSOURI HOUSING DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION FOR TAX CREDITS,
INCLUDING THE CITY'S COMMITMENT TO SUPPORT EXTENSION OF THE ACORN
TRAIL. A motion was made by Greven, seconded by Shelby, to approve the resolution. Motion
passed unanimously by voice vote.

VII. CLAIMS and/or FISCAL TRANSACTIONS –   None

VIII. CITIZEN COMMUNICATION

1. Judy Jepson and Russ Schmidt brought Annie the Shelter Therapy Dog for introduction.
2. Debbie Castle – resident of the county: Spoke in support of the pool and asked questions for

clarification.
3. Julie Murry – Spoke in favor of the pool and shared her personal story of recovery during and after

illness.
4. Penelope Isik – Spoke in favor of the pool and shared personal Physical Therapy success due to her

pool usage.
5. Loraine McFarland – Asked  questions regarding a possible tax on the April and shared that she had

attended the Phelps County Commissioners to discuss a County-wide initiative.
6. Leslie Malott asked questions regarding the different pools.
7. Kristy Bennett stated her support and feels that the community would be more receptive to passing a

tax if it was proposed again.

IX. MAYOR/CITY COUNCIL COMMENTS

A. Consider to further table the Centre discussions until the September 17th Council Meeting. (No
motion needed as it was tabled at the previous August 18th meeting.

B. Councilman Chirban commented on all the new events being posted on the Park’s Department
website and asked Parks Director Floyd Jernigan to share about the new Introduction to Archery
class for kids being hosted in conjunction with the Missouri Conservation Department, on September
13th at Eugene Northern.

C. Councilman Greven talked about Fort Leonard Wood and its importance to Rolla.

X. COMMENTS FOR THE GOOD OF THE ORDER

A. (cancelled) Next Council Workshop, Tuesday, September 9th, 2025 (Note: This will begin in
closed session then move to open session). It was later decided that this tentative date was to be
cancelled. More discussion will be had on this in the future.

B. Next City Council meeting, Wednesday, September 17th (due to MML Conference)
C. Community Development Director Dawn Bell shared that mandatory classes for the Managed Deer

Hunt will be on September 4th at 5:30 p.m., September 8th at 5:30 p.m., and September 10th, at 7:00
a.m. in the City Council Chambers.

D. Mayor Magdits encouraged everyone to attend the Fall Nature Festival & Native Plant Sale
scheduled for Saturday, September 13th from 8:00 a.m.-2:00 p.m. at the Audubon Trails Nature
Center. Parks Director Floyd provided more detail as to the offerings of the event.

I . A . 3



4 | P a g e
September 2, 2025 

E. Parks Director Floyd Jernigan invited everyone to the Canine Plunge at the Splash Zone Waterpark
on September 13th from noon to 2:00 p.m.

XI. CLOSED SESSION –

A. Closed Session per RSMo 610.021 – (12) Contract Negotiations (18) Law Enforcement
Investigation.

At 8:19 p.m., a motion was made by Jackson, seconded by Hahn, to go into closed session. A roll
call vote showed: Ayes: Greven, McNeven, Behrendt, Jackson, Chirban, Pace, Dickens, Rolufs,
Shelby, and Hahn. Nays: none.

At 9:52 p.m., Council returned from closed session where there were no final actions taken.

XII. ADJOURNMENT –

With nothing further to discuss, Mayor Magdits adjourned the meeting at 9:52 p.m.

______________________________ __________________________________ 
CITY CLERK  MAYOR              

I.A.4



September 17, 2025 

ROLLA CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 17TH, 2025; 6:30 P.M. 
ROLLA CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
901 NORTH ELM STREET 

Presiding:  Mayor Louis J. Magdits IV 

Council Members in Physical Attendance: August Rolufs, Andrew Behrendt, Aaron Pace, Steve Jackson, 
William Hahn, Tom McNeven, Kevin Greven, David Shelby, Micheal Dickens and Tina Balch. 

Council Members Absent: Ward 1 Vacancy and Nathan Chirban 

Department Directors and Other City Officials in Physical Attendance: Public Works Director Darin Pryor, 
Fire Chief Jeff Breen, Community Development Director Dawn Bell, Environmental Service Director Roger 
Pankey, Parks Director Floyd Jernigan, City Planner Tom Coots, Interim Centre Recreation Director Josh 
Stephens, Police Major Will Loughridge, Finance Director Steffanie Rogers, City Administrator John Butz 
and City Counselor Nathan Nickolas. 

Mayor Louis J. Magdits IV called the meeting to order at approximately 6:30 p.m. and asked Councilman 
Shelby to lead in the Pledge of Allegiance.  

I. PUBLIC HEARINGS -  None

II. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS and SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS – None

III. OLD BUSINESS –

A. Ordinance to approve the FY 2026 Budget. (City Administrator John Butz)
A motion was made by Hahn to amend the ordinance to read, “All expenditures represented by

this budget that require individual prior City Council resolution or ordinance shall include an
executive summary that includes the following information: Department Head: Action Requested:
Item/Subject: Budget Appropriation: Fund and Account Title: Fund/Account Budgeted 2025/26:
Amount previously allocated.” Motion was approved unanimously by those present.

A motion was made by Hahn regarding a new Finance report, but was later withdrawn to allow
Administration time to explore options.

City Counselor Nathan Nickolaus read the ordinance for its final reading, by title: ORDINANCE
4875: AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING AN ANNUAL BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR
BEGINNING ON OCTOBER 1, 2025 AND APPROPRIATING FUNDS PURSUANT
THERETO.A motion was made by Greven, seconded by Behrendt to approve the ordinance as
amended. A roll call vote showed: Ayes: Balch, Dickens, Greven, Jackson, Hahn, McNeven, Pace,
Shelby, Behrendt, and Rolufs. Nays: none.

B. Ordinance to approve the 2025-2026 sewer service availability fee increase. (PW Director Darin
Pryor) City Counselor Nathan Nickolaus read the ordinance for its final reading, by title:
ORDINANCE 4876: AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CERTAIN SECTIONS OF CHAPTER 35
OF THE GENERAL ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI, KNOWN AS THE
CODE OF THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI, RELATING TO SEWERS AND WATER. A
motion was made by Jackson, seconded by Hahn to approve the ordinance. A roll call vote showed:
Ayes: Behrendt, Jackson, Dickens, Shelby, Greven, Hahn, Rolufs, Pace, Balch, and McNeven. Nays:
none.

I.A.5



2 | P a g e
September 17, 2025 

IV. NEW BUSINESS –

A. Ordinance to approve Preliminary Engineering Agreement with BNSF for 18th/Bardsley
Roundabout. (Public Works Director) In 2021, Lochmueller Group recommended a single-lane
roundabout based on a traffic study. Council approved continued design work in January to
determine right-of-way needs. Lochmueller has been coordinating the design with BNSF, who is
requiring a Preliminary Engineering Services Agreement for plan review by a third-party consultant.
Council requested that the full traffic study from 2021 be emailed for review. City Counselor Nathan
Nickolaus read the ordinance for its first reading by title: AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE
MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CERTAIN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF ROLLA,
MISSOURI AND BNSF RAILWAY COMPANY.

B. Ordinance to enter into agreement with MoDOT for Transportation Alternatives Funds Agreement
to replace 45 non-compliant curb ramps. (PW Director Darin Pryor) City Counselor Nathan
Nickolaus read the ordinance for its first reading by title: AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE
MAYOR OF THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI TO EXECUTE ON BEHALF OF THE CITY OF
ROLLA, MISSOURI A CERTAIN TRANSPORTATION ALTERNATIVE FUNDS PROGRAM
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI AND MISSOURI HIGHWAYS
AND TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION FOR THE REPLACEMENT OF APPROXIMATELY
45 ADA CURB RAMPS.

C. Ordinance amending Sec.31-3 of the Rolla City Code pertaining to Loitering and Park Hours.
(Parks Director Floyd Jernigan) A motion was made by Hahn, seconded by McNeven, to amend the
proposed ordinance to read, “It shall be unlawful for any person to enter or remain in any city
outdoor park or playground from one (1) hour after sunset to one (1) hour before sunrise, except in
areas illuminated for the purpose of nighttime activities and when Parks Department sanctioned
activities are taking place”. The motion passed unanimously by voice vote. City Counselor Nathan
Nickolaus read the ordinance for its first reading by title: AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE
CITY CODE REGARDING PARK HOURS.

V. CLAIMS and/or FISCAL TRANSACTIONS –

A. Motion to award bank depository services to Phelps County Bank for a 4-year term expiring in
2029. (Finance Director Steffanie Rogers) A motion was made by Greven, seconded by Jackson, to
award the bid to Phelps County Bank. Motion passed unanimously by voice vote.

VI. CITIZEN COMMUNICATION
Note: Mayor Magdits moved to address Mayor/Council Comments before hearing Citizen 
Communication. 
 Several citizens spoke in support of The Centre and asked questions seeking clarification on various 

aspects of the Mayor’s previous statement. Speakers included: 
1. Debbie Castle
2. Cindy Samaritz
3. Carlton Frederickson
4. Shawn Murphy
5. Colin Gentry
6. Anne West
7. Tyler Johnson
8. Thomas Maples shared his concerns regarding the proposed Park’s ordinance and the 18th/Bardsley

round about that is still being designed.
9. Charlie Courts (resident of Rolla Towers) shared his issues with the Rolla Housing Authority.
10. Zephryne Milbandt: Asked for consideration on the placement of more bike racks around town.

I . A . 6



3 | P a g e
September 17, 2025 

VII. MAYOR/CITY COUNCIL COMMENTS

A. Mayor update on Rec Center/Natatorium.
Mayor Magdits began with a summary on the Centre’s business model change from a

traditional community recreation center to a medically integrated facility and reminded Council that
The Centre is the only Certified Medical (recreational) facility in Missouri.

The Natatorium is operating at a $50–$300K annual deficit, while SplashZone was losing a 
similar amount over just a three-month period. Additionally, approximately $700K in capital 
expenditure repairs are needed." There was discussion about the possibility of approaching voters for 
a small sales tax for the purpose of repairs and modifications on the pool. Specifics on ballot 
language will have to be finalized by January 2026, for an April election. That timeline would give 
citizens 60-90 days for citizens to express what they would like to see on the ballot and for citizen 
interest groups to organize for community education and support. An architect and planning 
feasibility firm who specializes in recreation centers, will need to be hired for further planning. 

B. Councilman Jackson commented that he attended the last RACC luncheon where a presentation was
made regarding the Missouri S&T Protoplex. He was excited about the hundreds of jobs this may
create in Rolla.

C. Councilman Hahn shared information about the upcoming Ranney Run which has raised significant
funds and been a champion for the Animal Shelter for almost a decade.

VIII. COMMENTS FOR THE GOOD OF THE ORDER

A. Next City Council meeting, Monday, October 6th.
B. Public Works Director Darin Pryor shared that the Arts and Crafts event will be October 4th from

9:00 am -3:00 pm with 100+ vendors.
C. Park’s Director Floyd Jernigan shared that Kid’s Night Out would be Saturday, September 27th and

details about a Free PE class at Eugene Northern.
D. Councilman Jackson asked if there would be a fall clean-up. Env. Ser. Director Roger Pankey shared

that this event was only in the spring.

IX. CLOSED SESSION –

A. Closed Session per RSMo 610.021 – (12) Contract Negotiations

At 8:49 p.m. a motion was made by Shelby, seconded by Balch, to go into closed session. A roll call
vote showed: Ayes: McNeven, Behrendt, Jackson, Hahn, Pace, Dickens, Rolufs, Greven, Balch, and
Shelby.

At 10:01 Council returned from closed session where there were no final actions taken.

X. ADJOURNMENT -

With nothing further to discuss, Mayor Magdits adjourned the meeting at 10:01 p.m. 

______________________________ __________________________________ 
CITY CLERK  MAYOR              

I.A.7



I.A.8



AUGUST MATERIALS COLLECTED & SHIPPED 

FROM RECYCLING CENTER 

Material 
Aug 

2025 

Cardboard 99.4 ton 

Newspaper 35.3 ton 

Hiah Grade Paoer 0.0 ton 

Aluminum 2.3 ton 

Steel Cans/Scrap Metal 3.1 ton 

Plastic 8.9 ton 

Glass 25.2 ton 

Batteries 0.0 ton 

Electronic Waste 0.0 ton 

Household HW 23lb 130gal 

TOTAL 174.2 ton 

Type of Service 
Aug 

2025 

Soecial Pick-uos 45 

Pacer Shreddino 3.5 hours 

Reoorted Trash Nuisances 0 

Households Dropping Off 
120 

Hazardous Waste 

Material 
Aug 

2025 

Refuse 1,609.6 ton 

(Based on Calendar Year) 

Jul Aug Year-to-Date Year-to-Date 

2025 2024 2025 2024 

150.9 ton 131.7 ton 963.2 ton 991.7 ton 

16.6 ton 16.4 ton 210.6 ton 193.0 ton 

0.0 ton 0.0 ton 17.9 ton 17.3 ton 

0.0 ton 2.4 ton 12.0 ton 9.5 ton 

2.7 ton 2.2 ton 31.0 ton 30.0 ton 

10.1 ton 10.5 ton 59.8 ton 60.7 ton 

0.0 ton 0.0 ton 143.7 ton 141.5 ton 

0.0 ton 4.1LBS ton 2.7 ton 0.9 ton 

7.3 ton 3.1 ton 26.2 ton 27.5 ton 

:> 130gal ton 0.0 ton 0.0 ton 0.0 ton 

187.6 ton 166.3 ton 1,467.2 ton 1,471.8 ton 

SERVICES PROVIDED 
-().3/� 

Jul Aug Year-to-Date 

2025 2024 2025 

54 49 324 

3.5 hours 2.8 hours 32.8 hours 

0 0 0 

104 110 827 

DISPOSAL TONNAGE 

(Sanitation Division) 
Jul Aug Year-to-Date 

2025 2024 2025 

1,998.8 ton 1,641.3 ton 13,956.7 ton 

Year-to-Date 

2024 

280 

43.5 hours 

0 

762 

Year-to-Date 

2024 

12,931.1 ton 

+?.'t3'e 

Yearly Total 

2024 

1,434.5 ton 

297.8 ton 

17.3 ton 

16.5 ton 

45.4 ton 

87.1 ton 

190.1 ton 

0.9 ton 

39.1 ton 

0.0 ton 

2,128.6 ton 

Yearly Total 

2024 

414 

60.5 hours 

0 

1132 

Yearly Total 

2024 

19,044.5 ton 

II.a.1





BUILDING PERMITS ISSUED 
# 

PERMITS ISSUED 
Electric, PlumbinQ, etc. Only 
Sinqle Famll Detached 
Single Family Attached 
Duolexes 

3-or-4 family 
5-or-more family 
Hotels, Motels 
Other nonhousekeeping shelter 
Amusement, social, recreational 
Churches, other religious 
Industrial 
Parkinq Qara""s 
Service stations, reoair aara-s 
Hospitals, institutional 
Offices, banks, professional 
Public Works, utilities 
Schools, other educational 
Stores, customer 
Towers, antennas 
Siana, attached and detached 
Residential addition, remodel 
Commercial addition, remodel 
Residential aaraae, caroort 
Demolition, single family 
Demolition, 2-tamily 
Demolition, 3-or-4 family 
Demolition, 5-or-more family 
Demolition, all other 
Total Residential Units 
EST. CONSTRUCTION COSTS 
Buildina Permit Fees 
FEES 

INSPECTIONS PERFORMED 

Budding Inspections 
Electrical Inspections 
Excavation Inspections 
Plumbing Inspections 
Mechanical Inspections 
Code Inspections 
Nuisance Inspections 
Business License lnsoections 
Tu I AL INlSl'ECTIONS 

9f3/2025 

AUGUST 
FY2025 

Value # 
48 $ 2,868,550 
25 $ . 

. $ . 

6 $ 660,000 
. $ . 

1 $ 520.000 
. $ -

. $ . 

. $ . 

. $ . 

. $ . 

. $ . 

. $ . 

- $ . 

. $ . 

. $ . 

- $ -

. $ . 

. $ . 

. $ . 
5 $ 24,700 
8 $ 60,850 
3 $ 1,603,000 
. $ . 

. $ . 

. $ . 

. $ . 

. $ . 

. $ . 

16 $ 1,180,000.00 
$ 2,868 ,550.00 
$ 9,210.85 
$ 25,810.85 

AUGUST 
FY2025 

157 
48 
0 
48 
11 

159 
173 
17 

613 

Management Report 
ASCAL YEAR 2025 

August2025 

AUGUST 
FY2024 

Value 

34 2749775 
11 $ . 

3 $ 810,000 
• $ -

- $ . 

1 $ 425,000 
- $ -

- $ . 

. $ . 

. $ . 

• $ . 

• $ . 

- $ . 

- $ -

. $ . 

- $ -

- $ . 

• $ . 

• $ . 

• $ . 

3 $ 12,500 
8 $ 413,775 
8 $ 1,088,500 
• $ . 

• $ . 

• $ . 

• $ .

• $ . 

• $ .

7 $ 1,235,000.00 
• $ 2,749,775.00 
• $ 9,681.35 
• $ 21,131.35 

AUGUST 
FY2024 

117 

61 
0 
54 
35 
157 
214 

10 
648 

YTD YTD A CHANGE 
FY2025 FY2024 FY 24-FY 25 

# Value # Value #ISSUED $VALUE 
513 380 35.0% 
290 $ . 174 $ . 66.7% 

1i $ 3,360,000 23 $ 5,885,890 -52.2% -42.9%
9 $ 1,410,000 18 $ 2,678,000 -50.0% -47.3% 
5 $ 1,202,240 1 $ 300,000 400.0% 300.7% 
5 $ 2,545,000 5 $ 2,565,000 0.0% -0.8% 
. $ 1 $ 3,000,000 -100.0o/o -100.0% 
. $ . $ . 

. $ 1 $ 22,000 ·100.0% ·100.0% 

. $ • $ . 

. $ . - $ . 

$ 2 $ 2,900,000 -100.0% ·100.0% 
4 $ 317,000 2 $ 170,000 100.0% 86.5% 
. $ - $ . 

. $ . - $ . 

1 $ 4,387,038 • $ . 

. $ - . $ . 

. $ - $ . 

2 $ 2,700,000 2 $ 2,100,000 0.0% 28.6% 
. $ 1 $ 250,000 -100.0% -100.0% 

38 $ 7,293.230 49 $ 838,435 ·22.4% 769.9% 
85 $ 2,165,099 46 $ 1,323,548 84.8% 63.6%
39 $ 19,058,700 53 $ 9,148,374 -26.4% 108.3% 

5 $ 175,603 . $ . 

14 $ - 3 $ . 366.7% #DIV/0! 
1 $ - . $ . 

. $ . - $ . 

. $ . . $ . 

6 $ . 3 :i; . 100.0% 
56 $ 8,517,240 125 $ 14,852,466 -55.2% -42.7% 

. $ 44,613,910 . $ 31,804,823 #DIV/0! 41.2% 

. $ 118.599 . $ 101,114 #DIV/0! 17.3% 

. $ 274,449 . $ 237,338 #DIV/0! 15 6% 

YTD TIO rT 

FY2025 FY2024 FY24 - FY25 
1231 1,469 -10·10

762 853 ·11"/o 
0 0 ffUIVIU! 

454 ti4::I -��"lo 

319 356 ·lU"/o
1532 2,100 •l!./7o 
1514 1,�2t, 14o/o

87 130 •,j,j7o
5899 6,877 -l,..7o 

II.b.1





II.c.1



II.c.2



II.d.1



II.d.2



II.d.3





II.e.1





II.f.1



II.f.2



II.f.3



II.f.4



II.g.1





II.h.1



II.h.2



II.h.3



II.h.4



II.h.5



II.h.6



II.h.7



II.h.8



II.h.9



II.h.10



II.h.11



II.h.12



II.h.13



II.h.14



II.h.15



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



CITY OF ROLLA 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 

DEPARTMENT:  Community Development   ACTION REQUESTED: Public Hearing/1st Reading 

SUBJECT: Street Name Change: Renaming Sandstone Street to Sandstone Drive 

(STR25-01) 
MEETING DATE: October 6, 2025 

Application and Notice: 
    Applicant - City of Rolla 
    Public Notice - https://www.rollacity.org/agenda.shtml 

Background:  Sandstone Street was originally platted in Stone Ridge Estates in 1988. The plat did call 
the street ‘Sandstone Street.’ Once the street was built, the street signs that were 
erected simply said ‘Sandstone.’ Most other streets in the neighborhood are called 
‘Drive.’ Residents assumed the street was called Sandstone Drive. Maps produced by 
the city until about 25 years ago simply referred to the street as ‘Sandstone.’ Prior to 
the city using software for issuing building permits, building permits were issued based 
on both Sandstone Drive and Sandstone.  

The city erected new street signs in 2022. The new signs referred to the street as 
‘Sandstone Street.’ Assuming they had made a mistake, a resident attempted to 
change their mailing address and official identification to Sandstone Street. However, 
they were unable to make the changes, as the address systems did not recognize 
Sandstone Street as a valid address.  

Until recently, the E-911 system used Sandstone Street. The US Post Office uses 
Sandstone Drive. All 22 property owners were contacted prior to seeking to rename 
the street. 15 responded; all indicated that they prefer to use Sandstone Drive. Most 
residents already use Sandstone Drive for receiving mail and on official documents and 
identification. 

Discussion: Renaming the street seems to be the best course of action, rather than having both 
names or forcing all the residents to change their mailing address and identification. 

The resolution to allow the public notice for the street name change was adopted by 
the City Council at the August 18, 2025 meeting. Notice was provided in the Phelps 
County Focus. No protest from the impacted property owners was received.   

Prepared by: Tom Coots, City Planner 
Attachments: Area Map, Ordinance 

III.A.1

https://www.rollacity.org/agenda.shtml


ORDINANCE NO. ________ 

AN ORDINANCE TO CHANGE THE NAME OF SANDSTONE STREET TO 
SANDSTONE DRIVE   

(STR25-01) 

WHEREAS, the portion of Sandstone Street has been known as Sandstone Drive for a 
number of years, with mail and official identification referring to Sandstone Drive; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Rolla City Council met on August 18, 2025 and through the 
passage of Resolution 2072, found it necessary to change the name of Sandstone Street and 
directed that, in accordance with Missouri Revised Statutes, the notice be advertised in a local 
newspaper; and 

WHEREAS, a public notice was duly published in the Phelps County Focus for this 
according to law which notice provided that a public hearing would be held at Rolla City Hall, 901 
N. Elm, Rolla, Missouri; and 

WHEREAS, a period of four weeks from the date of publication of the notice was provided 
to allow for any affected property owners to file a written petition to protest the street name change; 
and 

WHEREAS, no written petition to protest the street name change has been received, and; 

WHEREAS, after such notice has been provided and no written petition has been received 
after four weeks from the date of publication of said notice, the City Council of Rolla shall have 
the power by ordinance to change said street name and that, once approved, the City Clerk shall 
file said ordinance with the Phelps County Recorder of Deeds. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF ROLLA, MISSOURI AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1:  That after consideration, the City Council approved the request to officially 
change Sandstone Street to Sandstone Drive. 

SECTION 2:  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after the date of its 
passage and approval.   

PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI AND 
APPROVED BY THE MAYOR THIS 20th DAY OF OCTOBER, 2025. 

APPROVED: 

______________________________ 
ATTEST:     Mayor 

______________________________ 
City Clerk 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

______________________________ 
City Counselor 

III.A.2



COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT
(573) 364-5333  |  comdev@rollacity.org  | www.rollacity.org/comdev

Project Information: For More Information Contact:

Case No:  STR25-01

Location:      Sandstone Street

Applicant:    City of Rolla

Request: 

Rename Sandstone Street to Sandstone Drive

Tom Coots, City Planner
tcoots@rollacity.org

(573) 426-6974

901 North Elm Street

City Hall: 2nd Floor

8:00 – 5:00 P.M.

Monday - Friday

III.A.3



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



CITY OF ROLLA 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 

DEPARTMENT HEAD: Darin Pryor 

ACTION REQUESTED: Final Reading 

ITEM/SUBJECT:    BNSF Preliminary Engineering Agreement for 
18th/Bardsley Roundabout 

DATE: 10-06-25

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
COMMENTARY:

In 2021 the Lochmueller Group completed a traffic study for the 18th Street / 
Bardsley / Old St. James Road Intersection.  The executive summary of that study 
is included in your packet. The recommendation from that study was to install a 
single lane roundabout at the intersection.  That study included preliminary 
engineering on the roundabout. 

Council entered into an agreement with the Lochmueller Group in January to 
continue design on this intersection and prepare plans that would be detailed 
enough to determine the needed right-of-way for the roundabout.  Funds for right-
of-way purchases are included in the proposed 2025-26 budget.  

Some of the property needed to complete the roundabout construction is owned 
by BNSF Railway. Lochmueller has been coordinating the design with BNSF. 
BNSF is requiring a Preliminary Engineering Services Agreement for a third party 
consultant to review the plans for the project.  This agreement is estimated at 
$34,997.  

Recommendation:  A final reading of the ordinance authorizing the Mayor to enter 
into the contract with BNSF for $34,997. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

Fund Title Budget Appropriation Item Budget Previous Allocations 

07/5-073.331.00 Professional/Contractual  $             420,000.00  $  35,000.00  $            140,000.00 

ITEM NO. ________________  V.A.1



ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CERTAIN 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI AND BNSF RAILWAY 
COMPANY. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI, AS 
FOLLOWS: 

Section 1:  That the Mayor of the City of Rolla, Missouri be and is hereby authorized 
and directed to execute on behalf of the City of Rolla, Missouri an agreement for 
Preliminary Engineering Services City of Rolla and BNSF Railway Company, a copy of 
said agreement being attached hereto and marked Exhibit “A”. 

Section 2:  This ordinance will be in full force and effect from and after the date of 
its passage and approval. 

PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI AND 
APPROVED BY THE MAYOR THIS 6TH DAY OF OCTOBER 2025. 

APPROVED: 

MAYOR 

ATTEST: 

CITY CLERK 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

CITY COUNSELOR 

V.A.2



EXHIBIT A Contract Number:  BF-20585195 

1 of 5 

PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING SERVICES AGREEMENT 
Project Review and Diagnostic Evaluation 

BNSF File No.: BF-20585195 
Mile Post 109.975 

Line Segment 1002 
U.S. DOT Number 664595S 

Cuba Subdivision 

This Agreement (“Agreement”) is executed to be effective as of ____________ 
(“Effective Date”), by and between BNSF RAILWAY COMPANY, a Delaware 
corporation (“BNSF”) and the City of Rolla, a political subdivision of the State of Missouri 
(“Agency”).  

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, BNSF owns and operates a line of railroad in and through the City of Rolla, 
State of Missouri; 

WHEREAS, Agency has stated its intention to proceed initially with a project to 
reconstruct the intersection of 18th Street & Bardsley/Old St James Road which will 
impact the BNSF at-grade crossing located on 18th Street (DOT 664595S, LS1002 
MP109.975) (the “Project”); 

WHEREAS, Agency has requested that BNSF perform certain preliminary engineering 
review services and other Work (defined below) with respect to its railroad facilities 
located at or near the Project site to facilitate Agency’s evaluation of the feasibility of 
proceeding with the Project; and 

WHEREAS, BNSF is agreeable to performing the Work, subject to the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement; 

AGREEMENT 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements of the 
parties contained herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, 
the parties agree as follows: 

V.A.3



EXHIBIT A Contract Number:  BF-20585195 

2 of 5 

1) Scope of Work 

As used herein, the term “Work” includes all work performed by BNSF, its employees, 
contractors, consultants, or other agents (collectively, the “BNSF Parties”) pursuant 
to this Agreement, including, but not limited to: (a) conducting on-site visits including 
diagnostic evaluations; (b) performing preliminary engineering services; (c) 
developing cost estimates for construction of the Project; (d) preparing draft 
agreements including legal review; and (e) reviewing and/or providing comments on 
preliminary layouts or other designs, plans, and/or documents in connection with the 
Project. 

2) Payment and Deposit for Work 

Agency authorizes BNSF to proceed with the Work relating to the Project.  Agency 
shall pay and reimburse BNSF for all actual costs and expenses that BNSF incurs in 
performing the Work, including without limitation: (a) labor, supplies, and material; (b) 
direct and indirect labor and contractor charges including additives; (c) delivery 
charges; (d) BNSF’s additives and overhead, as such are in effect on the date BNSF 
prepares its final billing; and (e) all applicable taxes due, paid, or payable by BNSF on 
such products and services, including sales and use taxes, business and occupation 
taxes, and similar taxes (collectively, “Actual Costs”). BNSF’s estimated cost for 
Work on this Project is $34,997 (“Estimated Cost”).  Any estimate provided by BNSF 
for the Work shall not be a limitation on the Work to be performed or the costs and 
expenses incurred, which Agency shall reimburse to BNSF in full. 

During its performance of the Work pursuant to this Agreement, BNSF will send 
Agency progressive invoices detailing the costs of the Work performed to date. 
Agency must reimburse BNSF for completed Work within thirty (30) days of the date 
of the invoice for such Work. Upon final completion of the Work, BNSF will send 
Agency a detailed invoice of final costs.  Agency must pay the final invoice within 
ninety (90) days of the date of the final invoice.  BNSF will assess a finance charge of 
.033% per day (12% per annum) on any unpaid sums or other charges due under this 
Agreement which are past such thirty (30) or ninety (90) day terms, as applicable.  The 
finance charge continues to accrue daily until the date payment is received by BNSF, 
not the date payment is made or the date postmarked on the payment.  Finance 
charges will be assessed on delinquent sums and other charges as of the end of the 
month and will be reduced by amounts in dispute and any unposted payments 
received by the month’s end.  Finance charges will be noted on invoices sent to 
Agency under this section. 

3) Scope and Limitations of Agreement 

V.A.4



EXHIBIT A Contract Number:  BF-20585195 

3 of 5 

The parties acknowledge that entering into this Agreement does not of itself obligate 
either BNSF or Agency to participate in the construction of the Project.  If Agency 
elects to proceed with the Project after the Work is performed, then BNSF and Agency 
agree to enter into negotiations for appropriate agreements regarding the construction 
of the Project and other related activities.  Nothing in this Agreement — including 
BNSF’s performance of the Work — shall obligate BNSF to enter into any subsequent 
agreement or otherwise permit the Project except and subject to any terms and 
conditions that BNSF may subsequently approve in its sole discretion. 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, BNSF’s review, approval, 
and/or other participation in the Project or any element thereof, including the Work 
performed by the BNSF Parties hereunder, are expressly limited to — and are 
intended and understood by the parties to be in furtherance of — BNSF’s railroad 
purposes, and are not in furtherance of Agency’s purposes in undertaking the Project. 
All Work performed hereunder is intended for use in evaluating the impact of the 
Project on BNSF’s railroad and the costs to Agency associated therewith.  BNSF is 
providing the Work in consideration of BNSF’s subjective standards for its railroad 
purposes only.  Consequently, the Work shall in no way be construed or deemed to 
be BNSF’s recommendation, condition, or direction to Agency, nor shall the Work be 
construed or deemed to be BNSF’s opinion or approval that the plans and 
specifications or any work intended or completed on the Project (a) is appropriate for 
any other purpose including highway purposes; (b) is structurally sound; or (c) meets 
applicable standards, regulations, laws, statutes, local ordinances, and/or building 
codes.  No benefits to Agency or any third party are provided, intended, or implied 
herein.  Agency shall at all times be solely responsible for the adequacy and 
compliance of all design elements of the Project for highway and other public 
purposes.  AGENCY SHALL WAIVE ANY CLAIMS AGAINST BNSF FOR — AND 
SHALL RELEASE BNSF FROM — ANY AND ALL CLAIMS WHICH MAY OR 
COULD RESULT FROM THE WORK PERFORMED HEREUNDER, AND IF 
APPLICABLE TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, AGENCY SHALL 
INDEMNIFY BNSF FOR AND HOLD IT HARMLESS FROM AND AGAINST ANY 
SUCH CLAIMS. 

4) No Right of Entry 

Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as providing Agency or its contractors, 
consultants, or other agents any right of entry upon property owned or occupied by 
BNSF.  Any preliminary engineering or other work required by Agency in connection 
with the Project necessitating entry upon BNSF’s railroad right-of-way shall only be 
conducted as authorized by a separate written permit obtained by Agency from BNSF 
for such entry (“Entry Permit”).   

V.A.5



EXHIBIT A Contract Number:  BF-20585195 

4 of 5 

The Entry Permit will provide that any on-site visits, including diagnostic evaluations, 
by Agency and its parties required for the Project shall be conducted only from 
adjoining properties, and Agency shall ensure that no attendees enter or remain on 
BNSF’s right-of-way, except when using an authorized highway-rail crossing 
designated for such purpose.  

Agency or its agents must contact BNSF’s Manager of Public Projects, Kara 
Brockamp at kara.brockamp@bnsf.com, or BNSF’s permitting agent Jones Lang 
LaSalle Brokerage, Inc. (“JLL”) at http://bnsf.railpermitting.com/ to obtain the required 
Entry Permit prior to any entry. 

5) Disclaimer 

BNSF GIVES NO WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AS TO THE ACCURACY, 
QUALITY, MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE, 
OR ANY OTHER MATTER, OF OR FOR THE WORK PERFORMED PURSUANT 
TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY REPORT OR OTHER DELIVERABLE WHICH 
BNSF MAY FURNISH TO AGENCY PURSUANT TO THIS AGREEMENT.  BNSF 
SHALL IN NO WAY BE RESPONSIBLE FOR AGENCY’S PROPER RELIANCE 
UPON, INTERPRETATION OF, OR OTHER USE OF THE WORK.  BNSF IS NOT A 
CONTRACTOR, AGENT, PARTNER, OR JOINT VENTURER OF AGENCY 
BECAUSE OF THIS AGREEMENT OR BECAUSE OF BNSF’S PERFORMANCE 
OF THE WORK.  LIKEWISE, THE BNSF PARTIES WHO MAY ASSIST BNSF IN 
PERFORMING THE WORK ARE DOING SO FOR BNSF’S BENEFIT ONLY, AND 
ARE NOT — AND SHALL NOT BE DEEMED TO BE — CONTRACTORS, 
SUBCONTRACTORS, OR AGENTS OF AGENCY. 

V.A.6

http://bnsf.railpermitting.com/


EXHIBIT A Contract Number:  BF-20585195 

5 of 5 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed as of 
the day and year first written above. 

City of Rolla  BNSF Railway Company 

By: ____________________________ By: _____________________________ 

Name: __________________________ Name:  __________________________ 
 Asst Dir Public Projects 

Accepted and effective this ___day of ______________, 20__. 

V.A.7



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



CITY OF ROLLA 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 

DEPARTMENT HEAD: Darin Pryor 

ACTION REQUESTED: Ordinance Final Reading 

ITEM/SUBJECT:   MoDOT TAP Grant Agreement 

DATE: 10/06/2025 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *
COMMENTARY:

Attached is an Ordinance authorizing the Mayor to enter into the included Missouri 
Highways and Transportation Commission Transportation Alternatives Funds Agreement. 

Council authorized staff to apply for this grant in May of 2025.  This agreement provides 
funding to replace approximately 45 non-compliant curb ramps with ADA compliant curb 
ramps.  Staff applied to replace 77 curb ramps.  The city was only awarded funds to 
replace 45 ramps. 

The estimated cost for these improvements is $188,000. This is a 80 percent grant with the 
State providing up to $149,873. 

Attached is a location map, the agreement and ordinance authorizing the project. 

Recommendation: The final reading of an ordinance authorizing the Mayor to enter into a 
Transportation Alternative Agreement. 

ITEM NO. ________________  
V.B.1



ORDINANCE NO. ____________ 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR OF THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI 
TO EXECUTE ON BEHALF OF THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI A CERTAIN 
TRANSPORTATION ALTERNATIVE FUNDS PROGRAM AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI AND MISSOURI HIGHWAYS AND 
TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION FOR THE REPLACEMENT OF APPROXIMATELY 
45 ADA CURB RAMPS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI, AS 
FOLLOWS: 

Section 1:  That the Mayor of the City of Rolla, Missouri be and is hereby authorized 
and directed to execute on behalf of the City of Rolla, Missouri Transportation 
Alternative Funds Program Agreement between the City of Rolla, Missouri and 
Missouri Highways and Transportation Commission to construct approximately 45 
curb ramps of pedestrian improvements, a copy of said agreement being attached 
hereto and marked Exhibit “A”. 

Section 2:   This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after the date 
of its passage and approval. 

PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI AND 
APPROVED BY THE MAYOR THIS 6th DAY OF OCTOBER 2025. 

APPROVED: 

MAYOR 

ATTEST: 

CITY CLERK 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

CITY COUNSELOR V.B.2



CCO Form: FS25 
Approved: 04/95 (MGB) 
Revised: 07/25 (MWH) 
Modified: 

CFDA Number: 
CFDA Title: 
Award name/number:  
Award Year: 
Federal Agency: 

 20.205 
 Highway Planning and Construction 
  TAP – 9901 (574)
 FY 2025 
 Federal Highway Administration, Department of Transportation

MISSOURI HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
TRANSPORTATION ALTERNATIVES  PROGRAM AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT is entered into by the Missouri Highways and Transportation 
Commission (hereinafter, "Commission") and City of Rolla (hereinafter, City). 

WITNESSETH: 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, promises, and 
representations in this Agreement, the parties agree as follows: 

(1) PURPOSE: The United States Congress has authorized, in Infrastructure
Investment and Jobs Act (IIJA); Title 23 United States Code (USC) §101, §106 §133; and 
§208 funds to be used for transportation projects. The purpose of this Agreement is to
grant the use of such transportation project  funds to the City.

[DRAFTER’S NOTE: Agreements for Sidewalks (DE65), Trailways (RW37), 
Airspace/Structures (RW28) and Monuments (RW45) shall be executed in 
conjunction with the Transportation Enhancements Program Agreement, if 
necessary.] 

(2) LOCATION: The transportation enhancements funds which are the subject
of this Agreement, are for the project at the following location:

45 ADA curb ramp improvements on Rolla City streets

The general location of the project is shown on attachment marked "Exhibit A" and 
incorporated herein by reference. 

(3) REASONABLE PROGRESS POLICY: The project as described in this
agreement is subject to the reasonable progress policy set forth in the Local Public 
Agency (LPA) Manual if the project is within a Transportation Management Area that has 
a reasonable progress policy in place, the project is subject to that policy. If the project is 

EXHIBIT A

V.B.3



2 

withdrawn for not meeting reasonable progress, the City agrees to repay the Commission 
for any progress payments made to the City for the project and agrees that the 
Commission may deduct progress payments made to the City from future payments to 
the City. The City may not be eligible for future Transportation Enhancements Funds if 
the City does not meet the reasonable progress policy. 

(4) INDEMNIFICATION: To the extent allowed or imposed by law, the City shall
defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the Commission, including its members and the 
Missouri Department of Transportation (“MoDOT” or “Department”) employees, from any 
claim or liability whether based on a claim for damages to real or personal property or to 
a person for any matter relating to or arising out of the City's wrongful or negligent 
performance of its obligations under this Agreement.  

(5) INSURANCE:

(A) The City is required or will require any contractor procured by the
City to work under this Agreement: 

1. To obtain a no cost permit from the Commission’s district
engineer prior to working on the Commission’s right of way, which shall be signed by an 
authorized contractor representative (a permit from the Commission’s district engineer 
will not be required for work outside of the Commission’s right of way); and  

2. To carry commercial general liability insurance and
commercial automobile liability insurance from a company authorized to issue insurance 
in Missouri, and to name the Commission, and the MoDOT and its employees, as 
additional insureds in amounts sufficient to cover the sovereign immunity limits for 
Missouri public entities ($600,000 per claimant and $4,000,000 per occurrence) as 
calculated by the Missouri Department of Insurance, Financial Institutions and 
Professional Registration, and published annually in the Missouri Register pursuant to 
section 537.610 RSMo.  

(B) In no event shall the language of this Agreement constitute or be
construed as a waiver or limitation for either party’s rights or defenses with regard to each 
party’s applicable sovereign, governmental, or official immunities and protections as 
provided by federal and state constitution or law. 

(6) AMENDMENTS: Any change in this Agreement, whether by modification or
supplementation, must be accomplished by a formal contract amendment signed and 
approved by the duly authorized representatives of the City and the Commission. 

(7) COMMISSION REPRESENTATIVE: The Commission's District Engineer is
designated as the Commission's representative for the purpose of administering the 
provisions of this Agreement. The Commission's representative may designate by written 
notice other persons having the authority to act on behalf of the Commission in 
furtherance of the performance of this Agreement. 

V.B.4



3 

(8) NONDISCRIMINATION ASSURANCE: With regard to work under this
Agreement, the City agrees as follows: 

(A) Civil Rights Statutes: The City shall comply with all state and federal
statutes relating to nondiscrimination, including but not limited to Title VI and Title VII of 
the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended (42 USC §2000d and §2000e, et seq.), as well 
as any applicable titles of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) (42 USC §12101, et 
seq.). In addition, if the City is providing services or operating programs on behalf of the 
Department or the Commission, it shall comply with all applicable provisions of Title II of 
the ADA. 

(B) Administrative Rules: The City shall comply with the administrative
rules of the United States Department of Transportation (USDOT) relative to 
nondiscrimination in federally assisted programs of the USDOT (Title 49 Code of Federal 
Regulations (CFR) Part 21) which are herein incorporated by reference and made part of 
this Agreement. 

(C) Nondiscrimination: The City shall not discriminate on grounds of the
race, color, religion, creed, sex, disability, national origin, age, or ancestry of any 
individual in the selection and retention of subcontractors, including procurement of 
materials and leases of equipment. The City shall not participate either directly or 
indirectly in the discrimination prohibited by 49 CFR §21.5, including employment 
practices. 

(D) Solicitations for Subcontracts, Including Procurements of Material
and Equipment: These assurances concerning nondiscrimination also apply to 
subcontractors and suppliers of the City. These apply to all solicitations either by 
competitive bidding or negotiation made by the City for work to be performed under a 
subcontract including procurement of materials or equipment. Each potential 
subcontractor or supplier shall be notified by the City of the requirements of this 
Agreement relative to nondiscrimination on grounds of the race, color, religion, creed, 
sex, disability or national origin, age, or ancestry of any individual. 

(E) Information and Reports: The City shall provide all information and
reports required by this Agreement, or orders and instructions issued pursuant thereto, 
and will permit access to its books, records, accounts, other sources of information, and 
its facilities as may be determined by the Commission or the USDOT to be necessary to 
ascertain compliance with other contracts, orders and instructions. Where any information 
required of the City is in the exclusive possession of another who fails or refuses to furnish 
this information, the City shall so certify to the Commission or the USDOT as appropriate 
and shall set forth what efforts it has made to obtain the information. 

(F) Sanctions for Noncompliance: In the event the City fails to comply
with the nondiscrimination provisions of this Agreement, the Commission shall impose 
such contract sanctions as it or the USDOT may determine to be appropriate, including 

V.B.5



4 

but not limited to: 

1. Withholding of payments under this Agreement until the City
complies; and/or 

2. Cancellation, termination, or suspension of this Agreement, in
whole or in part, or both. 

(G) Incorporation of Provisions: The City shall include the provisions of
this paragraph of this Agreement in every subcontract, including procurements of 
materials and leases of equipment, unless exempted by the statutes, executive order, 
administrative rules, or instructions issued by the Commission or the USDOT. The City 
will take such action with respect to any subcontract or procurement as the Commission 
or the USDOT may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions, including sanctions 
for noncompliance; provided that in the event the City becomes involved or is threatened 
with litigation with a subcontractor or supplier as a result of such direction, the City may 
request the United States to enter into such litigation to protect the interests of the United 
States. 

(9) ASSIGNMENT: The City shall not assign, transfer, or delegate any interest
in this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Commission. 

(10) APPLICABLE LAWS AND REGULATIONS: This Agreement shall be
construed according to the laws of the State of Missouri. Each party shall comply with all 
applicable federal, state, and local laws, regulations, and ordinances. Additionally, each 
party shall adhere to all accepted industry standards, processes, and procedures relevant 
to the performance of their obligations under this Agreement. A violation of this paragraph 
constitutes a material breach of the Agreement. 

(11) CANCELLATION: The Commission may cancel this Agreement at any time
for a material breach of contractual obligations by providing the City with written notice of 
cancellation. Should the Commission exercise its right to cancel this Agreement for such 
reasons, cancellation will become effective upon the date specified in the notice of 
cancellation sent to the City. 

(12) ACCESS TO RECORDS: The City and its contractors must maintain all
records relating to this Agreement, including but not limited to invoices, payrolls, etc. 
These records must be available at no charge to the Federal Highway Administration 
(FHWA) and the Commission and/or their designees or representatives during the period 
of this Agreement and any extension, and for a period of three (3) years after the date on 
which the City receives reimbursement of their final invoice from the Commission. 

(13) FEDERAL-AID PROVISIONS: Because responsibility for the performance
of all functions or work contemplated as part of this project is assumed by the City, and 
the City may elect to construct part of the improvement contemplated by this Agreement 
with its own forces, a copy of Section II and Section III, as contained in the USDOT Form 

V.B.6



5 

FHWA 1273 "Required Contract Provisions, Federal-Aid Construction Contracts," is 
attached and made a part of this Agreement as Exhibit C. Wherever the term "the 
contractor" or words of similar import appear in these sections, the term “the City” is to be 
substituted. The City agrees to abide by and carry out the condition and obligations of 
"the contractor" as stated in Section II, Equal Opportunity, and Section III, Nonsegregated 
Facilities, as set out in Form FHWA 1273. 

(14) ACQUISITION OF RIGHT OF WAY:  With respect to the acquisition of right
of way necessary for the completion of the project, City shall acquire any additional 
necessary right of way required for this project and in doing so agrees that it will comply 
with all applicable federal laws, rules and regulations, including 42 USC 4601-4655, the 
Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Act, as amended and any 
regulations promulgated in connection with the Act 

(15) MAINTENANCE OF DEVELOPMENT: The City shall maintain the herein
contemplated improvements without any cost or expense to the Commission.  All 
maintenance by the City shall be done for the safety of the general public and the 
esthetics of the area.  In addition, if any sidewalk or bike trails are constructed on the 
Commission's right of way pursuant to this Agreement, the City shall inspect and maintain 
the sidewalk or bike trails constructed by this project in a condition reasonably safe to the 
public and, to the extent allowed by law, shall indemnify and hold the Commission 
harmless from any claims arising from the construction and maintenance of said sidewalk 
or bike trails.  If the City fails to maintain the herein contemplated improvements, the 
Commission or its representatives, at the Commission's sole discretion shall notify the 
City in writing of the (City’s/County’s/Grantee’s) failure to maintain the improvement. If the 
City continues to fail in maintaining the improvement, the Commission may remove the 
herein contemplated improvement whether or not the improvement is located on the 
Commission's right of way. Any removal by the Commission shall be at the sole cost and 
expense of the City.  Maintenance includes but is not limited to mowing and trimming 
between shrubs and other plantings that are part of the improvement. 

(16) PLANS: The City shall prepare preliminary and final plans and
specifications for the herein improvements. The plans and specifications shall be 
submitted to the Commission for the Commission's review and approval. The Commission 
has the discretion to require changes to any plans and specification prior to any approval 
by the Commission. 

(17) REIMBURSEMENT: The cost of the contemplated improvements will be
borne by the United States Government and by the City as follows: 

[DRAFTER’S NOTE: Choose only one (A) option below. Option 1 and 2 may be 
further refined by the district to fit the situation. However, any revisions must be 
reviewed by CCO prior to execution. Delete the Option not chosen.] 

(A) (Option 1) Any federal funds for project activities shall only be available
for reimbursement of eligible costs which have been incurred by City.  Any costs incurred 

V.B.7



6 

by City prior to authorization from FHWA and notification to proceed from the Commission 
are not reimbursable costs. All federally funded projects are required to have a project 
end date. Any costs incurred after the project end date are not eligible for reimbursement. 
The federal share for this project will be 80 percent not to exceed one hundred thousand 
forty nine thousand eight hundred seventy-three dollars ($149,873.00). The calculated 
federal share for seeking federal reimbursement of participating costs for the herein 
improvements will be determined by dividing the total federal funds applied to the project 
by the total participating costs. Any costs for the herein improvements which exceed any 
federal reimbursement or are not eligible for federal reimbursement shall be the sole 
responsibility of City. The Commission shall not be responsible for any costs associated 
with the herein improvement unless specifically identified in this Agreement or 
subsequent written amendments.   

(18) PROGRESS PAYMENTS: The City may request progress payments be
made for the herein improvements as work progresses but not more than once every two 
(2) weeks. Progress payments must be submitted monthly. The City shall repay any
progress payments which involve ineligible costs.

(19) PROMPT PAYMENTS: Progress invoices submitted to MoDOT for
reimbursement more than thirty (30) calendar days after the date of the vendor invoice 
shall also include documentation that the vendor was paid in full for the work identified in 
the progress invoice. Examples of proof of payment may include a letter or e-mail from 
the vendor, lien waiver or copies of cancelled checks. Reimbursement will not be made 
on these submittals until proof of payment is provided. Progress invoices submitted to 
MoDOT for reimbursement within thirty (30) calendar days of the date on the vendor 
invoice will be processed for reimbursement without proof of payment to the vendor. If the 
City has not paid the vendor prior to receiving reimbursement, the City must pay the 
vendor within two (2) business days of receipt of funds from MoDOT. 

(20) PERMITS: The City shall secure any necessary approvals or permits from
any federal or state agency as required for the completion of the herein improvements. If 
this improvement is on the right of way of the Commission, the City must secure a permit 
from the Commission prior to the start of any work on the right of way. The permits which 
may be required include, but are not limited to, environmental, architectural, historical or 
cultural requirements of federal or state law or regulation. 

(21) INSPECTION OF IMPROVEMENTS AND RECORDS: The City shall
assure that representatives of the Commission and FHWA shall have the privilege of 
inspecting and reviewing the work being done by the City’s contractor and subcontractor 
on the herein project. The City shall also assure that its contractor, and all subcontractors, 
if any, maintain all books, documents, papers, and other evidence pertaining to costs 
incurred in connection with the Transportation Alternatives Program Agreement, and 
make such materials available at such contractor's office at all reasonable times at no 
charge during this Agreement period, and for three (3) years from the date of final 
payment under this Agreement, for inspection by the Commission, FHWA or any 
authorized representatives of the Federal Government and the State of Missouri, and 

V.B.8



7 

copies shall be furnished, upon request, to authorized representatives of the Commission, 
State, FHWA, or other Federal agencies. 

(22) CREDIT FOR DONATIONS OF FUNDS, MATERIALS, OR SERVICES: A
person may offer to donate funds, materials, or services in connection with this project. 
Any donated funds, or the fair market value of any donated materials or services that are 
accepted and incorporated into this project shall be credited according to 23 USC §323. 

(23) DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISES (DBE): The Commission
will advise the City of any required goals for participation by DBEs to be included in the 
(City’s/County’s/Grantee’s) proposal for the work to be performed. The City shall submit 
for Commission approval a DBE goal or plan. The City shall comply with the plan or goal 
that is approved by the Commission and all requirements of 49 CFR Part 26, as amended. 

(24) VENUE: It is agreed by the parties that any action at law, suit in equity, or
other judicial proceeding to enforce or construe this Agreement, or regarding its alleged 
breach, shall be instituted only in the Circuit Court of Cole County, Missouri. 

(25) NOTICE TO BIDDERS: The City shall notify the prospective bidders that
disadvantaged business enterprises shall be afforded full and affirmative opportunity to 
submit bids in response to the invitation and will not be discriminated against on grounds 
of race, color, sex, or national origin in consideration for an award. 

(26) FINAL AUDIT: The Commission may, in its sole discretion, perform a final
audit of project costs. The United States Government shall reimburse the City, through 
the Commission, any monies due. The City shall refund any overpayments as determined 
by the final audit. 

(27) AUDIT REQUIREMENTS: If the City expend(s) one million dollars
($1,000,000) or more in a year in federal financial assistance it is required to have an 
independent annual audit conducted in accordance with 2 CFR Part 200. A copy of the 
audit report shall be submitted to MoDOT within the earlier of thirty (30) days after receipt 
of the auditor's report(s), or nine (9) months after the end of the audit period. Subject to 
the requirements of 2 CFR Part 200, if the City expend(s) less than one million dollars 
($1,000,000) a year, the City may be exempt from auditing requirements for that year but 
records must be available for review or audit by applicable state and federal authorities. 

(28) FEDERAL FUNDING ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY ACT
(FFATA) OF 2006: The City shall comply with all reporting requirements of the FFATA of 
2006, as amended. This Agreement is subject to the award terms within 2 CFR Part 170. 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 

V.B.9



8 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have entered into this Agreement on the 
date last written below. 

Executed by the City this _____________________ (date). 

Executed by the Commission this ___________________________ (date). 

MISSOURI HIGHWAYS AND CITY 
TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

By: ____________________________ By: _____________________________ 

Title: ___________________________ Title: ____________________________ 

ATTEST: ATTEST: 

______________________________ By: _____________________________ 
Secretary to the Commission 

Title: ____________________________ 

Approved as to Form: Approved as to Form: 

______________________________ By:_____________________________ 
Commission Counsel 

Title: ___________________________ 

Ordinance No. 

V.B.10



9 

Exhibit A - Location of Project 

V.B.11



10 

Exhbit B – Project Schedule 

Project Description: TAP 9901 (   ) 

45 ADA curb ramp improvements on Rolla City streets 

Task Date 
Date funding is made available or allocated to recipient 10/1/2025 
Solicitation for Professional Engineering Services (advertised) 12/11/2025 
Engineering Services Contract Approved 1/1/2026 
Preliminary and Right-of-Way Plans Submittal 
(if Applicable) 

1/1/2027 

Plans, Specifications & Estimate (PS&E) Submittal 4/1/2027 
Plans, Specifications & Estimate (PS&E) Approval 6/1/2027 
Advertisement for Letting 7/1/2027 
Bid Opening 8/1/2027 
Construction Contract Award or Planning Study completed 
(REQUIRED) 

9/1/2027 

*Note: the dates established in the schedule above will be used in the applicable ESC between the
sponsor agency and consultant firm.

**Schedule dates are approximate as the project schedule will be actively managed and issues 
mitigated through the project delivery process.  The Award Date deliverable is not approximate 
and a Supplemental Agreement is required to modify this date. 

V.B.12



Attachment B1 - Project Information

V.B.13



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



ITEM NO. ______________________________ 

CITY OF ROLLA 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 

DEPARTMENT HEAD:  Floyd Jernigan, Parks & Recreation Director 
ACTION REQUESTED:         Second reading 
ITEM/SUBJECT:   Amending Sec. 31-3 of City Code Pertaining to Park Hours 
BUDGET APPROPRIATION:  N/A          DATE: October 6, 2025 

COMMENTARY: This Ordinance will help reduce unwelcomed activities and vandalism in city 
parks after dark (i.e. loitering, drug use, and vandalism). 
1211- 
The current Ordinance is as follows: 
Section 31-3. Loitering, etc., in public parks or playgrounds — Prohibited.  It shall be unlawful 
for any person to enter or loiter, idle, wander, stroll, play or remain in any city park or 
playground during the hours between 12:00 midnight and sunrise. 

The amended section would read: 

Section 31-3. Park Hours: It shall be unlawful for any person to enter or remain in any city 
outdoor park or playground from one hour after sunset to one hour before sunrise, except in 
areas illuminated for the purpose of nighttime activities or when Parks Department-
sanctioned activities are taking place. 

Recommendation: Final reading of the ordinance amending Sec. 31-3 of the Rolla City Code 
pertaining to Park Hours.  

V.C.1



Ordinance No. __________ 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CITY CODE REGARDING PARK 
HOURS 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ROLLA, MISSOURI AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION ONE: The City Code is hereby amended by repealing Section 31-3 and enacting one 
new section in lieu thereof, to read as follows: 

Section 31-3. Park Hours. 

It shall be unlawful for any person to enter or remain in any city outdoor park or 
playground from one (1) hour after sunset to one (1) hour before sunrise, except in 
areas illuminated for the purpose of nighttime activities and when Parks 
Department sanctioned activities are taking place.  

SECTION TWO: This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after the date 
of its passage and approval. 

SECTION THREE: That the City Clerk is authorized by this Ordinance to correct any scrivener’s 
errors identified within this Ordinance. 

SECTION FOUR: That all other parts and provisions of the City Code not in conflict herewith 
shall remain in full force and effect unless previously or subsequently amended or repealed. 

APPROVED: 

____________________________      
Mayor 

ATTEST 

___________________________ 
City Clerk 

Approved as to form: 

__________________________ 
City Counselor 

V.C.2



CITY OF ROLLA 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 

DEPARTMENT: Community Development ACTION REQUESTED: Final Reading 

SUBJECT: Conditional Use Permit to allow an Agricultural Business Use (golf driving range) in the R-1, 
Suburban Residential district at 1905 Country Ridge Rd 

MEETING DATE: August 18, 2025 
Background:  The applicant seeks to construct a golf driving range on a portion of a 45 acre property. 

The golf range itself would occupy about 8 acres of the property. The applicant proposes 
to improve the existing gravel access road to meet the requirements for fire access. The 
parking area would be located about 1,800 feet from the end of the paved street. The 
graveled parking area is planned to accommodate at least 10 vehicles. The gravel access 
and parking is intended as a temporary solution until the use is found to warrant further 
expansion and/or investment. Ten tee boxes are proposed.  

The use would be self-service via a golf ball vending machine. No outdoor lighting is 
proposed at this time. No restroom facilities are proposed at this time.   

A Conditional Use Permit may be approved to allow “Agricultural Business” Uses in the 
R-1 district. The intent of the CUP is to allow certain commercial uses that may be
appropriate in residential areas. The removal of R-R, Rural Residential zoning from the
zoning code created a need for a way to allow uses that could be found in the
agricultural lands, farms, undeveloped properties, and larger lots in locations where
commercial zoning would not be appropriate.

The property is located on a long, gravel private drive. The drive is located within a 
platted, unbuilt right-of-way of Country Ridge Rd which was dedicated with the Country 
Ridge Subdivision plat. The applicant also owns the remainder of the unbuilt subdivision 
which the private drive passes through.  

The City Council conducted the public hearing at the August 4, 2025 meeting and had 
the first reading of the ordinance. At the August 18, 2025 meeting, the City Council 
voted to postpone the final reading of the ordinance to the October 6, 2025 meeting to 
allow for revisions to the ordinance based on feedback provided at the meeting and 
received by email after the meeting. Staff has revised the ordinance based on the 
feedback received.  

V.D.1



Application and Notice: 
    Applicant/Owner - Jared Jordan of Jordan + Jordan Designs, LLC  
    Public Notice - Letters mailed to property owners within 300 feet; Legal ad in the Phelps County Focus; 

signage posted on the property; https://www.rollacity.org/agenda.shtml 

Property Details: 
    Current zoning - R-1, Suburban Residential
    Proposed use -  Agricultural Business use (golf driving range)
    Land area -  About 45 acres (golf driving range occupies about 8 acres)
    Building area -  No structures are proposed at this time

Public Facilities/Improvements: 
    Streets - The subject property has access to Country Ridge Rd, a collector street, via a private 

drive.  
    Sidewalks - There are no existing sidewalks adjacent to the property. 
    Utilities - The property is not served by water or sewer utilities. No services would be needed for 

the proposed use at this time.    

Comprehensive Plan: The Comprehensive Plan indicates that the subject property is appropriate for Low 
Density Residential uses.   

Discussion: Agricultural Business uses include uses such as mining, seasonal sales, wind and solar 
generation, garden equipment sales, landscaping/mulch sales, tree and plant sales, 
farmers markets, veterinarian services, boarding kennels, stables, camp grounds, event 
venues, and other similar uses. A golf driving range is not specifically listed. However, 
golfing does require larger properties and is a relatively low impact use that is often 
found in residential and rural areas. The use seems appropriate to be considered as an 
Agricultural Business use, however, the Planning Commission and/or City Council may 
find that the golf driving range use is not appropriate to be considered as an Agricultural 
Business use.  

The driving range is about 800-900 feet (233-266 yards) in length from the tee box to 
the property line. The property line is lined by trees which should help prevent balls 
from leaving the property. A beginner golf player may drive 150-180 yards. An average 
recreational player may drive 200-250 yards. A professional can drive 250-300 yards. 
The site is intended to be oriented at an angle and located behind some trees to prevent 
balls from leaving the property on the north side of the driving range.  

The conditions of approval in the ordinance have been revised based on feedback 
received from the City Council.  

V.D.2

https://www.rollacity.org/agenda.shtml


Planning and Zoning Commission Recommendation: 
The Rolla Planning and Zoning Commission conducted a public hearing on August 12, 
2025 and voted 6-0 to recommend approval of the request with the following 
conditions: 
1. The Conditional Use Permit expires three (3) years after the date of approval unless

an extension is approved by the Planning and Zoning Commission. The Commission
may review the use to determine if any modifications are needed to the site and/or
conditions of approval to mitigate any impacts to surrounding property owners. In
addition, the gravel parking and access will be reviewed at that time.

2. After construction of the facility and prior to commencement of the use, the
Community Development Director, or designee, must inspect the site to determine
compliance with all requirements of the Conditional Use Permit and applicable city
codes.

3. The use is limited to daylight hours and the addition of site lighting is prohibited.
4. Expansion of the facilities to provide additional tee boxes, outdoor lighting, or

construction of buildings/structures will require approval of an amended
Conditional Use Permit.

5. The gravel access road must be improved/constructed and maintained to comply
IFC Appendix D as a fire access road. In lieu of providing a mid-way turnaround, the
road must be constructed to be 26 feet in width.

Prepared by:  Tom Coots, City Planner 
Attachments: Ordinance, Public Notice Letter, Letter of Request, Site Plan 

V.D.3



ORDINANCE NO. ________ 

AN ORDINANCE TO AUTHORIZE THE ISSUANCE OF A CONDITIONAL USE 
PERMIT FOR PROPERTY ADDRESSED AS 1905 COUNTRY RIDGE RD FOR AN 
AGRICULTURAL BUSINESS USE (GOLF DRIVING RANGE) IN THE R-1 SUBURBAN 
RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT.  

(CUP25-02) 

WHEREAS, an application for a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) was duly filed with the 
Community Development Department requesting that the City of Rolla issue a Conditional Use 
Permit for the property addressed as 1905 Country Ridge Rd for an Agricultural Business Use 
(golf driving range) in the R-1, Suburban Residential district; and 

WHEREAS, a public notice was duly published in the Phelps County Focus for this 
according to law, which notice provided that a public hearing would be held at Rolla City Hall, 
901 N. Elm, Rolla, Missouri; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Rolla Planning and Zoning Commission met on August 12, 2025 
and recommended the City Council approve the issuance of the proposed Conditional Use Permit 
with specified conditions of approval; and 

WHEREAS, the Rolla City Council, during its August 18, 2025 meeting, conducted a 
public hearing concerning the proposed Conditional Use Permit to hear the first reading of the 
attached ordinance; 

WHEREAS, after consideration of all the facts, opinions, and evidence offered to the City 
Council at the hearing by those citizens favoring the said Conditional Use Permit and by those 
citizens opposing said permit, the City Council found the proposed Conditional Use Permit would 
promote public health, safety, morals and the general welfare of the City of Rolla, Missouri, and 
would be for the best interest of said City; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF ROLLA, MISSOURI AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1:  That the Zoning and Subdivision Regulations Ordinance No. 4762, Chapter 
42 of the Code of the City of Rolla, Missouri which zoning ordinances adopts zoning regulations, 
use districts, and a zoning map in accordance with the Comprehensive Plan is hereby amended by 
authorizing the issuance of a Conditional Use Permit for an Agricultural Business Use (golf driving 
range) in the R-1, Suburban Residential district on property addressed as 1905 Country Ridge Rd, 
and as described as follows:  

A part of the S1/2 of Lot 1 & 2 in the NW1/4 of Sec. 19 and the N1/2 of Lot 1 in the SW1/4 
of Sec. 19, Twp. 37 N., Rng. 7 W. in Phelps County, Missouri more fully described as 
follows: Commencing at the Northeast Corner of the S1/2 of Lot 2 in the NW1/4 of Sec. 
19; thence along Lot line South 0°25'44" West 397.01 feet; thence leaving said Lot line 
South 89°23'03" East 660.00 feet; thence South 0°25'44" West 924.00 feet to the North 
line of the N1/2 of Lot 1 SW1/4 of Sec. 19; thence with same South 89°23'03" East 689.96 
feet to the East line of Lot 1; thence with same South 1°01'38" West 1324.20 feet to the 
South line of the N1/2 of Lot 1 in the SW1/4; thence with same North 89°18'11" West 

V.D.4



1332.32 feet to the East line of the N1/2 Lot 2 SW1/4; thence with same North 0°18'15" 
East 1322.30 feet to the North line of the N1/2 Lot 2 in the SW1/4; thence with same North 
89°36'17" West 1325.36 feet to the West line of the S1/2 Lot 2 in the NW1/4; thence with 
same North 0°42'27" East 839.51 feet; thence leaving said Lot line South 88°27'20" East 
1006.78 feet; thence North 29°53'17" West 539.11 feet; thence North 2°41'58" East 50.02 
feet; thence  S 88°25’14” E 584.78 feet to the point of beginning. Containing 85.29 acres, 
as per survey by Mark A. Mueller, Integrity Engineering, Inc., dated July 16, 2001. 

Except: A tract of land being part of the South Half of Lot 2 of the Northwest Quarter in 
Section 19, Township 37 North, Range 7 West of the Fifth Principal Meridian, City of 
Rolla, Phelps County, Missouri and being more particularly described as follows: 
Beginning at a found iron rod with cap (Mueller LS-2238) at the northeast corner of the 
South Half of Lot 2 of the Northwest Quarter of Section 19, Township 37 North, Range 7 
West of the Fifth Principal Meridian, said corner being the northeast corner of property 
now or formerly to Jordan + Jordan Designs, LLC, as recorded in document number 2022-
2079 of the Phelps County Recorder’s Office, said corner also being on the west line of 
property now or formerly to Joyce E. Huffman and Michele Broxton, as joint tenants, not 
as tenants in common, with right of survivorship, as recorded in document number 2012-
1244 of said recorder’s office; thence leaving said corner along the east line of said South 
Half of Lot 2 and the east line of said Jordan property, South 00°24’15” West, 386.99 feet 
to a point on the south line of said Huffman / Broxton property, where a found iron rod 
with cap (Mueller LS-2238) bears South 00°24’15” West, 12.73 feet; thence leaving said 
east line of the South Half of Lot 2 along the south line of said Huffman / Broxton property, 
South 86°51’32” West, 11.78 feet to a found iron rod; thence leaving said south line along 
the west line of said Huffman / Broxton property, North 02°08’30” East, 387.89 feet to the 
Point of Beginning and contains 2,276 square feet or 0.0522 acre, more or less; according 
to a property boundary survey performed by The Sterling Company during the month of 
April, 2024. 

Also Except: A tract of land being part of the South Half of Lot 1 of the Northwest Quarter 
in Section 19, Township 37 North, Range 7 West of the Fifth Principal Meridian, City of 
Rolla, Phelps County, Missouri and being more particularly described as follows: 
Commencing at a found disk monument (Elgin LS-2560) at the northwest corner of the 
Northwest Quarter of the Southeast Quarter of the abovementioned Section 19, where a 
found iron rod with cap (Mueller LS-2238) bears North 64°58’22" West, 5.01 feet, said 
point being the northeast corner of the North Half of Lot 1 of the Southwest Quarter of said 
Section 19 per a survey by Mueller dated 07/27/2001; thence leaving said corner along the 
north line of the North Half of Lot 1 of the Southwest Quarter of Section 19, North 
89°15’54” West, 694.46 feet, where a found iron rod with cap (Mueller LS-2238) bears, 
North 00°25’11" East, 0.82 feet, said point being on the east line of property now or 
formerly to Jordan + Jordan Designs LLC, as recorded in document number 2022-2079 of 
the Phelps County Recorder’s Office; thence leaving said point along said east line of 
Jordan property, North 00°25’11” East, 42.58 feet to a point on the south line of property 
now or formerly to Joyce E. Huffman and Michele Broxton, as joint tenants, not as tenants 
in common, with right of survivorship, as recorded in document number 2012-1244 of said 
recorder’s office, said point being the True Point of Beginning of the herein described 
property, where a found iron rod bears, South 88°18’09” East, 8.61 feet marking the 
southwest corner of said Huffman / Broxton property; thence leaving said point along said 
south line, North 88°18’09” West, 8.61 feet to a found iron rod at said southwest corner; 

V.D.5



thence leaving said point along the west line of said Huffman / Broxton property, North 
02°20’00” East, 257.85 feet to a point on the east line of said Jordan + Jordan Designs LLC 
property; thence leaving said point along said east line, South 00°25’11” West, 257.90 feet 
to the Point of Beginning and contains 1,110 square feet or 0.0255 acre, more or less, 
according to a property boundary survey performed by The Sterling Company during the 
month of April, 2024. 

SECTION 2:  That, as a condition of approval of this ordinance, this Conditional Use 
Permit will be subject to the following conditions: 

1. All city codes, including but not limited to codes pertaining to an Agricultural Business
Use in the R-1, Suburban Residential district, shall apply, except as noted herein.

2. The driving range will require a business license which may be rescinded in the event
of non-compliance with city codes.

3. The Conditional Use Permit expires three (3) years after the date of approval of this
ordinance, unless extended by the City Council. If an extension is requested by the
applicant, the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council will review the
request and may elect to deny the extension; or may grant the extension and modify the
conditions of approval and/or impose additional conditions of approval. In such case,
the applicant will have 120 days to comply with the revised conditions of approval.
Upon review for the extension, the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council
may review items such as, but not limited to, the traffic, signage, lighting, noise, need
for netting and/or re-alignment of the range, gravel access road, gravel parking area,
and need for restroom facilities.

4. Community Development Director, or designee, must inspect the site before
commencement of the use and no less than annually to determine compliance with all
requirements of the Conditional Use Permit and applicable city codes.

5. The use is limited to daylight hours; the use of site lighting to illuminate the driving
range is prohibited.

6. Expansion of the facilities to provide additional tee boxes, outdoor lighting, or
construction of buildings/structures not indicated on the approved site plan will require
approval of an amended Conditional Use Permit.

7. Section 42.313 of the Rolla City Code requires that all driving and parking surfaces be
paved. The paving requirement is waived to allow a temporary gravel access road to
access the site. The road must be improved/constructed and maintained to comply IFC
Appendix D as a fire access road.

8. IFC Appendix D requires special approval by the Fire Chief for a fire access road over
750 feet in length. The Fire Chief will approve a fire road that is constructed to be 26
feet in width for the entire length.

9. Section 42.313 of the Rolla City Code requires that all driving and parking surfaces be
paved. The paving requirement is waived to allow a temporary gravel parking area at
this time, to be reviewed if an extension to the Conditional Use Permit is requested by
the applicant.

10. Any signage on the property must meet Section 42.344, subsection 2 of the Rolla City
Code (up to 64 square feet in area) or Section 42.341 of the Rolla City Code (exempt
signs). One sign meeting the requirements of Section 42.344, subsection 1 of the Rolla
City Code (up to 32 square feet in area) may be permitted on property owned by the
applicant along the right of way of Country Ridge Rd.

V.D.6



SECTION 3:  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from the date of passage and 
approval.  

PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI AND 
APPROVED BY THE MAYOR THIS 20TH DAY OF OCTOBER, 2025. 

APPROVED: 

______________________________ 
ATTEST:     Mayor 

______________________________ 
City Clerk 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

______________________________ 
City Counselor 

V.D.7





 1905 Country Ridge - 

 The plan is to install a driving range on our farm. I have a site plan attached that shows 
 the preliminary lines and set up of the facility. This range will be almost exactly 300yds deep, 
 with trees lining the back property line, and left side property line. These trees will not be 
 touched and will act as a good buffer and obstacle that will help with errant shots. The teeing 
 ground will be set back into a row of trees that will also help with any shots that may go left, 
 these trees will help with knocking balls down and overall a sight line that encourages hitting the 
 ball towards the middle to right side of the range. Per Rolla Fire Department, a 26 foot wide road 
 will be installed from the edge of the pavement to the parking area according to IFC Appendix 
 D. This road will be engineered and approved by Paul Frisbee with Frisbee Engineering. This
 range will require very little new construction or change. All facilities will be directed away from
 any neighbors, the only thing I see that could affect anything is some additional traffic to our
 facility. The teeing ground will be big enough to accommodate approximately 10 people, with 10
 or more parking spots available, at any time. At this time it will operate only during the day. I
 think the location is a perfect spot with the new subdivision being constructed, close to town, the
 effect on any neighbors is very minimal if any.

V.D.9



COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT
(573) 364-5333  |  comdev@rollacity.org  | www.rollacity.org/comdev

Project Information: Public Hearings: For More Information Contact:

Case No:      CUP 25-02

Location:      1905 Country Ridge Rd

Applicant:    Jordan + Jordan Designs

Request:       

Conditional Use Permit to allow a 

Agricultural Business Use (golf driving 

range) in the R-1, Suburban Residential 

district

Planning and Zoning 

Commission

August 12, 2025

5:30 PM

City Hall: 1st Floor

City Council

August 18, 2025

6:30 PM

City Hall: 1st Floor

Tom Coots, City Planner
tcoots@rollacity.org

(573) 426-6974

901 North Elm Street

City Hall: 2nd Floor

8:00 – 5:00 P.M.

Monday - Friday

PUBLIC NOTICE

i

mailto:tcoots@rollacity.org


LEGAL DESCRIPTIONWho and What is the Planning and Zoning Commission?
F
R

E
Q

U
E
N

TL
Y

 A
S
K

E
D

 Q
U

E
S
TI

O
N

S
? The Planning and Zoning Commission is an appointed 

group of citizens from Rolla who are charged with hearing 

and deciding land use applications, such as zoning and 

subdivisions. The Commission takes testimony and makes a 

recommendation to the City Council.

A Conditional Use Permit is a request for a special use in a 

zoning district which requires additional review. The 

Planning and Zoning Commission may recommend 

conditions which the applicant must continue to meet for 

as long they own the property.

The City of Rolla has adopted zoning regulations that 

divide the city into separate areas that allow for 

specified uses of property. For example, generally only 

residential uses are allowed in residential zones; 

commercial uses in commercial zones; etc.. 

Each case is different. Adjacent properties are more 

likely to be impacted. Please contact the Community 

Development Office at (573) 426-6974 if you have any 

questions.

If you have any concerns or comments, please try to 

attend the meeting. You may learn details about the 

project at the meeting. You will be given an opportunity 

to ask questions or make comments.

You do have the right to gather signatures for a petition. 

If a petition is received by 30% of the land owners (by 

land area) within 185 feet of the subject property, such 

request would require approval of 2/3 of the City 

Councilors. Please contact the Community Development 

Office for a property owner list.

Please try to attend the meeting if you have any 

questions or concerns. However, if you are unable to 

attend the meeting, you may provide written comments 

by letter or email. These comments will be presented to 

the Board.

Please contact the Community Development Office if 

you have any additional questions. 

A part of the S1/2 of Lot 1 & 2 in the NW1/4 of Sec. 19 and the 

N1/2 of Lot 1 in the SW1/4 of Sec. 19, Twp. 37 N., Rng. 7 W. in 

Phelps County, Missouri more fully described as follows: 

Commencing at the Northeast Corner of the S1/2 of Lot 2 in 

the NW1/4 of Sec. 19; thence along Lot line South 0°25'44" 

West 397.01 feet; thence leaving said Lot line South 89°23'03" 
East 660.00 feet; thence South 0°25'44" West 924.00 feet to the 

North line of the N1/2 of Lot 1 SW1/4 of Sec. 19; thence with 

same South 89°23'03" East 689.96 feet to the East line of Lot 1; 

thence with same South 1°01'38" West 1324.20 feet to the 

South line of the N1/2 of Lot 1 in the SW1/4; thence with same 

North 89°18'11" West 1332.32 feet to the East line of the N1/2 

Lot 2 SW1/4; thence with same North 0°18'15" East 1322.30 feet 

to the North line of the N1/2 Lot 2 in the SW1/4; thence with 

same North 89°36'17" West 1325.36 feet to the West line of the 

S1/2 Lot 2 in the NW1/4; thence with same North 0°42'27" East 

839.51 feet; thence leaving said Lot line South 88°27'20" East 

1006.78 feet; thence North 29°53'17" West 539.11 feet; thence 

North 2°41'58" East 50.02 feet; thence  S 88°25’14” E 584.78 feet 

to the point of beginning. Containing 85.29 acres, as per 

survey by Mark A. Mueller, Integrity Engineering, Inc., dated 

July 16, 2001.

Except: A tract of land being part of the South Half of Lot 2 of 

the Northwest Quarter in Section 19, Township 37 North, Range 

7 West of the Fifth Principal Meridian, City of Rolla, Phelps 

County, Missouri and being more particularly described as 

follows: Beginning at a found iron rod with cap (Mueller LS-

2238) at the northeast corner of the South Half of Lot 2 of the 

Northwest Quarter of Section 19, Township 37 North, Range 7 

West of the Fifth Principal Meridian, said corner being the 

northeast corner of property now or formerly to Jordan + 

Jordan Designs, LLC, as recorded in document number 2022-

2079 of the Phelps County Recorder’s Office, said corner also 

being on the west line of property now or formerly to Joyce E. 

Huffman and Michele Broxton, as joint tenants, not as tenants 

in common, with right of survivorship, as recorded in document 

number 2012-1244 of said recorder’s office; thence leaving 

said corner along the east line of said South Half of Lot 2 and 

the east line of said Jordan property, South 00°24’15” West, 

386.99 feet to a point on the south line of said Huffman / 

Broxton property, where a found iron rod with cap (Mueller LS-

2238) bears South 00°24’15” West, 12.73 feet; thence leaving 

said east line of the South Half of Lot 2 along the south line of 

said Huffman / Broxton property, South 86°51’32” West, 11.78 

feet to a found iron rod; thence leaving said south line along 

the west line of said Huffman / Broxton property, North 

02°08’30” East, 387.89 feet to the Point of Beginning and 

contains 2,276 square feet or 0.0522 acre, more or less; 

according to a property boundary survey performed by The 

Sterling Company during the month of April, 2024.

Also Except: A tract of land being part of the South Half of Lot 

1 of the Northwest Quarter in Section 19, Township 37 North, 

Range 7 West of the Fifth Principal Meridian, City of Rolla, 

Phelps County, Missouri and being more particularly described 

as follows: Commencing at a found disk monument (Elgin LS-

2560) at the northwest corner of the Northwest Quarter of the 

Southeast Quarter of the abovementioned Section 19, where 

a found iron rod with cap (Mueller LS-2238) bears North 

64°58’22" West, 5.01 feet, said point being the northeast corner 

of the North Half of Lot 1 of the Southwest Quarter of said 

Section 19 per a survey by Mueller dated 07/27/2001; thence 

leaving said corner along the north line of the North Half of Lot 

1 of the Southwest Quarter of Section 19, North 89°15’54” West, 

694.46 feet, where a found iron rod with cap (Mueller LS-2238) 

bears, North 00°25’11" East, 0.82 feet, said point being on the 

east line of property now or formerly to Jordan + Jordan 

Designs LLC, as recorded in document number 2022-2079 of 

the Phelps County Recorder’s Office; thence leaving said 

point along said east line of Jordan property, North 00°25’11” 

East, 42.58 feet to a point on the south line of property now or 

formerly to Joyce E. Huffman and Michele Broxton, as joint 

tenants, not as tenants in common, with right of survivorship, as 

recorded in document number 2012-1244 of said recorder’s 

office, said point being the True Point of Beginning of the 

herein described property, where a found iron rod bears, South 

88°18’09” East, 8.61 feet marking the southwest corner of said 

Huffman / Broxton property; thence leaving said point along 
said south line, North 88°18’09” West, 8.61 feet to a found iron 

rod at said southwest corner; thence leaving said point along 

the west line of said Huffman / Broxton property, North 

02°20’00” East, 257.85 feet to a point on the east line of said 

Jordan + Jordan Designs LLC property; thence leaving said 

point along said east line, South 00°25’11” West, 257.90 feet to 

the Point of Beginning and contains 1,110 square feet or 0.0255 

acre, more or less, according to a property boundary survey 

performed by The Sterling Company during the month of April, 

2024.

PUBLIC NOTICE

What is a Conditional Use Permit (CUP)?

What is Zoning?

How Will This Impact My Property?

What If I Have Concerns About the Proposal?

What If I Cannot Attend the Meeting?

What If I Have More Questions?



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



CITY OF ROLLA 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 

DEPARTMENT HEAD: Darin Pryor 

ACTION REQUESTED: Ordinance First Reading 

ITEM/SUBJECT:   MoDOT Municipal Agreement 

DATE: 10/06/2025 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *
COMMENTARY:

Attached is an Ordinance authorizing the Mayor to enter into the included Missouri 
Highways and Transportation Commission Municipal Agreement. 

MoDOT is planning a project to make repairs to the 10th Street (Route BB) bridge over the 
railroad.  This agreement would allow them to close city streets and detour traffic during 
the project.  

Recommendation: The first reading of an ordinance authorizing the Mayor to enter into a 
Municipal Agreement with the Missouri Highways and Transportation Commission. 

ITEM NO. VI.A.1  

- 10th Street Bridge Detour



ORDINANCE NO. ____________ 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR OF THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI 
TO EXECUTE ON BEHALF OF THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI A CERTAIN 
MUNICIPAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI AND 
MISSOURI HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI, AS 
FOLLOWS: 

Section 1:  That the Mayor of the City of Rolla, Missouri be and is hereby authorized 
and directed to execute on behalf of the City of Rolla, Municipal Agreement 
between the City of Rolla, Missouri and Missouri Highways and Transportation 
Commission to allow improvements on bridge A3080, a copy of said agreement 
being attached hereto and marked Exhibit “A”. 

Section 2:   This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after the date 
of its passage and approval. 

PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI AND 
APPROVED BY THE MAYOR THIS 20th DAY OF OCTOBER 2025. 

APPROVED: 

MAYOR 

ATTEST: 

CITY CLERK 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

CITY COUNSELOR 

VI.A.2



CCO Form: DE11 Municipal Agreement 
Approved: 04/93 (CEH) Route:  BB 

Revised:  03/24 (TLP) County: Phelps 

Modified: Job No.: JCD0089 

MISSOURI HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
MUNICIPAL AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT is entered into by the Missouri Highways and Transportation 
Commission (hereinafter, "Commission") and the City of Rolla, Missouri, a municipal 
corporation (hereinafter, "City"). 

WITNESSETH: 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, promises and 
representations contained herein, the parties agree as follows: 

(1) IMPROVEMENT DESIGNATION:  The public improvement designated as
Route BB, Phelps County, Job No. JCD0089 shall consist of bridge rehabilitation of 
Bridge A3080, sidewalks and pavement marking. 

(2) IMPROVEMENT WITHIN CITY:  The improvement within the City is located
as follows: 

Beginning at Station 21+12.50, a point 212.5 feet east of N. Elm Street, run in a generally 
easterly direction along existing Route BB to Station 25+63.50, a point 182.7 feet west of 
N. Cedar Street.  Length of improvement within city is 0.086 miles.

(3) EXTENT OF AGREEMENT:  This Agreement shall apply only to the portion
of the improvement lying within the city limits as they exist on the date this Agreement is 
executed by the City. 

(4) LOCATION:  The general location of the public improvement is shown on
an attached sketch marked "Exhibit A" and made a part of this Agreement.  The detailed 
location of the improvement is shown on the plans prepared by the Commission for the 
above-designated route and project. 

(5) PURPOSE:  It is the intent of this Agreement to outline the parties’
responsibilities with respect to the construction and maintenance of those improvements 
to the State Highway System located within the City limits described in paragraphs (1) 
and (2) above and designated as Commission Job No. JCD0089.   

(6) RIGHT-OF-WAY USE:  The City grants the right to use the right-of-way of
public roads, streets, alleys and any other property owned by the City as necessary for 
construction and maintenance of said public improvement. 

EXHIBIT A

VI.A.3



2 

(7) CLOSE AND VACATE:  The City shall temporarily close and vacate all
streets or roads, or parts thereof, which may be necessary to permit the construction of 
the project in accordance with the detailed plans.  When the Commission deems it 
necessary to close Oak Street and Olive Street permanently during construction, the City 
shall be advised in time to make provisions for the diversion and rerouting of traffic. 

(8) RIGHT-OF-WAY ACQUISITION:  No acquisition of additional right-of-way
is anticipated in connection with Job No. JCD0089 or contemplated by this Agreement. 

(9) UTILITY RELOCATION:

(A) It is understood and agreed by the parties to this Agreement that no
city-owned utility facilities will require relocation or adjustment in connection with this 
improvement, but that should utility facilities be discovered at any time during 
development or construction of this improvement, relocation or adjustment of the same 
will be done and performed under a supplemental agreement covering the subject, and 
in accordance with Commission policy then in effect on division of costs for adjustment of 
utility facilities. 

(B) The City agrees that any installation, removal, relocation,
maintenance, or repair of public or private utilities involving work within highway right-of-
way included in this project shall be done only in accordance with the general rules and 
regulations of the Commission and after a permit for the particular work has been obtained 
from the Commission's District Engineer or his authorized representative.  Similarly, the 
City will allow no work on the highway right-of-way involving excavation or alteration in 
any manner of the highway as constructed, including but not limited to driveway 
connections, except in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Commission and 
only after a permit for the specific work has been obtained from the Commission's District 
Engineer or his authorized representative.  The City shall take whatever actions that are 
necessary to assure compliance with this Subsection. 

(10) LIGHTING: The installation, operation, and maintenance by the
Commission of any lighting system on the public improvement covered by this Agreement 
shall be only in accordance with the Commission's policy on highway lighting in effect at 
the time of any such installation and only to the extent the Commission then deems 
warranted.  No street lighting system shall be installed or maintained by or for the City on 
the improvement without approval of the Commission. 

(11) TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES:  The installation, operation and maintenance
of all traffic signals, pavement markings, signs, and devices on the improvement, 
including those between the highway and intersecting streets shall be under the exclusive 
jurisdiction and at the cost of the Commission.  The City shall not install, operate, or 
maintain any traffic signals, signs or other traffic control devices on the highway or on 
streets and highways at any point where they intersect this highway without approval of 

VI.A.4



3 

the Commission. 

(12) DRAINAGE:  The Commission will construct drainage facilities along the
improvement and may use any existing storm and surface water drainage facilities now 
in existence in the area.  The City shall be responsible for receiving and disposing of 
storm and surface water discharged from those drainage facilities which the Commission 
constructs within the limits of highway right-of-way to the extent of the City's authority and 
control of the storm sewer facilities or natural drainage involved. 

(13) PERMITS:  The Commission shall secure any necessary approvals or
permits from the Surface Transportation Board, the Public Service Commission of 
Missouri, or any other state or federal regulating authority required to permit the 
construction and maintenance of the highway. 

(14) COMMENCEMENT OF WORK:  The Commission shall construct the
highway in accordance with final detailed plans approved by the Federal Highway 
Administration (or as they may be changed from time to time by the Commission with the 
approval of the FHWA) at such time as federal and state funds are allocated to the public 
improvement in an amount sufficient to pay for the federal and state government's 
proportionate share of construction costs.  The obligation of the Commission toward the 
actual construction of the public improvement shall be dependent upon the completion of 
plans in time to obligate federal funds for such construction, upon approval of the plans 
by the FHWA, upon the award by the Commission of the contract for the construction, 
and upon the approval of the award by the FHWA. 

(15) MAINTENANCE:

(A) Except as provided in this Agreement, upon completion of the
improvement, the Commission will maintain all portions of the improvement within the 
Commission owned right-of-way, excepting sidewalks whether new or used in place.  The 
Commission will remove snow from the traveled portion of the highway using a snowplow 
or chemical means.  Maintenance by the Commission shall NOT include maintenance or 
repair of sidewalks, including snow removal on those sidewalks, water supply lines, 
sanitary or storm sewers (except those storm sewers constructed by the Commission to 
drain the highway), or city-owned utilities within the right-of-way. 

(B) The City shall inspect and maintain the sidewalks constructed by this
project, and further depicted in attached sketches labeled "Exhibit B", in a condition 
reasonably safe to the public and, to the extent allowed by law, shall indemnify and hold 
the Commission harmless from any claims arising from the construction and maintenance 
of said sidewalks. 

(C) The City shall inspect and maintain the sidewalks constructed by this
project in a condition reasonably safe to the public and, to the extent allowed by law, shall 
indemnify and hold the Commission harmless from any claims arising from the 
construction and maintenance of said sidewalks. 

VI.A.5



4 

(16) ACCEPTED WITHIN HIGHWAY SYSTEM:  Effective upon execution of this
Agreement, the Commission temporarily accepts the portion of the City street system 
described in this Agreement as part of the State Highway System for the purposes of this 
project.  However, during the construction period contemplated in this Agreement: 

(A) The Commission will assume no police or traffic control functions not
obligatory upon Commission immediately prior to the execution of this Agreement, and 

(B) The City shall perform or cause to be performed normal maintenance
on the project site. 

(17) CITY TO MAINTAIN:  Upon completion of construction of this improvement,
the City shall accept control and maintenance of the improved City street that was 
temporarily accepted as part of the State Highway System for the purposes of this project 
pursuant to paragraph (16) above and shall thereafter keep, control, and maintain the 
same as, and for all purposes, a part of the City street system at its own cost and expense 
and at no cost and expense whatsoever to the Commission.  All obligations of the 
Commission with respect to the City street system under this Agreement shall cease upon 
completion of the improvement. 

(18) POLICE POWERS:  It is the intent of the parties to this Agreement that the
City shall retain its police powers with respect to the regulation of traffic upon the 
improvement contemplated.  However, the City will enact, keep in force, and enforce only 
such ordinances relating to traffic movement and parking restrictions as may be approved 
by the Commission and as are not in conflict with any regulations for federal aid.  The 
Commission shall not arbitrarily withhold approval of reasonable traffic regulations, signs, 
and markings which will permit the movement of traffic in accordance with accepted traffic 
regulation practices. 

(19) RESTRICTION OF PARKING:  Since the improvement is being designed
and constructed to accommodate a maximum amount of traffic with a minimum amount 
of right-of-way, the City shall take whatever actions that are necessary to prevent parking 
upon the highway or any part of the area of the highway right-of-way within the limits of 
the improvement. 

(20) OUTDOOR ADVERTISING:  No billboards or other advertising signs or
devices or vending or sale of merchandise will be permitted within the right-of-way limits 
of the project and the City shall take whatever actions that are necessary to enforce this 
Section. 

(21) WITHHOLDING OF FUNDS:  In the event that the City fails, neglects, or
refuses to enact, keep in force or enforce ordinances specified or enacts ordinances 
contrary to the provisions in this Agreement, or in any other manner fails, neglects or 
refuses to perform any of the obligations assumed by it under this Agreement, the 
Commission may, after serving written request upon the City for compliance and the City's 

VI.A.6



5 

failure to comply, withhold the expenditure of further funds for maintenance, improvement, 
construction, or reconstruction of the state highway system in the City. 

(22) FEDERAL HIGHWAY ADMINISTRATION:  This Agreement is entered into
subject to approval by the Federal Highway Administration and is further subject to the 
availability of federal and state funds for this construction. 

(23) INDEMNIFICATION:  To the extent allowed or imposed by law, the City
shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Commission, including its members and 
department employees, from any claim or liability whether based on a claim for damages 
to real or personal property or to a person for any matter relating to or arising out of the 
City’s wrongful or negligent performance of its obligations under this Agreement.   

(24) AMENDMENTS:  Any change in this Agreement, whether by modification
or supplementation, must be accomplished by a formal contract amendment approved 
and signed by representatives of the City and Commission, respectively, each of whom 
being duly authorized to execute the contract amendment on behalf of the City and 
Commission, respectively. 

(25) COMMISSION REPRESENTATIVE:  The Commission's Central District
Engineer is designated as the Commission's representative for the purpose of 
administering the provisions of this Agreement.  The Commission's representative may 
designate by written notice other persons having the authority to act on behalf of the 
Commission in furtherance of the performance of this Agreement. 

(26) CITY REPRESENTATIVE:  The City's Mayor is designated as the City's
representative for the purpose of administering the provisions of this Agreement.  The 
City's representative may designate by written notice other persons having the authority 
to act on behalf of the City in furtherance of the performance of this Agreement. 

(27) NOTICES:  Any notice or other communication required or permitted to be
given hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed given three (3) days after delivery 
by United States mail, regular mail postage prepaid, or upon receipt by personal or 
facsimile delivery, addressed as follows: 

(A) To the City:
Mayor Louis J. Magdits IV
P.O. Box 979
Rolla, MO  65402
Phone No. (573) 426-6948
Email:  lmagdits@rollacity.org

(B) To the Commission:
Machelle Watkins, P.E.
Central District Engineer

VI.A.7



6 

1511 Missouri Boulevard 
P.O. Box 718 
Jefferson City, MO  65109 
Phone No. (573) 751-7687 
Email:  Machelle.watkins@modot.mo.gov 

or to such other place as the parties may designate in accordance with this Agreement. 
To be valid, facsimile delivery shall be followed by delivery of the original document, or a 
clear and legible copy thereof, within three (3) business days of the date of facsimile 
transmission of that document. 

(28) ASSIGNMENT:  The City shall not assign, transfer or delegate any interest
in this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Commission. 

(29) LAW OF MISSOURI TO GOVERN:  This Agreement shall be construed
according to the laws of the State of Missouri.  The City shall comply with all local, state 
and federal laws and regulations relating to the performance of the contract. 

(30) VENUE:  It is agreed by the parties that any action at law, suit in equity, or
other judicial proceeding to enforce or construe this Agreement, or regarding its alleged 
breach, shall be instituted only in the Circuit Court of Cole County, Missouri. 

(31) SOLE BENEFICIARY:  This Agreement is made for the sole benefit of the
parties hereto and nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to give any rights or 
benefits to anyone other than the Commission and the City. 

(32) AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE:  The signers of this Agreement warrant that
they are acting officially and properly on behalf of their respective institutions and have 
been duly authorized, directed and empowered to execute this Agreement. 

(33) SECTION HEADINGS:  All section headings contained in this Agreement
are for the convenience of reference only and are not intended to define or limit the scope 
of any provision of this Agreement. 

[remainder of page intentionally left blank] 

VI.A.8



7 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have entered into this Agreement on the 
date last written below. 

Executed by the City on __________________________________(Date). 

Executed by the Commission on_________________________________(Date). 

MISSOURI HIGHWAYS AND 
TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION CITY OF ROLLA 

By: ___________________________ By: __________________________ 

Title: Assistant Chief Engineer______ Title:  Mayor___________________ 

ATTEST:  ATTEST:  

______________________________ By: __________________________ 
Secretary to the Commission 

Title: City Clerk_________________ 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

______________________________ By: __________________________ 
Commission Counsel 

Title: City Attorney_______________ 

Ordinance Number________________ 

VI.A.9



 

 

 BB

CD

PHELPS

JCD0089

 

 

 

 

 

 

SHEET 1 OF 1

PLAN SHEET

 

4

 

  

  

     

    

COLD MILL 2" ASPHALT AND

REPLACE WITH 2" BP-1 (PG64-22)

LEGEND

SCALE

500 100 150

E 11TH STN
 

O
L
I

V
E
 
S

T

N
 

O
A

K
 

S
T

E 11TH ST

N
 

E
L

M
 

S
T

N
 

E
L

M
 

S
T

E 9TH ST

N
 

O
L
I

V
E
 

S
T

N
 

C
E

D
A

R
 

S
T

RTE BB / 10TH ST

STA. 21+12.50

BEGIN PROJECT

STA. 21+32.50       

BEGIN BRIDGE #A30802

     STA. 25+43.50

END BRIDGE #A30802

STA. 25+63.50

END PROJECT  

RTE BB / 10TH ST

N
 

O
A

K
 

S
T

B
N
S
F
 

R
A
I

L
R

O
A

D

B
N
S
F
 

R
A
I

L
R

O
A

D

EX. ROW

EX. ROW

BRIDGE APPROACH   

B CURB & GUTTER AT

SIDEWALK AND TYPE 

REMOVE AND REPLACE

    BRIDGE APPROACH

   CURB & GUTTER AT

SIDEWALK AND TYPE B

 REMOVE AND REPLACE

BRIDGE APPROACH   

B CURB & GUTTER AT

SIDEWALK AND TYPE 

REMOVE AND REPLACE

            BRIDGE APPROACH

AND TYPE B CURB & GUTTER AT

REMOVE AND REPLACE SIDEWALK

(UIP)

(UIP)

(UIP)(UIP)

(UIP)(UIP)

(UIP)

(UIP)

(UIP)

(UIP)

(UIP)

(UIP)

(UIP)

(UIP)

(UIP)

(DND)

(DND) (DND)

    COATING OF SUBSTRUCTURE AND SLAB EDGES.

 BENTS 4 & 6,SUBSTRUCTURE REPAIRS AND EPOXY

   REPAIRS, EXPANSION JOINT REPLACEMENTS AT

 WITH CURB BLOCKOUTS, HALF-SOLE & FULL-SOLE

CONCRETE OVERLAY ADDED TO BRIDGE DECK ALONG

EXIST. BRIDGE A30802 TO HAVE LATEX MODIFIED

2
0

2
5

1
9

+
0
0
.
0
0

 
S

T
A
 

S
T

A
R

T

1
9
+

4
9
.0

0
 S

T
A

 
P

O
T

2
7
+

4
6
.2

0
 S

T
A

 
P

O
T

2
8
+

0
8
.3

0
 S

T
A

 
E

N
D

N89°56'59"E S89°31'01"E

PB

PB PB

PB

TREE LINE
TRACKS

RAILROAD

TRACKS

RAILROAD

TREE LINE
TRACKS

RAILROAD

TRACKS

RAILROAD

\\hrgreen.com\hrg\Data\2022\2202603.04\CAD\Roadway\Plan_Sheets\04_PL_01_JCD0089_I50.dgn 10:39:00 AM 5/19/2025

COUNTY

JOB NO.

CONTRACT ID.

ROUTE STATE

DISTRICT

D
A

T
E

D
E

S
C

R
IP

T
IO

N

MO

DATE PREPARED

BRIDGE NO.

PROJECT NO.

SHEET NO.

5/19/2025

I
F

 A
 S

E
A

L
 I

S
 P

R
E

S
E

N
T

 O
N

 T
H

I
S

 S
H

E
E

T
 I

T
 H

A
S

 B
E

E
N

 E
L

E
C

T
R

O
N

I
C

A
L

L
Y

 S
E

A
L

E
D

 A
N

D
 D

A
T

E
D

. 
 

PROJECT NO.

1
-
8
8
8
-
A

S
K

-
M

O
D

O
T

 (
1
-
8
8
8
-
2
7
5
-
6
6
3
6
)

J
E

F
F

E
R

S
O

N
 C

I
T

Y
, 
M

O
 6

5
1
0
2

1
0
5
 W

E
S

T
 C

A
P

I
T

O
L

C
O

M
M

IS
S

IO
N

M
IS

S
O

U
R

I 
H

IG
H

W
A

Y
S

 A
N

D
 T

R
A

N
S

P
O

R
T

A
T

IO
N

C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 L

I
C

E
N

S
E

 #
2
0
0
2
0
0
6
6
0
8

P
H

O
N

E
:
  
(
6
3
6
)
 5

1
9
.0

9
9
0

S
T

. 
L

O
U

I
S

, 
M

I
S

S
O

U
R

I
 6

3
1
4
1

S
U

I
T

E
 1

0
0

5
2

0
 M

A
R

Y
V

I
L

L
E

 C
E

N
T

R
E

 D
R

I
V

E
, 

H
R

 G
R

E
E

N
, 

I
N

C
.

N
O
T
 
F

O
R
 
C

O
N
S
T
R

U
C
T
I

O
N

P
R
E
L
I

M
I

N
A
R

Y

THIS PAGE REFERS.

BE USED FOR ANY PART OR PARTS OF THE PROJECT TO WHICH

UNDERSIGNED PROFESSIONAL RELATING TO OR INTENDED TO

OR OTHER DOCUMENTS OR INSTRUMENTS NOT SEALED BY THE

SECTION 327.411 RSMO) SPECIFICATION, ESTIMATES, REPORTS,

APPEARS ON THIS PAGE, AND DISCLAIMS (PURSUANT TO

APPEAR HEREON ASSUMES RESPONSIBILITY ONLY FOR WHAT

THE PROFESSIONAL WHOSE SIGNATURE AND PERSONAL SEAL

                         DISCLAIMER 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

peterm
Text Box
EXHIBIT A
MUNICIPAL AGREEMENT

MISSOURI HIGHWAYS & TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION AND THE CITY OF ROLLA

JOB NO JCD0089 
PHELPS COUNTY, ROUTE BB




 

 

 BB

CD

PHELPS

JCD0089

 

 

 

 

 

 

SHEET 1 OF 1

SPECIAL SHEET

 

12

 

  

  

     

    

PB

PB

CONC WALK

CONC WALK

CONC CURB

CONC CURB

CONC WALK

CONC WALK

CONC CURB

CONC CURB

LINE

TREE

STA 25+52.15

OFF 32.94' LT.

STA 25+52.15

OFF 27.05' LT.

STA 25+67.15

OFF 33.59' LT.

STA 25+67.15

OFF 33.00' LT.

STA 25+72.15

OFF 30.26' LT.

STA 25+67.15

OFF 27.01' LT.

STA 25+36.34

OFF 26.92' RT.

STA 25+36.34

OFF 32.87' RT.

STA 25+51.34

OFF 26.94' RT.

STA 25+56.34

OFF 30.06' RT.

STA 25+51.34

OFF 32.90' RT.

STA 25+56.34

OFF 34.02' RT.

5'

5'

EXISTING

TIE BACK TO

EXISTING

TIE BACK TO

SCALE

3020100

EX. SIDEWALK ON BRIDGE (UIP)

EX. SIDEWALK ON BRIDGE (UIP)

PB

PB

CONC WALK

CONC WALK

CONC CURB

CONC WALK

CONC WALK

CONC CURB

CONC CURB

STA 21+12.50

OFF 33.99' RT.

STA 21+12.50

OFF 30.15' RT.

STA 21+17.49

OFF 27.10' RT.

STA 21+17.50

OFF 33.14' RT.

STA 21+32.50

OFF 33.09' RT.

STA 21+32.50

OFF 27.07' RT.

STA 21+12.50

OFF 33.64' LT.

STA 21+17.50

OFF 32.65' LT.

STA 21+12.50

OFF 30.13' LT.

STA 21+17.50

OFF 26.85' LT.

STA 21+32.50

OFF 32.64' LT.

STA 21+32.50

OFF 26.82' LT.

5'

5'

   EXISTING

TIE BACK TO

   EXISTING

TIE BACK TO

SCALE

3020100

CONCRETE SIDEWALK/

CURB & GUTTER

COLDMILL 2" ASPHALT

& REPLACE WITH 2"

BP-1 (PG64-22)

LEGEND

EX. SIDEWALK ON BRIDGE (UIP)

EX. SIDEWALK ON BRIDGE (UIP)

\\hrgreen.com\hrg\Data\2022\2202603.04\CAD\Roadway\Plan_Sheets\12_SS_01_JCD0089_I10.dgn 12:34:04 PM 8/12/2025

COUNTY

JOB NO.

CONTRACT ID.

ROUTE STATE

DISTRICT

D
A

T
E

D
E

S
C

R
IP

T
IO

N

MO

DATE PREPARED

BRIDGE NO.

PROJECT NO.

SHEET NO.

8/12/2025

I
F

 A
 S

E
A

L
 I

S
 P

R
E

S
E

N
T

 O
N

 T
H

I
S

 S
H

E
E

T
 I

T
 H

A
S

 B
E

E
N

 E
L

E
C

T
R

O
N

I
C

A
L

L
Y

 S
E

A
L

E
D

 A
N

D
 D

A
T

E
D

. 
 

PROJECT NO.

1
-
8
8
8
-
A

S
K

-
M

O
D

O
T

 (
1
-
8
8
8
-
2
7
5
-
6
6
3
6
)

J
E

F
F

E
R

S
O

N
 C

I
T

Y
, 
M

O
 6

5
1
0
2

1
0
5
 W

E
S

T
 C

A
P

I
T

O
L

C
O

M
M

IS
S

IO
N

M
IS

S
O

U
R

I 
H

IG
H

W
A

Y
S

 A
N

D
 T

R
A

N
S

P
O

R
T

A
T

IO
N

C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 L

I
C

E
N

S
E

 #
2
0
0
2
0
0
6
6
0
8

P
H

O
N

E
:
  
(
6
3
6
)
 5

1
9
.0

9
9
0

S
T

. 
L

O
U

I
S

, 
M

I
S

S
O

U
R

I
 6

3
1
4
1

S
U

I
T

E
 1

0
0

5
2

0
 M

A
R

Y
V

I
L

L
E

 C
E

N
T

R
E

 D
R

I
V

E
, 

H
R

 G
R

E
E

N
, 

I
N

C
.

N
O
T
 
F

O
R
 
C

O
N
S
T
R

U
C
T
I

O
N

P
R
E
L
I

M
I

N
A
R

Y

THIS PAGE REFERS.

BE USED FOR ANY PART OR PARTS OF THE PROJECT TO WHICH

UNDERSIGNED PROFESSIONAL RELATING TO OR INTENDED TO

OR OTHER DOCUMENTS OR INSTRUMENTS NOT SEALED BY THE

SECTION 327.411 RSMO) SPECIFICATION, ESTIMATES, REPORTS,

APPEARS ON THIS PAGE, AND DISCLAIMS (PURSUANT TO

APPEAR HEREON ASSUMES RESPONSIBILITY ONLY FOR WHAT

THE PROFESSIONAL WHOSE SIGNATURE AND PERSONAL SEAL

                         DISCLAIMER 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

peterm
Text Box
EXHIBIT B
MUNICIPAL AGREEMENT

MISSOURI HIGHWAYS & TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION AND THE CITY OF ROLLA

JOB NO JCD0089 
PHELPS COUNTY, ROUTE BB




 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



CITY OF ROLLA 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 

DEPARTMENT HEAD: Darin Pryor 

ACTION REQUESTED: Ordinance 1st Reading 

ITEM/SUBJECT: Little Oaks Road No-Parking 

DATE: 10-06-25 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *
COMMENTARY:

Staff is requesting to remove parking on Little Oaks Road between Route 63 and Rolla Street.  The 
existing roadway width is not wide enough to allow parking.  

RECCOMENDATION:  The first reading of an ordinance to prohibit parking on Little Oaks Road. 

ITEM NO. VI.B.1  



              ORDINANCE NO. __________ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 27-92  OF THE GENERAL ORDINANCES OF THE 
CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI KNOWN AS THE CODE OF THE CITY OF ROLLA, 
MISSOURI, RELATING TO PARKING.        

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ROLLA, MISSOURI AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1: That Section 27-92 of the Code of the City of Rolla, Missouri, pertaining to parking is 
hereby amended by adding the following:   

Sec. 27-92 Parking Prohibited – On certain streets or parts of streets. 

It shall be unlawful for any person to cause or permit any motor vehicle registered in 
his/her name to be unlawfully parked as set out in this section. 

Little Oaks Road, on both sides, from Bishop Avenue (U.S. Highway 63) to Rolla Street. 

Section 2:  That this ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after the date of its passage 
and approval.   

PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI, AND APPROVED 
BY THE MAYOR THIS 20th  DAY OF OCTOBER, 2025. 

APPROVED: 

______________________________________ 
ATTEST: MAYOR 

______________________________________ 
CITY CLERK 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

______________________________________ 
CITY COUNSELOR 

VI.B.2





 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



CITY OF ROLLA 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 

DEPARTMENT HEAD: Darin Pryor 

ACTION REQUESTED: Ordinance 1st Reading 

ITEM/SUBJECT:    Airport Infrastructure Grant Agreement 

DATE:  10/06/2025 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
COMMENTARY:

The attached ordinance authorizes the Mayor to execute an Airport Infrastructure Grant 
Agreement with the Missouri Highways and Transportation Commission for the 
construction phase services. This grant will reimburse eligible fees at 95% from the 
Rolla National Airports Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act entitlement funds. 

Recommendation:  The first reading of an ordinance authorizing the Mayor execute an 
Airport Infrastructure Grant Agreement with the Missouri Highways and Transportation 
Commission  

ITEM NO. ________________ 
VI.C.1



ORDINANCE NO. ____________ 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR OF THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI 
TO EXECUTE ON BEHALF OF THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI A CERTAIN 
AIRPORT INFRASTRUCTURE GRANT AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF 
ROLLA, MISSOURI AND MISSOURI HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORTATION 
COMMISSION. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI, AS 
FOLLOWS: 

Section 1:  That the Mayor of the City of Rolla, Missouri be and is hereby authorized 
and directed to execute on behalf of the City of Rolla, An Infrastructure Grant 
Agreement between the City of Rolla, Missouri and Missouri Highways and 
Transportation Commission, a copy of said agreement being attached hereto and 
marked Exhibit “A”. 

Section 2:   This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after the date 
of its passage and approval. 

PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROLLA, MISSOURI AND 
APPROVED BY THE MAYOR THIS 20th DAY OF OCTOBER 2025. 

APPROVED: 

MAYOR 

ATTEST: 

CITY CLERK 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

CITY COUNSELOR 
VI.C.2



CCO FORM: MO24 Sponsor:  City of Rolla 
Approved: 12/23 (MWH) Project No.:  23-056A-1  
Revised:   08/25 (MWH) Airport Name:  Rolla National
Modified: 

CFDA Number: CFDA #20.106  
CFDA Title:  Airport Improvement Program  
Federal Agency: Federal Aviation Administration, Department of Transportation

MISSOURI HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
AIRPORT INFRASTRUCTURE GRANT AGREEMENT 

SECTION I - TITLE, AUTHORIZATION, PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
--State Block Grant Agreement  
--Federal Authorization - Airport and Airway Improvement  
  Act of 1982 (as amended)  
--Project Description - Planning, Land/Easement Appraisals 
  and Acquisitions, Surveying, Engineering Design, Construction  

          SECTION II - STANDARD AGREEMENT ITEMS 
1. PURPOSE
2. PROJECT TIME PERIOD
3. TITLE EVIDENCE TO EXISTING AIRPORT PROPERTY
4. AMOUNT OF GRANT
5. AMOUNT OF MATCHING FUNDS
6. ALLOWABLE COSTS
7. WITHDRAWAL OF GRANT OFFER
8. EXPIRATION OF GRANT OFFER
9. FEDERAL SHARE OF COSTS

10. COMPLETING THE PROJECT WITHOUT DELAY AND IN CONFORMANCE
WITH REQUIREMENTS

11. RECOVERY OF FEDERAL FUNDS
12. UNITED STATES NOT LIABLE FOR DAMAGE OR INJURY
13. PAYMENT
14. ADMINISTRATIVE/AUDIT REQUIREMENTS
15. ASSURANCES/COMPLIANCE
16. LEASES/AGREEMENTS
17. NONDISCRIMINATION ASSURANCE
18. CANCELLATION
19. VENUE
20. APPLICABLE LAWS AND REGULATIONS
21. WORK PRODUCT
22. CONFIDENTIALITY
23. NONSOLICITATION
24. DISPUTES
25. INDEMNIFICATION

EXHIBIT A

VI.C.3



26. INSURANCE
27. HOLD HARMLESS
28. NOTIFICATION OF CHANGE
29. DURATION OF GRANT OBLIGATIONS
30. AMENDMENTS
31. PROFESSIONAL SERVICES BY COMPETITIVE PROPOSALS
32. ASSIGNMENT
33. BANKRUPTCY
34. COMMISSION REPRESENTATIVE
35. FEDERAL FUNDING ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY ACT OF 2006
36. BAN ON TEXTING WHILE DRIVING
37. TRAFFICKING IN PERSONS
38. SUSPENSION OR DEBARMENT
39. SYSTEM FOR AWARD MANAGEMENT REGISTRATION AND UNIQUE ENTITY

IDENTIFIER
40. FINANCIAL REPORTING AND PAYMENT REQUIREMENTS
41. EMPLOYEE PROTECTION FROM REPRISALS

SECTION III – PLANNING
42. AIRPORT LAYOUT PLAN
43. AIRPORT PROPERTY MAP
44. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT EVALUATION
45. EXHIBIT "A" PROPERTY MAP
46. SOLID WASTE RECYCLING PLAN

SECTION IV - LAND/EASEMENT APPRAISALS AND ACQUISITIONS
47. RUNWAY PROTECTION ZONE

SECTION V - DESIGN
48. ENGINEER'S DESIGN REPORT
49. GEOMETRIC DESIGN CRITERIA
50. PLANS, SPECIFICATION AND ESTIMATES

SECTION VI - CONSTRUCTION
51. CONSTRUCTION OBSERVATION/INSPECTION REQUIREMENTS
52. CONSTRUCTION PROGRESS AND INSPECTION REPORTS
53. WAGE LAWS
54. COMPETITIVE SELECTION OF CONTRACTOR
55. REVIEW OF BIDS AND CONTRACT AWARD
56. NOTICE TO PROCEED
57. DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISES - CONSTRUCTION
58. LABOR STANDARDS INTERVIEWS
59. AIR AND WATER QUALITY
60. FILING NOTICE OF LANDING AREA PROPOSAL
61. FILING NOTICE OF PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION OR ALTERATION
62. CHANGE ORDERS/SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENTS

VI.C.4



63. RESPONSIBILITY FOR PROJECT SAFETY
64. RECORD DRAWINGS
65. PROHIBITED TELECOMMUNICATIONS
66. BUY AMERICAN
67. BUILD AMERICA, BUY AMERICA

SECTION VII – SPECIAL CONDITIONS
68. SPECIAL CONDITIONS

          SECTION VIII – GRANT ACCEPTANCE 
--Signature by sponsor constitutes acceptance of grant terms and conditions.  Failure to 
comply with grant requirements will jeopardize funding eligibility. 
--Certificate of sponsor's attorney 

VI.C.5



THIS GRANT AGREEMENT is entered into by the Missouri Highways and 
Transportation Commission (hereinafter, “Commission”) and the City of Rolla 
(hereinafter, “Sponsor”). Reference will also be made to the Federal Aviation 
Administration (hereinafter, “FAA”) and the Federal Airport Infrastructure Grant (“AIG”) 
Program. 

WHEREAS, the FAA has entered a State Block Grant Program (SBGP) 
Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) with the Commission for the administration of AIG 
funds for airport planning, development, and noise program implementation projects 
conforming to Public Law (117-58), as permitted under Title 49 United States Code (USC) 
§47128 at non-primary airports in the State (covered airports); and

WHEREAS, the Commission, as an approved SBGP participant, has the 
administrative responsibility to administer AIG funds for Sponsors of covered airports; and 

WHEREAS, the Commission has submitted to the FAA a Block Grant Project 
Application dated September 5, 2023, for a Grant of Federal funds at or associated with 
Missouri SBGP Airports, which is a covered airport in Missouri and is included as part of 
this AIG State Block Grant Agreement (Grant Agreement); 

WHEREAS, the FAA has made a Grant Offer, and the Commission has accepted 
the terms of FAA’s Grant Offer; and 

WHEREAS, in consideration of the promises, representations, and assurances 
provided by the Commission, the FAA has approved the State Block Grant Project 
Application to provide AIG Grant funds (hereinafter, “Grant”) to the Commission for eligible 
and justified projects (hereinafter, “Projects”) for covered airports; and 

WHEREAS, the Commission has been selected by FAA to administer federal 
funds under AIG program; and 

WHEREAS, the Sponsor has applied to the Commission for a sub-grant under said 
program; and 

WHEREAS, the Commission has agreed to award funds to the Sponsor with the 
understanding that such funds will be used for a project pursuant to this Agreement for 
the purposes generally described as follows: 

TAXIWAY A RECONSTRUCT 

NOW, THEREFORE, pursuant to and for the purpose of carrying out the 
Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (Public Law 117-58, Division J, Title VIII) of 2021 
referred to as the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (BIL); and the representations contained 
in the State Block Grant Project Application for AIG funds; and in consideration of these 
mutual covenants, promises, and representations, the parties agree as follows: 

VI.C.6



(1) PURPOSE: The purpose of this Agreement is to provide financial
assistance under the AIG grant program.  

(2) PROJECT TIME PERIOD: The project period shall be from the date of
execution by the Commission to December 31, 2027. The Commission’s assistant chief 
engineer may for good cause as shown by the Sponsor in writing extend the project time 
period. 

(3) TITLE EVIDENCE TO EXISTING AIRPORT PROPERTY: The Sponsor
shall provide satisfactory evidence to title to all existing airport property and avigation 
easements and address any and all encumbrances. Satisfactory evidence will consist of 
the Sponsor’s execution of a Certificate of Tile form provided by the Commission. 

(4) AMOUNT OF GRANT: The initial amount of this grant is not to exceed Two
Hundred Seventy-Six Thousand Seven Hundred Ninety-Nine Dollars ($276,799) for 
eligible preliminary project costs and/or land/easement acquisition. A grant amendment 
to cover the balance of eligible project costs will be provided after construction bids are 
received. 

(A) The amount of this grant stated above represents ninety-five percent
(95%) of eligible project costs. 

(B) The designation of this grant does not create a lump sum quantity
contract, but rather only represents the amount of funding available for qualifying 
expenses. In no event will the Commission provide the Sponsor funding for improvements 
or work that are not actually performed. The release of all funding under this Agreement 
is subject to review and approval of all project expenses to ensure that they are qualifying 
expenses under this program. 

(5) AMOUNT OF MATCHING FUNDS: The initial amount of local matching
funds to be furnished by the Sponsor is not to exceed Fourteen Thousand Five Hundred 
Sixty-Eight Dollars ($14,568). 

(A) The amount of matching funds stated above represents five percent
(5%) of eligible project costs. 

(B) The Sponsor warrants to the Commission that it has sufficient cash
on deposit to provide the local matching funds identified above, as well as to cover one 
hundred percent (100%) of any ineligible items included in the scope of work. 

(6) ALLOWABLE COSTS: AIG grant funds shall not be used for any costs that
the Commission and/or the FAA has determined to be ineligible or unallowable in 
accordance with 49 USC Chapters 471 and 475. The Sponsor must not include any costs 
in the projects funded with this grant that are ineligible or unallowable in accordance with 
Public Law 117-58, Division J, Title VIII. 

VI.C.7



(7) WITHDRAWAL OF GRANT OFFER: The Commission reserves the right to
amend or withdraw this grant offer at any time prior to its acceptance by the Sponsor. 

(8) EXPIRATION OF GRANT OFFER: This grant offer shall expire, and the
Commission shall not be obligated to pay any part of the costs of the project unless this 
grant Agreement has been executed by the Sponsor on or before October 15, 2025, or 
such subsequent date as may be prescribed in writing by the Commission. 

(9) FEDERAL SHARE OF COSTS: The United States’ share of the allowable
project costs will be made in accordance with 49 USC §47109, the regulations, the 
Secretary of Transportation’s (Secretary’s) policies and procedures and the Act(s) 
reference above, as may be applicable. Final determination of the United States’ share 
will be based upon the final audit of the total amount of allowable project costs, and 
settlement will be made for any upward or downward adjustments to the Federal share of 
costs.  

(10) COMPLETING THE PROJECT WITHOUT DELAY AND IN
CONFORMANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS: The Sponsor must assure the project is 
carried out and completed without undue delays and in accordance with this Agreement, 
applicable laws including but not limited to BIL (Public Law 117-58), statutes, and 
regulations, and the Secretary’s policies and procedures. Per 2 CFR §200.308, the 
Sponsor agrees, to report to the Commission any disengagement from funding eligible 
expenses under this Agreement and any subgrants hereto that exceed three (3) months 
or a twenty-five percent (25%) reduction in time devoted to the project and request prior 
approval from the Commission. The report must include a reason for the stoppage. The 
Sponsor agrees, to comply with the attached assurances, which are part of this 
Agreement. These assurances, conditions, and any addendums apply to subgrants 
issued under this Agreement. 

(11) RECOVERY OF FEDERAL FUNDS: The Sponsor shall take all steps,
including litigation, if necessary, to recover Federal funds spent fraudulently, wastefully, 
or in violation of Federal antitrust statutes, or misused in any other manner for any 
project(s) upon which Federal funds have been expended. For the purpose of this Grant 
Agreement, the term “Federal funds” means funds however used or disbursed by the 
Sponsor, that were originally paid pursuant to this or any other Federal grant 
agreement(s). The Sponsor must obtain the approval of the Commission as to any 
determination of the amount of the Federal share of such funds. The Sponsor must return 
the recovered Federal share, including funds recovered by settlement, order, or judgment, 
to the Commission. The Sponsor must furnish to the Commission, upon request, all 
documents and records pertaining to the determination of the amount of the Federal share 
or to any settlement, litigation, negotiation, or other efforts taken to recover such funds. 
All settlements or other final positions of the Sponsor, in court or otherwise, involving the 
recovery of such Federal share shall be approved in advance by the Commission. 

(12) UNITED STATES NOT LIABLE FOR DAMAGE OR INJURY: The United
States is not responsible or liable for damage to property or injury to persons that may 

VI.C.8



arise from, or be incident to, compliance with this Agreement or subgrants issued under 
this Agreement, including, but not limited to, any action taken by a Sponsor related to or 
arising from, directly or indirectly, this Agreement. 

(13) PAYMENT: Payments to the Sponsor are made on an advance basis. The
Sponsor may request incremental payments during the course of the project or lump sum 
payments upon completion of the work. However, this advance payment is subject to the 
limitations imposed by subparagraph (B) of this paragraph of this Agreement. 

(A) The Sponsor may request payment at any time subsequent to the
execution of this Agreement by both parties. Requests for reimbursement shall be 
supported with invoices. After the Sponsor pays incurred costs, copies of checks used to 
pay providers must be submitted to the Commission. 

(B) It is understood and agreed by and between the parties that the
Commission shall make no payment which could cause the aggregate of all payments 
under this Agreement to exceed ninety percent (90%) of the maximum federal obligation 
stated in this Agreement or eighty-six percent (86%) of actual total eligible project cost, 
whichever is lower, until the Sponsor has met and/or performed all requirements of this 
grant Agreement to the satisfaction of the Commission. The final ten percent (10%) of the 
maximum federal obligation stated in this Agreement shall not be paid to the Sponsor 
until the Commission has received and approved all final closeout documentation for the 
project. 

(C) Within ninety (90) days of final inspection of the project funded under
this Agreement, the Sponsor shall provide to the Commission a final payment request 
and all financial, performance, and other reports as required by the conditions of this 
Agreement, with the exception of the final audit report. This report shall be provided when 
the Sponsor's normal annual audit is completed. 

(D) When force account or donations are used, the costs for land,
engineering administration, in-kind labor, equipment and materials, etc., may be 
submitted in letter form with a breakdown of the number of hours and the hourly charges 
for labor and equipment. Quantities of materials used, and unit costs must also be 
included. All force account activity, donations, etc., must be pre-approved by the 
Commission to ensure eligibility for funding. 

(14) ADMINISTRATIVE/AUDIT REQUIREMENTS: This grant shall be governed
by the administrative and audit requirements as prescribed in 2 CFR Part 200. 

(A) If the Sponsor expends one million dollars ($1,000,000) or more in a
year in federal financial assistance, it is required to have an independent annual audit 
conducted in accordance with 2 CFR Part 200. A copy of the audit report shall be 
submitted to the Missouri Department of Transportation ("MoDOT" or “Department”) 
within the earlier of thirty (30) days after receipt of the auditor’s report or nine (9) months 
after the end of the audit period. Subject to the requirements of 2 CFR Part 200, if the 
Sponsor expends less than one million dollars ($1,000,000) in a year, the Sponsor may 

VI.C.9



be exempt from auditing requirements for that year, but records must be available for 
review or audit by applicable state and federal authorities. 

(B) When the Sponsor's normal annual audit is completed, the Sponsor
shall provide to the Commission a copy of an audit report that includes the disposition of 
all federal funds involved in this project.  

(C) In the event a final audit has not been performed prior to the closing
of the grant, the Commission retains the right to recover any appropriate amount of 
funding after fully considering interest accrued or recommendations on disallowed costs 
identified during the final audit. 

(D) The Commission reserves the right to conduct its own audit of the
Sponsor's records to confirm compliance with grant requirements and to ensure that all 
costs and fees are appropriate and acceptable. 

(15) ASSURANCES/COMPLIANCE: The Sponsor shall adhere to the FAA
standard airport Sponsor assurances as outlined in attached Exhibit 1, Airport Sponsors 
(Bipartisan Infrastructure Law), or Non-Airport Sponsors Undertaking Noise Compatibility 
Program Projects (May 2011) Assurances, or Planning Agency (May 2022) Assurances, 
and all information require by 2 CFR §200.332 and current FAA Advisory Circulars (ACs) 
for AIG projects and/or the Commission’s specifications. These assurances, ACs, and the 
Commission’s specifications are hereby incorporated into and made part of this 
Agreement. The Sponsor shall review the assurances, ACs, Commission’s specifications, 
and current "FAA Airport Compliance Manual” and notify the Commission of any areas of 
non-compliance within its existing facility and/or operations. All non-compliance situations 
must be addressed and a plan to remedy areas of non-compliance must be established 
before final acceptance of this project and before final payment is made to the Sponsor. 

(16) LEASES/AGREEMENTS: The Sponsor shall ensure that its lease
agreements provide for fair market value (FMV) income and prohibit exclusive rights. 

(A) Long term commitments (longer than five (5) years) must provide for
renegotiation of the leases’/agreements’ terms and payments at least every five (5) years. 

(B) Leases/agreements shall not contain provisions that adversely affect
the Sponsor's possession and control of the airport or interfere with the Sponsor's ability 
to comply with the obligations and covenants set forth in this grant Agreement. 

(17) NONDISCRIMINATION ASSURANCE: With regard to work under this
Agreement, the Sponsor agrees as follows: 

(A) Civil Rights Statutes: The Sponsor shall comply with all state and
federal statutes relating to nondiscrimination, including but not limited to Title VI and Title 
VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended (42 USC 2000d and 2000e, et seq.), as 
well as any applicable titles of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA). In addition, if the 

VI.C.10



Sponsor is providing services or operating programs on behalf of the Department or the 
Commission, it shall comply with all applicable provisions of Title II of the ADA. 

(B) Administrative Rules: The Sponsor shall comply with the
administrative rules of the USDOT relative to nondiscrimination in federally assisted 
programs of the USDOT (49 CFR Subtitle A, Part 21) which are herein incorporated by 
reference and made part of this Agreement. 

(C) Nondiscrimination: The Sponsor shall not discriminate on grounds of
the race, color, religion, creed, sex, disability, national origin, age, or ancestry of any 
individual in the selection and retention of subcontractors, including procurement of 
materials and leases of equipment. The Sponsor shall not participate either directly or 
indirectly in the discrimination prohibited by 49 CFR Subtitle A, Part 21, Section 21.5, 
including employment practices. 

(D) Solicitations for Subcontracts, Including Procurements of Material
and Equipment: These assurances concerning nondiscrimination also apply to 
subcontractors and suppliers of the Sponsor. These apply to all solicitations either by 
competitive bidding or negotiation made by the Sponsor for work to be performed under 
a subcontract, including procurement of materials or equipment. Each potential 
subcontractor or supplier shall be notified by the Sponsor of the requirements of this 
Agreement relative to nondiscrimination on grounds of the race, color, religion, creed, 
sex, disability, national origin, age, or ancestry of any individual. 

(E) Information and Reports: The Sponsor shall provide all information
and reports required by this Agreement, or orders and instructions issued pursuant 
thereto, and will permit access to its books, records, accounts, other sources of 
information and its facilities as may be determined by the Commission or the USDOT to 
be necessary to ascertain compliance with other contracts, orders, and instructions. 
Where any information required of the Sponsor is in the exclusive possession of another 
who fails or refuses to furnish this information, the Sponsor shall so certify to the 
Commission or the USDOT as appropriate and shall set forth what efforts it has made to 
obtain the information. 

(F) Sanctions for Noncompliance: In the event the Sponsor fails to
comply with the nondiscrimination provisions of this Agreement, the Commission shall 
impose such contract sanctions as it or the USDOT may determine to be appropriate, 
including but not limited to: 

1. Withholding of payments under this Agreement until the
Sponsor complies; and/or 

2. Cancellation, termination, or suspension of this Agreement, in
whole or in part, or both. 

(G) Incorporation of Provisions: The Sponsor shall include the provisions

VI.C.11



of this paragraph of this Agreement in every subcontract, including procurements of 
materials and leases of equipment, unless exempted by the statutes, executive order, 
administrative rules or instructions issued by the Commission or the USDOT. The 
Sponsor will take such action with respect to any subcontract or procurement as the 
Commission or the USDOT may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions, including 
sanctions for noncompliance; provided that in the event the Sponsor becomes involved 
or is threatened with litigation with a subcontractor or supplier as a result of such direction, 
the Sponsor may request the United States to enter into such litigation to protect the 
interests of the United States. 

(18) CANCELLATION: The Commission may cancel this Agreement at any time
the Sponsor breaches the contractual obligations by providing the Sponsor with written 
notice of cancellation. Should the Commission exercise its right to cancel the Agreement 
for such reasons, cancellation will become effective upon the date specified in the notice 
of cancellation sent to the Sponsor. 

(A) Upon written notice to the Sponsor, the Commission reserves the
right to suspend or terminate all or part of the grant when the Sponsor is, or has been, in 
violation of the terms of this Agreement. Any lack of progress that significantly endangers 
substantial performance of the project within the specified time shall be deemed a 
violation of the terms of this Agreement. The determination of lack of progress shall be 
solely within the discretion of the Commission. Once such determination is made, the 
Commission shall so notify the Sponsor in writing. Termination of any part of the grant will 
not invalidate obligations properly incurred by the Sponsor prior to the date of termination. 

(B) The Commission shall have the right to suspend funding of the
project at any time and for so long as the Sponsor fails to substantially comply with all the 
material terms and conditions of this Agreement. If the Commission determines that 
substantial noncompliance cannot be cured within thirty (30) days, then the Commission 
may terminate the funding for the project. If the Sponsor fails to perform its obligations in 
substantial accordance with the Agreement (except if the project has been terminated for 
the convenience of the parties) and the FAA requires the Commission to repay grant 
funds that have already been expended by the Sponsor, then the Sponsor shall repay the 
Commission such federal funds. 

(19) VENUE: It is agreed by the parties that any action at law, suit in equity, or
other judicial proceeding to enforce or construe this Agreement, or regarding its alleged 
breach, shall be instituted only in the Circuit Court of Cole County, Missouri. 

(20) APPLICALBE LAWS AND REGULATIONS: This Agreement shall be
construed according to the laws of the State of Missouri. Each party shall comply with all 
applicable federal, state, and local laws, regulations, and ordinances. Additionally, each 
party shall adhere to all accepted industry standards, processes, and procedures relevant 
to the performance of their obligations under this Agreement. A violation of this paragraph 
constitutes a material breach of the Agreement.  

VI.C.12



(21) WORK PRODUCT: All documents, reports, exhibits, etc. produced by the
Sponsor at the direction of the Commission shall remain the property of the Sponsor. 
However, Sponsor shall provide to the Commission a copy of magnetic discs that contain 
computer aided design and drafting (CADD) drawings and other documents generated 
under this grant. Information supplied by the Commission shall remain the property of the 
Commission. The Sponsor shall also supply to the Commission hard copies of any 
working documents such as reports, plans, specifications, etc., as requested by the 
Commission. 

(22) CONFIDENTIALITY: The Sponsor shall not disclose to third parties
confidential factual matter provided by the Commission except as may be required by 
statute, ordinance, or order of court, or as authorized by the Commission. The Sponsor 
shall notify the Commission immediately of any request for such information. 

(23) NONSOLICITATION: The Sponsor warrants that it has not employed or
retained any company or person, other than a bona fide employee working for the 
Sponsor, to solicit or secure this Agreement, and that it has not paid or agreed to pay any 
company or person, other than a bona fide employee, any fee, commission, percentage, 
brokerage fee, gift, or any other consideration, contingent upon or resulting from the 
award or making of this Agreement. For breach or violation of this warranty, the 
Commission shall have the right to annul this Agreement without liability, or in its 
discretion, to deduct from this Agreement price or consideration, or otherwise recover, 
the full amount of such fee, commission, percentage, brokerage fee, gift, or contingent 
fee. 

(24) DISPUTES: Any disputes that arise under this Agreement shall be decided
by the Commission or its representative.   

(25) INDEMNIFICATION: To the extent allowed or imposed by law, the Sponsor
shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the Commission, including its members and 
Department employees, from any claim or liability whether based on a claim for damages 
to real or personal property or to a person for any matter relating to or arising out of the 
Sponsor's wrongful or negligent performance of its obligations under this Agreement.  

(26) INSURANCE:

(A) The Sponsor is required or will require any contractor procured by
the Sponsor to work under this Agreement: 

1. To obtain a no cost permit from the Commission’s district
engineer prior to working on the Commission’s right-of-way, which shall be signed by an 
authorized contractor representative (a permit from the Commission’s district engineer 
will not be required for work outside of the Commission’s right-of-way); and  

2. To carry commercial general liability insurance and
commercial automobile liability insurance from a company authorized to issue insurance 
in Missouri, and to name the Commission, and MoDOT and its employees, as additional 

VI.C.13



insureds in amounts sufficient to cover the sovereign immunity limits for Missouri public 
entities ($600,000 per claimant and $4,000,000 per occurrence) as calculated by the 
Missouri Department of Insurance, Financial Institutions and Professional Registration, 
and published annually in the Missouri Register pursuant to section 537.610 RSMo.  

(B) In no event shall the language of this Agreement constitute or be
construed as a waiver or limitation for either party’s rights or defenses with regard to each 
party’s applicable sovereign, governmental, or official immunities and protections as 
provided by federal and state constitution or law. 

(27) HOLD HARMLESS: The Sponsor shall hold the Commission harmless from
any and all claims for liens of labor, services or materials furnished to the Sponsor in 
connection with the performance of its obligations under this Agreement. Certification 
statements from construction contractors must be provided to ensure all workers, material 
suppliers, etc., have been paid. 

(28) NOTIFICATION OF CHANGE: The Sponsor shall immediately notify the
Commission of any changes in conditions or law which may significantly affect its ability 
to perform the project in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. Any notice or 
other communication required or permitted to be given hereunder shall be in writing and 
shall be deemed given three (3) days after delivery by United States mail, regular mail 
postage prepaid, or upon receipt by personal, facsimile or electronic mail (email) delivery, 
addressed as follows:   

Commission:  Kyle LePage 
Administrator of Aviation 
Missouri Department of Transportation 
P.O. Box 270 
Jefferson City, MO  65102 
(573) 526-5571
(573) 526-4709 FAX
email:  kyle.lepage@modot.mo.gov

Sponsor: John Butz 
City Administrator 
City of Rolla 
P.O. Box 979 
901 N Elm 
Rolla, MO 65402 
(573) 526-6948
(573) 426-6947
email: jbutz@rollacity.org

or to such other place as the parties may designate in accordance with this Agreement. 
To be valid, facsimile or email delivery shall be followed by delivery of the original 
document, or a clear and legible copy thereof, within three (3) business days of the date 

VI.C.14



of the facsimile or email transmission of the document. 

(29) DURATION OF GRANT OBLIGATIONS: Grant obligations are effective for
the useful life of any facilities/equipment installed with grant funds, but in any event not to 
exceed twenty (20) years. There shall be no limit on the duration of the assurance against 
exclusive rights or terms, conditions and assurances with respect to real property 
acquired with federal funds. This paragraph equally applies to a private sponsor. 
However, in the case of a private sponsor, the useful life for improvements shall not be 
less than ten (10) years. 

(A) The financial assistance provided hereunder constitutes a grant to
the Sponsor. Neither the Commission nor the FAA will have title to the improvements 
covered by this Agreement, as title to same shall vest in the Sponsor.   

(B) For the grant duration period, the Sponsor becomes obligated, upon
any sale or disposition of the airport or discontinuation of operation of the airport to 
immediately repay, in full, the grant proceeds or proportionate amount thereof based upon 
the number of years remaining in the original obligation to the Commission. The 
Commission and the Sponsor hereby agree that during said period, the property and 
improvements which constitute the subject airport are subject to sale, if necessary, for the 
recovery of the federal pro rata share of improvement costs should this Agreement be 
terminated by a breach of contract on the part of the Sponsor or should the 
aforementioned obligations not be met. 

(C) In this Section, the term "any sale or disposition of the airport" shall
mean any sale or disposition of the airport: 1. for a use inconsistent with the purpose for 
which the Commission's share was originally granted pursuant to this Agreement; or 2. 
for a use consistent with such purposes wherein the transferee in the sale or disposition 
does not enter into an assignment and assumption Agreement with the Sponsor with 
respect to the Sponsor's obligation under the instrument so that the transferee becomes 
obligated thereunder as if the transferee had been the original owner thereof. 

(30) AMENDMENTS: Any change in this Agreement, whether by modification or
supplementation, must be accomplished by a formal contract amendment signed and 
approved by the duly authorized representative of the Sponsor and the Commission. 

(31) PROFESSIONAL SERVICES BY COMPETITIVE PROPOSALS:  Contracts
for professional services are to be procured by competitive proposals per federal 
procurement requirements (49 CFR §18.36). Requests for proposals/qualifications are to 
be publicly announced for services expected to cost more than one hundred thousand 
dollars ($100,000) in the aggregate. Small purchase procedures (telephone solicitations 
or direct mail) may be used for services costing one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000) 
or less. All professional services contracts are subject to review and acceptance by the 
Commission prior to execution by the Sponsor to ensure funding eligibility. 

(32) ASSIGNMENT: The Sponsor shall not assign, transfer, or delegate any

VI.C.15



interest in this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Commission. 

(33) BANKRUPTCY: Upon filing for any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding by
or against the Sponsor, whether voluntarily, or upon the appointment of a receiver, 
trustee, or assignee, for the benefit of creditors, the Commission reserves the right and 
sole discretion to either cancel this Agreement or affirm this Agreement and hold the 
Sponsor responsible for damages. 

(34) COMMISSION REPRESENTATIVE: The Commission's assistant chief
engineer is designated as the Commission's representative for the purpose of 
administering the provisions of this Agreement. The Commission’s representative may 
designate by written notice other persons having the authority to act on behalf of the 
Commission in furtherance of the performance of this Agreement. 

(35) FEDERAL FUNDING ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY ACT
(FFATA) OF 2006: The Sponsor shall comply with all reporting requirements of the 
FFATA (Public Law 109-282, as amended by section 6202(a) of Public Law 110-252). 
This Agreement is subject to the award terms within 2 CFR Part 170. 

(36) BAN ON TEXTING WHILE DRIVING: In accordance with Executive Order
13513, Federal Leadership on Reducing Text Messaging While Driving, October 1, 2009, 
and DOT Order 3902.10, Text Messaging While Driving, December 30, 2009, the 
Sponsor is encouraged to: 

(A) Adopt and enforce workplace safety policies to decrease crashes
caused by distracted drivers including policies to ban text messaging while driving when 
performing any work for, or on behalf of, the Federal government, including work relating 
to a grant or subgrant. 

(B) Conduct workplace safety initiatives in a manner commensurate with
the size of the business, such as: 

1. Establishment of new rules and programs or re-evaluation of
existing programs to prohibit text messaging while driving; and 

2. Education, awareness, and other outreach to employees
about the safety risks associated with texting while driving. 

(37) TRAFFICKING IN PERSONS:

(A) POSTING OF CONTACT INFORMATION: The Sponsor must post
the contact information of the national human trafficking hotline (including options to reach 
out to the hotline such as through phone, text, or TTY) in all public airport restrooms. 

(B) PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO A RECIPIENT THAT IS A PRIVATE
ENTITY: The Sponsor recipient, sponsor’s employees, subrecipients under this Grant, and 

VI.C.16



subrecipients’ employees may not: 

1. Engage in severe forms of trafficking in persons during the
period of time that the Grant and applicable conditions are in effect; 

2. Procure a commercial sex act during the period of time that
the Grant and applicable conditions are in effect; or 

3. Use forced labor in the performance of the Grant or any
subgrants under this Grant. 

(C) The FAA and the Commission may unilaterally terminate this Grant,
without penalty, if the Sponsor that is a private entity: 

1. Is determined to have violated a prohibition in subparagraph
(A) of this Grant Condition; or

2. Has an employee who is determined by the agency official
authorized to terminate the Grant to have violated a prohibition in subparagraph (A) of 
this Grant Condition through conduct that is either: 

A. Associated with performance under this Grant; or

B. Imputed to Sponsor or the subrecipient using the
standards and due process for imputing the conduct of an individual to an organization 
that are provided in 2 CFR Part 180, “OMB Guidelines to Agencies on Governmentwide 
Debarment and Suspension (Nonprocurement),” as implemented by our agency at 2 CFR 
Part 1200. 

(D) PROVISION APPLICABLE TO A RECIPIENT OTHER THAN A
PRIVATE ENTITY: FAA and the Commission may unilaterally terminate this Grant, without 
penalty, if a subrecipient that is a private entity: 

1. Is determined to have violated an applicable prohibition in
subparagraph (A) of this Grant Condition; or 

2. Has an employee who is determined by the Commission to
have violated an applicable prohibition in subparagraph (A) of this Grant Condition through 
conduct that is either: 

A. Associated with performance under this Grant; or

B. Imputed to the subrecipient using the standards and
due process for imputing the conduct of an individual to an organization that are provided 
in 2 CFR Part 180, “OMB Guidelines to Agencies on Governmentwide Debarment and 
Suspension (Nonprocurement),” as implemented by our agency at 2 CFR Part 1200. 

VI.C.17



(E) PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO ANY RECIPIENT:

1. Sponsor must inform the Commission immediately of any
information Sponsor received from any source alleging a violation of a prohibition in 
paragraph (A) of this Grant Condition. 

2. FAA and the Commission’s right to terminate unilaterally that
is described in subparagraph (A) or (B) of this Grant Condition: 

A. Implements section 106(g) of the Trafficking Victims
Protection Act of 2000 (TVPA), as amended [22 USC §7104(g)], and 

B. Is in addition to all other remedies for noncompliance
that are available to us under this Grant. 

3. Sponsor must include the requirements of subparagraph (A) of this
Grant Condition in any subgrant made to a private entity. 

(F) DEFINITIONS: For purposes of this Grant Condition:

1. “Employee” means either:

A. An individual employed by Sponsor or a subrecipient
who is engaged in the performance of the project or program under this Grant; or 

B. Another person engaged in the performance of the
project or program under this Grant and not compensated by Sponsor including, but not 
limited to, a volunteer or individual whose services are contributed by a third party as an 
in-kind contribution toward cost sharing or matching requirements. 

2. “Force labor” means labor obtained by any of the following
methods: the recruitment, harboring, transportation, provision, or obtaining of a person 
for labor or services, through the use of force, fraud, or coercion for the purpose of 
subjection to involuntary servitude, peonage, debt bondage, or slavery. 

3. “Private entity”:

A. Means any entity other than a State, local government,
Indian tribe, or foreign public entity, as those terms are defined in 2 CFR §175.25. 

B. Includes:

I. A nonprofit organization, including any nonprofit
institute of higher education, hospital, or tribal organization other than one included in the 
definition of Indian tribe at 2 CFR §175.25(b). 

VI.C.18



II. A for-profit organization.

4. “Severe forms of trafficking in persons,” “commercial sex act,”
and “coercion” have the meanings given at section 103 of the TVPA, as amended (22 
USC §7102). 

(38) SUSPENSION OR DEBARMENT: Sponsors entering into "covered
transactions", as defined by 2 CFR §180.200, must: 

(A) Verify the non-federal entity is eligible to participate in this Federal
program by: 

1. Checking the excluded parties list system (EPLS) as
maintained within the System for Award Management (SAM) to determine if non-federal 
entity is excluded or disqualified; or 

2. Collecting a certification statement from the non-federal entity
attesting they are not excluded or disqualified from participating; or 

3. Adding a clause or condition to covered transactions attesting
individual or firm are not excluded or disqualified from participating; and 

(B) Require prime contractors to comply with 2 CFR §180.330 when
entering into lower-tier transactions (e.g., subcontracts). 

(39) SAM REGISTRATION AND UNIQUE ENTITY IDENTIFIER:

(A) Requirement for SAM: Unless the Sponsor is exempted from this
requirement under 2 CFR 25.110, the Sponsor must maintain the currency of its 
information in SAM until the Commission submits the final financial report required under 
this grant, or receives the final payment, whichever is later. This requires that the 
Commission review and update, and will require the Sponsor to review and update, the 
information at least annually after the initial registration and more frequently if required by 
changes in information or another award term. Additional information about registration 
procedures may be found at the SAM website (currently at http://www.sam.gov).  

(B) Unique Entity Identifier (UEI) means a twelve (12) character alpha-
numeric value used to identify a specific commercial, nonprofit or governmental entity. A 
UEI may be obtained from SAM.gov at https://sam.gov/SAM/pages/public/index.jsf.  

(40) FINANCIAL REPORTING AND PAYMENT REQUIREMENTS: The
Sponsor will comply with all federal financial reporting requirements and payment 
requirements, including submittal of timely and accurate reports.  

(41) EMPLOYEE PROTECTION FROM REPRISALS:

VI.C.19



(A) Prohibition of Reprisals: In accordance with 41 USC §4712, an
employee of the Sponsor, contractor, or subcontractor may not be discharged, demoted, 
or otherwise discriminated against as a reprisal for disclosing to a person or body, 
described in subparagraph (B) of this paragraph of this Agreement, information that the 
employee reasonably believes is evidence of: 

1. Gross mismanagement of a federal grant;

2. Gross waste of federal funds;

3. An abuse of authority relating to implementation or use of
federal funds; 

4. A substantial and specific danger to public health or safety; or

5. A violation of law, rule, or regulation related to a federal grant.

(B) PERSONS AND BODIES COVERED: The persons and bodies to
which a disclosure by an employee is covered are as follows: 

1. A member of Congress or a representative of a committee of
Congress; 

2. An Inspector General;

3. The Government Accountability Office;

4. A federal office or employee responsible for oversight or
management at the relevant agency; 

5. A court or grand jury;

6. A management official of the grantee or subgrantee; or

7. A federal or state regulatory enforcement agency.

(C) SUBMISSION OF COMPLAINT: A person who believes that they
have been subjected to a reprisal prohibited by subparagraph (A) of this paragraph of this 
Agreement may submit a complaint regarding the reprisal to the Office of Inspector 
General for the USDOT. 

(D) TIME LIMITATION FOR SUBMITTAL OF A COMPLAINT: A
complaint may not be brought under this subsection more than three (3) years after the 
date on which the alleged reprisal took place.  

(E) REQUIRED ACTIONS OF THE INSPECTOR GENERAL: Actions,

VI.C.20



limitations, and exceptions of the Inspector General’s office are established under 41 USC 
§4712(b).

(F) ASSUMPTION OF RIGHTS TO CIVIL REMEDY: Upon receipt of an
explanation of a decision not to conduct or continue an investigation by the Office of 
Inspector General, the person submitting a complaint assumes the right to a civil remedy 
under 41 USC §4712(c). 

(42) AIRPORT LAYOUT PLAN: All improvements must be consistent with a
current and approved Airport Layout Plan (ALP). The Sponsor shall update and keep the 
ALP drawings and corresponding narrative report current with regard to FAA standards 
and physical or operational changes at the airport.  

(A) ALP approval shall be governed by FAA Order 5100.38, entitled
“Airport Improvement Program Handbook.” 

(B) If ALP updates are required as a result of this project, the Sponsor
understands and agrees to update the ALP to reflect the construction to standards 
satisfactory to the Commission and submit it in final form to the Commission. It is further 
mutually agreed that the reasonable cost of developing said ALP Map is an allowable 
cost within the scope of this project. Airport Sponsor Grant Assurance 29 further 
addresses the Sponsor’s statutory obligations to maintain an ALP in accordance with 49 
USC §47107(a)(16).  

(C) The Sponsor has made available to (or will make available to) and
has provided (or will provide) upon request to the metropolitan planning organization, if 
any, in the area in which the Airport is located, a copy of the proposed ALP or ALP 
amendment to depict the project and a copy of any airport master plan in which the project 
is described or depicted.   

(43) AIRPORT PROPERTY MAP: The Sponsor shall develop (or update), as a
part of the ALP, a drawing which indicates how various tracts/parcels of land within the 
airport’s boundaries were acquired (i.e., federal funds, surplus property, local funds only, 
etc.). Easement interests in areas outside the fee property line shall also be included. A 
screened reproducible of the Airport Layout Drawing may be used as the base for the 
property map.  

(44) ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT EVALUATION: The Sponsor shall evaluate
the potential environmental impact of this project per the current version of FAA Order 
5050.4, entitled “National Environmental Policy Act Implementing Instructions for Airport 
Actions.” Evaluation must include coordination with all resource agencies that have 
jurisdiction over areas of potential environmental impact and a recommended finding such 
as categorical exclusion, no significant impact, level of impact and proposed mitigation, 
etc. 

(45) EXHIBIT “A” PROPERTY MAP: The Exhibit “A” Property Map accepted by

VI.C.21



the Commission on November 7, 2019, is incorporated herein by reference.   

(46) SOLID WASTE RECYCLING PLAN: The Sponsor certifies that it has a solid
waste recycling plan as part of an existing Airport Master Plan, as prescribed by 49 USC 
§47106(a)(6).

(47) RUNWAY PROTECTION ZONE: The Sponsor agrees to take the following
actions to maintain and/or acquire a property interest, satisfactory to the Commission and 
the FAA, in the Runway Protection Zones: 

(A) EXISTING FEE TITLE INTEREST IN THE RUNWAY PROTECTION
ZONE: The Sponsor agrees to prevent the erection or creation of any structure, place of 
public assembly or other use in the Runway Protection Zone, as depicted on the Exhibit 
“A” Property Map and the approved ALP, except for NAVAIDS that are fixed by their 
functional purposes or any other structure permitted by the Commission and the FAA. 
The Sponsor further agrees that any existing structures or uses within the Runway 
Protection Zone will be cleared or discontinued by the Sponsor unless approved by the 
Commission and the FAA.   

(B) EXISTING EASEMENT INTEREST IN THE RUNWAY
PROTECTION ZONE: The Sponsor agrees to take any and all steps necessary to ensure 
that the owner of the land within the designated Runway Protection Zone will not build 
any structure in the Runway Protection Zone that is an airport hazard or which might 
create glare or misleading lights or lead to the construction of residences, fuel handling 
and storage facilities, smoke generating activities, or places of public assembly, such as 
churches, schools, office buildings, shopping centers, and stadiums.   

(C) INTEREST IN THE RUNWAY PROTECTION ZONE: The Sponsor agrees that
it will make every effort to acquire fee title or easement in the Runway
Protection Zones for runways that presently are not under its control within five
(5) years of this grant agreement. The Sponsor further agrees to prevent the
erection or creation of any structure or place of public assembly in the Runway
Protection Zone, except for NAVAIDS that are fixed by their functional
purposes, or any other structure approved by the Commission and the FAA.
The Sponsor further agrees that any existing structures or uses within the
Runway Protection Zone will be cleared or discontinued by the Sponsor unless
approved by the Commission and the FAA.

(48) ENGINEER’S DESIGN REPORT: Prior to development of the plans and
specifications, the Sponsor shall provide an engineer’s report setting forth the general 
analysis and explanation of reasons for design choices. Said report shall include an 
itemized cost estimate, design computations, reasons for selections and modifications, 
comparison of alternatives, life cycle cost analysis, geotechnical report and any other 
elements that support the engineer’s final plans and specifications.  

(49) GEOMETRIC DESIGN CRITERIA: The Sponsor shall use the geometric

VI.C.22



design criteria promulgated by the FAA in the AC series and in FAA Orders. The Sponsor 
may request and receive approval for adaptation of said criteria where the FAA and the 
Commission concur that such adaptation is appropriate considering safety, economy and 
efficiency of operation. 

(50) PLANS, SPECIFICATIONS AND ESTIMATES: The plans and construction
specifications for this project shall be those promulgated by the FAA in the AC series and 
in FAA Orders.  

(A) The plans shall include a safety plan sheet to identify work areas,
haul routes, staging areas, restricted areas, construction phasing, shutdown schedule 
etc., and to specify the requirements to ensure safety during construction.  

(B) The Sponsor shall submit all plans, specifications and estimates to
the Commission for review and acceptance prior to advertising for bids for construction. 
The Commission and the Sponsor agree that the Commission approval of the Sponsor’s 
Plans and Specifications is based primarily upon the Sponsor’s certification to carry out 
the project in accordance with policies, standards, and specifications approved by the 
FAA.  The Sponsor understands that: 

(C) The Sponsor’s certification does not relieve the Sponsor of the
requirement to obtain prior Commission and FAA approval for modifications to any AIP or 
supplemental appropriation standards or to notify the Commission of any limitations to 
competition within the project; 

(D) The Commission’s acceptance of a Sponsor’s certification does not
limit the Commission from reviewing appropriate project documentation for the purpose 
of validating the certification statements; and 

(E) If the Commission determines that the Sponsor has not complied
with its certification statements, the Commission will review the associated project costs 
to determine whether such costs are allowable under AIP or supplemental appropriation. 

(51) CONSTRUCTION OBSERVATION/INSPECTION REQUIREMENTS: In
conjunction with submittal of the construction bid tabulation, the Sponsor shall provide a 
construction observation/inspection program setting forth a format for accomplishment of 
resident observation, construction inspection and overall quality assurance.  

(52) CONSTRUCTION PROGRESS AND INSPECTION REPORTS: The
Sponsor shall provide and maintain adequate, competent and qualified engineering 
supervision and construction inspection at the project site during all stages of the work to 
ensure that the completed work conforms with the project plans and specifications. 
Project oversight by the Commission’s project manager or other personnel does not 
relieve the Sponsor of this responsibility. 

(A) The Sponsor shall require the resident project representative to keep

VI.C.23



daily construction records and shall submit to the Commission a weekly construction 
progress and inspection report on the FAA Form 5370-1 (“Construction Project and 
Inspection Report”), completed by the resident project representative.  A weekly summary 
of tests completed shall be included. 

(B) Prior to final acceptance, the Sponsor shall provide to the
Commission a testing summary report bearing the engineer’s seal and including a 
certification from the engineer that the completed project is in compliance with the plans 
and specifications. 

(53) WAGE LAWS: The Sponsor and its contractors and subcontractors shall
pay the prevailing hourly rate of wages for each craft or type of worker required to execute 
this project work as determined by the Department of Labor and Industrial Relations of 
Missouri, and they shall further comply in every respect with the minimum wage laws of 
Missouri and the United States. Federal wage rates under the Davis-Bacon or other 
federal acts apply to and govern this Agreement also for such work which is performed at 
the jobsite, in accord with 29 CFR Part 5.  Thus, this Agreement is subject to the "Contract 
Work Hours and Safety Standards Act”, as amended (40 USC §327, et seq.), and its 
implementing regulations. The Sponsor shall take the acts which may be required to fully 
inform itself of the terms of, and to comply with, state and federal laws. 

(54) COMPETITIVE SELECTION OF CONTRACTOR: Construction that is to be
accomplished by contract is to be competitively bid in accordance with federal 
procurement requirements, located at 49 CFR Part 18.  Bid notices should be published 
in a qualified (local or area) newspaper or other advertisement publication located in the 
same county as the airport project as a minimum. 

(55) REVIEW OF BIDS AND CONTRACT AWARD: The Commission shall
review all contractors’ bids and approve the selection of the apparent successful bidder 
prior to the Sponsor awarding the construction contract.  

(56) NOTICE TO PROCEED: After the Commission receives copies of the
executed construction contract between the Sponsor and the contractor, the performance 
and payment bonds and any other documentation as required by this Agreement, the 
Commission will authorize the Sponsor to issue a notice to proceed with construction.   

(A) Notice to proceed shall not be issued until the Sponsor has provided
satisfactory evidence of acceptable title to the land on which construction is to be 
performed. Ownership status of existing airport property as well as any land or easements 
acquired under this project must be included in a Certificate of Title tied to a current Exhibit 
“A” property map. 

(B) The Sponsor shall issue a notice to the contractor within ten (10)
days of authorization by the Commission, unless otherwise approved by the Commission. 

(C) Any construction work performed prior to the Sponsor’s issuance of

VI.C.24



a Notice to Proceed shall not be eligible for funding participation. 

(57) DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISES (DBEs)-
CONSTRUCTION: The Sponsor shall notify prospective bidders that DBEs will be 
afforded full and affirmative opportunity to submit bids in response to the invitation and 
will not be discriminated against on grounds of race, color, sex, or national origin in 
consideration for an award.  

(A) The goal for this project to be awarded to DBE firms shall be
established by the Commission based on the engineer’s construction cost estimate 
included in the design report. The goal will be a percentage of the federal portion of the 
contract costs less the amount expended for land, easements, the Sponsor’s in-house 
administration, force account work and any noncontractual costs. Failure to meet the DBE 
goal can render a bid proposal nonresponsive at the Commission’s discretion. 

(B) The Sponsor shall conduct field reviews and interviews with workers
to ensure that the portion of the work identified in the construction contract to be 
performed by DBE firms is so performed. Results of these interviews shall be submitted 
to the Commission with the weekly construction progress reports. 

(58) LABOR STANDARDS INTERVIEWS: The Sponsor shall conduct periodic
random interviews with the workers to assure that they are receiving the established 
prevailing wages. Results of these interviews shall be submitted to the Commission with 
the weekly construction progress reports. 

(59) AIR AND WATER QUALITY: The Sponsor is required to comply with all
applicable air and water quality standards for the project. If the Sponsor fails to comply 
with this requirement, the Commission may suspend, cancel, or terminate this 
Agreement.  

(60) FILING NOTICE OF LANDING AREA PROPOSAL: When a project
involving changes to the runway will be implemented at an airport, the Sponsor must 
submit FAA Form 7480-1 (“Notice of Landing Area Proposal”) to the FAA not less than 
one hundred twenty (120) days prior to commencement of any construction or alteration. 
A copy of the form as filed with the FAA and the FAA airspace determination letter must 
be provided to the Commission. This form must be submitted for any projects that involve 
the widening, lengthening or reconstruction of an existing runway or construction of a new 
runway.  When the funded project is strictly a master plan/site selection, this form will be 
submitted for the final three (3) proposed sites prior to development of the ALP. 

(61) FILING NOTICE OF PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION OR ALTERATION:
When a development project that does not involve changes to the runway will be 
implemented at an airport, the Sponsor must submit FAA Form 7460-1 (“Notice of 
Proposed Construction of Alteration”) to the FAA not less than one hundred twenty (120) 
days prior to commencement of any construction or alteration. A copy of the form as filed 
with the FAA and the FAA airspace determination letter must be provided to the 

VI.C.25



Commission. This form must be submitted for construction of any permanent structures 
on the airport, temporary structures over twenty feet (20’) in height or use of construction 
equipment over twenty feet (20’) tall.  It is not necessary for routine construction projects 
unless they include above ground installations.   

(62) CHANGE ORDERS/SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENTS: All change
orders/supplemental agreements must be submitted to the Commission for approval prior 
to implementation to ensure funding eligibility. Requests for additional work for items not 
included in the original bid must be accompanied by a cost analysis to substantiate the 
proposed costs. 

(63) RESPONSIBILITY FOR PROJECT SAFETY: During the full term of the
project, the Sponsor shall be responsible for the installation of any signs, markers, or 
other devices required for the safety of the public. All markers or devices required shall 
conform with all applicable FAA regulations or specifications.  

(A) The Sponsor shall ensure that a safety plan is included in the
contract documents and that the Contractor complies with the safety plan during 
construction.  

(B) It is also the responsibility of the Sponsor to issue, through the
applicable FAA Flight Service Station, any and all Notices to Airmen that may be required. 
Copies of notices shall also be sent to the Commission as soon as they are filed with the 
FAA.  

(64) RECORD DRAWINGS: The Sponsor shall provide one (1) set of digital as-
built construction plans and one (1) set of digital and one (1) paper set of the updated 
ALP with a narrative report to the Commission upon project completion. The Sponsor 
understands and agrees to update the ALP to reflect the construction to standards 
satisfactory to the Commission and submit it in final form to the Commission. It is further 
mutually agreed that the reasonable cost of developing said ALP Map is an allowable 
cost within the scope of this project. The Commission will forward one (1) digital set of the 
approved updated ALP to the FAA Central Region office.  

(65) PROHIBITED TELECOMMUNICATIONS: The Sponsor agrees to comply
with mandatory standards and policies relating to use and procurement of certain 
telecommunications and video surveillance services or equipment in compliance with the 
National Defense Authorization Act [Public Law 115-232 § 889(f)(1)] and 2 CFR § 
200.216. 

(66) BUY AMERICAN: Unless otherwise approved in advance by the FAA, in
accordance with 49 U.S.C. § 50101, the State and Sponsor will not acquire or permit any 
contractor or subcontractor to acquire any steel or manufactured goods produced outside 
the United States to be used for any project for which funds are provided under this Grant. 
The State and Sponsor will include a provision implementing Buy American in every 
contract. 

VI.C.26



(67) BUILD AMERICA, BUY AMERICA: The Sponsor must comply with the
requirements under the Build America, Buy America Act (Public Law 117-58). 

(68) SPECIAL CONDITIONS: The following special conditions are hereby made
part of this Agreement: 

(A) AIRPORT LAYOUT PLAN: The Sponsor understands and agrees to
update the Airport Layout Plan to reflect the construction to standards satisfactory to the 
FAA and submit it in final form to the Commission or the FAA, as described by 49 § 
47107(a)(16). It is further mutually agreed that the reasonable cost of developing said 
Airport Layout Plan Map is an allowable cost within the scope of a project funded under 
this Grant Agreement, if applicable. Airport Sponsors Grant Assurance 29 further 
addresses the Sponsor’s statutory obligations to maintain an airport layout plan in 
accordance with 49 U.S.C. § 47107(a)(16).  

(B) LIGHTING: The Sponsor must operate and maintain the lighting
system during the useful life of the system in accordance with applicable FAA standards. 

(C) INSTRUMENT LANDING SYSTEM AND ASSOCIATED
EQUIPMENT IN PROJECT: The Sponsor agrees: 

1. Prior to commissioning, to assure the equipment meets the
FAA’s standards; and 

2. To remove, relocate, lower, mark, or light each obstruction to
obtain a clear approach as indicated in the 14 CFR Part 77 aeronautical survey. 

(D) MASTER PLAN COORDINATION: The Sponsor agrees to
coordinate this master planning study with metropolitan planning organizations, other 
local planning agencies, and with the State Airport System Plan prepared by the State’s 
Department of Transportation and consider any pertinent information, data, projections, 
and forecasts which are currently available or as will become available. The State and 
Sponsor agree to consider any State Clearinghouse comments and to furnish a copy of 
the final report to the State’s Department of Transportation. 

(E) AIRPORT LAYOUT PLAN COORDINATION: The Sponsor has
made available to (or will make available to) and has provided (or will provide) upon 
request to the metropolitan planning organization, if any, in the area in which the airport 
is located, a copy of the proposed airport layout plan (ALP) or ALP amendment to depict 
the project and a copy of any airport master plan in which the project is described or 
depicted. 

(F) PAVEMENT MAINTENANCE MANAGEMENT PROGRAM: The
Sponsor agrees to implement an effective airport pavement maintenance management 
program as required by Airport Sponsors Grant Assurance 11, Pavement Preventive 

VI.C.27



Maintenance–Management, which is codified at 49 U.S.C. § 47105(e). The Sponsor 
agrees that it will use the program for the useful life of any pavement constructed, 
reconstructed, rehabilitated, or repaired with Federal financial assistance at the airport. 
The Sponsor further agrees that the program will: 

1. Follow the current version of FAA Advisory Circular
150/5380–6, "Guidelines and Procedures for Maintenance of Airport Pavements," for 
specific guidelines and procedures for maintaining airport pavements, establishing an 
effective maintenance program, specific types of distress and its probable cause, 
inspection guidelines, and recommended methods of repair; 

2. Detail the procedures to be followed to assure that proper
pavement maintenance, both preventive and repair, is performed; 

3. Include a Pavement Inventory, Inspection Schedule, Record
Keeping, Information Retrieval, and Reference, meeting the following requirements: 

A. Pavement Inventory. The following must be depicted in
an appropriate form and level of detail: 

(IX) Location of all runways, taxiways, and aprons;

I. Dimensions;

II. Type of pavement; and

III. Year of construction or most recent major
reconstruction, rehabilitation, or repair. 

B. Inspection Schedule.

I. Detailed Inspection. A detailed inspection must
be performed at least once a year. If a history of recorded pavement deterioration is 
available, i.e., Pavement Condition Index (PCI) survey as set forth in the current version 
of Advisory Circular 150/5380–6, the frequency of inspections may be extended to three 
years. 

II. Drive-By Inspection. A drive-by inspection must
be performed a minimum of once per month to detect unexpected changes in the 
pavement condition. For drive-by inspections, the date of inspection and any maintenance 
performed must be recorded. 

C. Record Keeping. Complete information on the findings
of all detailed inspections and on the maintenance performed must be recorded and kept 
on file for a minimum of five years. The type of distress, location, and remedial action, 
scheduled or performed, must be documented. The minimum information is: 

VI.C.28



(IX) Inspection date;

(II) Location;

(III) Distress types; and

(IV) Maintenance scheduled or performed.

D. Information Retrieval System. The Sponsor must be
able to retrieve the information and records produced by the pavement survey to provide 
a report to the FAA as may be required. 

(G) PROJECT CONTAINING PAVING WORK IN EXCESS OF
$500,000: The Sponsor agrees to: 

1. Furnish a construction management program to the
Commission prior to the start of construction which details the measures and procedures 
to be used to comply with the quality control provisions of the construction contract, 
including, but not limited to, all quality control provisions and tests required by the Federal 
specifications. The program must include as a minimum: 

A. The name of the person representing the Sponsor who
has overall responsibility for contract administration for the project and the authority to 
take necessary actions to comply with the contract; 

B. Names of testing laboratories and consulting engineer
firms with quality control responsibilities on the project, together with a description of the 
services to be provided; 

C. Procedures for determining that the testing laboratories
meet the requirements of the ASTM International standards on laboratory evaluation 
referenced in the contract specifications (i.e., ASTM D 3666, ASTM C 1077); 

D. Qualifications of engineering supervision and
construction inspection personnel; 

E. A listing of all tests required by the contract
specifications, including the type and frequency of tests to be taken, the method of 
sampling, the applicable test standard, and the acceptance criteria or tolerances 
permitted for each type of test; and 

F. Procedures for ensuring that the tests are taken in
accordance with the program, that they are documented daily, and that the proper 
corrective actions, where necessary, are undertaken. 

VI.C.29



2. Submit at completion of the project, a final test and quality
assurance report documenting the summary results of all tests performed; highlighting 
those tests that indicated failure or that did not meet the applicable test standard. The 
report must include the pay reductions applied and the reasons for accepting any out-of-
tolerance material. Submit interim test and quality assurance reports when requested by 
the State or FAA. 

3. Failure to provide a complete report as described above or
failure to perform such tests, will, absent any compelling justification, result in a reduction 
in Federal participation for costs incurred in connection with construction of the applicable 
pavement. Such reduction will be at the discretion of the FAA and will be based on the 
type or types of required tests not performed or not documented and will be 
commensurate with the proportion of applicable pavement with respect to the total 
pavement constructed under the Grant Agreement. 

4. The Commission, at its discretion, reserves the right to
conduct independent tests and to reduce grant payments accordingly if such independent 
tests determine that Sponsor test results are inaccurate. 

(H) MAINTENANCE PROJECT LIFE: The Sponsor agrees that
pavement maintenance is limited to those aircraft pavements that are in sufficiently sound 
condition that they do not warrant more extensive work, such as reconstruction or 
overlays in the immediate or near future. The State and Sponsor further agree that Airport 
Improvement Program (AIP), AIG, or supplemental appropriation funding for the 
pavements maintained under this project will not be requested for more substantial type 
rehabilitation (more substantial than periodic maintenance) for a five (5) year period 
following the completion of this project unless the FAA determines that the rehabilitation 
or reconstruction is required for safety reasons. 

(I) PROTECTION OF RUNWAY PROTECTION ZONE - AIRPORT
PROPERTY: The Sponsor agrees to prevent the erection or creation of any structure, 
place of public assembly, or other use in the Runway Protection Zone, as depicted on the 
Exhibit “A”: Property Map, except for Navigational Aids (NAVAIDS) that are fixed by their 
functional purposes, or any other structure permitted by the FAA. The Sponsor further 
agrees that any existing structures or uses within the Runway Protection Zone will be 
cleared or discontinued by the Sponsor unless approved by the Commission. 

(J) PROTECTION OF RUNWAY PROTECTION ZONE – EASEMENT:
The Sponsor, under the easement, agree to take any and all steps necessary to ensure 
that the owner of the land within the designated Runway Protection Zone will not build 
any structure in the Runway Protection Zone that is an airport hazard or which might 
create glare or misleading lights or lead to the construction of residences, fuel handling 
and storage facilities, smoke generating activities, or places of public assembly, such as 
churches, schools, office buildings, shopping centers, and stadiums. 

VI.C.30



(K) PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS APPROVAL BASED UPON
CERTIFICATION: The Sponsor agrees that the Commission’s approval of the Sponsor’s 
Plans and Specification is based primarily upon the Sponsor’s certification to carry out the 
project in accordance with policies, standards, and specifications approved by the 
Commission. The Sponsor understands that: 

1. The Sponsor’s certification does not relieve the Sponsor of the
requirement to obtain prior Commission approval for modifications to published FAA 
airport development grant standards or to notify the Commission of any limitations to 
competition within the project; 

2. The Commission’s acceptance of Sponsor’s certification does
not limit the Commission from reviewing appropriate project documentation for the 
purpose of validating the certification statements; and 

3. If the Commission determines that the Sponsor has not
complied with its certification statements, the Commission will review the associated 
project costs to determine whether such costs are allowable under this Grant. 

(L) BUY AMERICAN EXECUTIVE ORDERS: The Sponsor agrees to
abide by applicable Executive Orders in effect at the time this Grant Agreement is 
executed, including Executive Order 14005, Ensuring the Future Is Made in All of America 
by All of America’s Workers. 

(M) Mothers’ Rooms: As a small, medium or large hub airport, the
sponsor certifies it is in compliance with 49 USC § 47107(w). 

(N) Usable Unit of Development: The FAA and the sponsor agree this
grant only funds a portion of the overall project. The FAA makes no commitment of 
funding beyond what is provided herein. In accepting this award, the airport Sponsor 
understands and agrees that the work described in this grant agreement must be 
incorporated into a safe, useful, and usable unit of development completed within a 
reasonable timeframe [49 USC § 47106(a)(4)]. This safe, useful, usable unit of 
development must be completed regardless of whether the sponsor receives any 
additional federal funding.  

(O) Duffy Plaintiff Special Term: Pursuant to the court’s preliminary
injunction order in State of California v. Duffy, 1:25-cv-00208-JJM-PAS (D.R.I.) (June 19, 
2025), DOT will not impose or enforce the challenged immigration enforcement condition* 
or any materially similar terms and conditions, to any grant funds awarded, directly or 
indirectly, to Plaintiff States or local government entities within those States (collectively 
referred to as “Plaintiff State Entities”), or otherwise rescind, withhold, terminate, or take 
other adverse action, absent specific statutory authority, based on the challenged 
immigration enforcement condition while DOT is subject to an injunction. DOT will not 
require Plaintiff State Entities to make any certification or other representation related to 
compliance with the challenged immigration enforcement condition nor will DOT construe 

VI.C.31



acceptance of funding from DOT as certification as to the challenged immigration 
enforcement condition. 

*The challenged immigration enforcement condition:
“[T]he Recipient will cooperate with Federal officials in the enforcement of Federal 
law, including cooperating with and not impeding U.S. Immigration and Customs 
Enforcement (ICE) and other Federal offices and components of the Department 
of Homeland Security in the enforcement of Federal immigration law.” 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 

VI.C.32



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have entered into and accepted this 
Agreement on the last date written below.  

Executed by Sponsor on ___________________________________ (date). 

Executed by Commission on ________________________________ (date). 

MISSOURI HIGHWAYS AND  
TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION  CITY OF ROLLA 

By: ____________________________ By: _____________________________ 

Title: _________________________ Title: ___________________________ 

Attest: Attest: 

__________________________  By: _____________________________ 
Secretary to the Commission 

Title: _________________________ 

Approved as to Form: 

____________________________ 
Commission Counsel 

Ordinance No. __________________ 

VI.C.33



CERTIFICATE OF SPONSOR'S ATTORNEY 

 I,       , acting as attorney for the Sponsor, do 
hereby certify that in my opinion, the Sponsor is empowered to enter into the foregoing 
grant Agreement under the laws of the State of Missouri.  Further, I have examined the 
foregoing grant Agreement, and the actions taken by said Sponsor and Sponsor's official 
representative have been duly authorized and the execution thereof is in all respects due 
and proper and in accordance with the laws of the said state and the Airport and Airway 
Improvement Act of 1982, as amended.  In addition, for grants involving projects to be 
carried out on property not owned by the Sponsor, there are no legal impediments that 
will prevent full performance by the Sponsor.  Further, it is my opinion that the said grant 
constitutes a legal and binding obligation of the Sponsor in accordance with the terms 
thereof. 

SPONSOR:  CITY OF ROLLA 

_______________________________ 
Name of Sponsor's Attorney (typed) 

_______________________________ 
Signature of Sponsor's Attorney 

Date ___________________________ 

VI.C.34



VI.D.1



VI.D.2



VI.D.3



VI.D.4



VI.D.5





CITY OF ROLLA 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 

DEPARTMENT HEAD: Roger Pankey 

ITEM/SUBJECT: Rate/Fee Increase Proposal 

BUDGET IMPACT: $260,000 (Rev) 

ACTION: Ordinance-First Reading 

DATE: October 6, 2025 

******************************************************************************* 

COMMENTARY: 

The costs of operations for Environmental Services have continued to rise significantly over the 
past few years. Expenses for trucks, repairs, fuel, manpower, and equipment (carts and dumpsters) 
have all increased dramatically. Tipping fees at the Phelps County Transfer Station will rise from 
$59.00 to $60.25 per ton, leading to an annual expenditure increase for disposal of refuse of 
approximately $25,000.00. 

Due to these rising operating costs and significant capital expenses, the Environmental Services 
Department has been operating with a deficit budget for the past couple of years. To maintain 
sufficient operations and reserves it is necessary to increase revenues this year. 

The FY2025-26 budget proposes the following adjustments: 

• A $1. 7 5/month increase from $17. 7 5 to $19 .50 for residential 90-gallon containers

• A $1.25/month increase from $14.75 to $16.00 for 35-gallon containers

• A 10% increase for commercial dumpsters and special pickups

A copy of the proposed changes and the accompanying ordinance are attached. The suggested 
effective date for these increases is January 1, 2026. 

Recommendation: First reading of the ordinance to amend Ch. 18 of City Code pertaining to trash 
service fees. 

ITEM 

VI.E.1



90-gallon:
35-gallon:
Bags for extras:
Bulk waste stickers:
Special Pickups

90-gallon cart:

I cubic-yard: 

2 cubic-yard: 

4 cubic-yard: 

6 cubic-yard: 

Current: 

$17. 75month 
$14. 75/month 
$1.00 each 
$5.00 each 
$30.00/minimum 

Residential Rates 

Commercial Rates 

Current (monthly): 

I/week - $17.75 

I/week - $50.00 
2/week - $100.00 
3/week - $150.00 
4/week - $200.00 
5/week - $250.00 
Extra - $28.00 

I/week - $78.00 
2/week- $157.00 
3/week - $235.00 
4/week - $314.00 
5/week - $392.00 
Extra - $35.00 

I/week - $132.00 
2/week - $264.00 
3/week - $396.00 
4/week - $529.00 
5/week - $661.00 
Extra - $47.00 

1/week - $188.00 
2/week - $375.00 
3/week - $563.00 
4/week - $750.00 
5/week - $938.00 
Extra - $58.50 

Proposed: 

$19.50/month 
$16.00/month 
No change 
No change 
$35.00/minimum 

Proposed (monthly): 

$19.50 

$55.00 
$110.00 
$165.00 
$220.00 
$275.00 
$30.00/empty 

$86.00 
$173.00 
$258.50 
$345.00 
$431.00 
$38.00/empty 

$145.00 
$290.00 
$435.50 
$582.00 
$727.00 
$52.00/empty 

$207.00 
$412.50 
$619.00 
$825.00 
$1,032.00 
$64.00/empty 

VI.E.2



Container swap fee: 

Daily Rental: 

Relocation Fee: 

$35.00 $38.00 (each time) 

Construction/Demolition Dumpsters 

Current: 

$6.00/day (Mon.-Fri.) 

$59.00 

Proposed: 

$7.00/day (Mon.•Fri.) 

$65.00 

Transport Fee: $3.00/mile $3.50/mile 
(This fee is charged when waste is required to be direct hauled to the landfill.) 

Roll-off Boxes: 

Pull Charge: $] 18.00 

Rear-load Dumpsters: 

4 cubic-yard: 

6 cubic-yard: 

Compactors: 

Pull Charge: 

$94.00/empty 

$125.00/empty 

$135.00 (single handling) 
$153.00 (double handling) 

$130.00 (Minimum of one pull/boxfmonthly.) 

$ I 03.00/empty 

$138.00/empty 

$148.50/empty 
$168.00/empty 

VI.E.3



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



CITY OF ROLLA 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 

DEPARTMENT:  John Butz, City Administrator  ACTION REQUESTED: Discussion/Motion 

ITEM/SUBJECT:  Ratification of The Centre’s Natatorium (indoor pool)-continued operation 

BUDGET APPROPRIATION:  $150,000 +/- DATE:  October 6, 2025 
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *  * ** * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *
COMMENTARY:

The FY2026 budget (approved) included a $400,000 transfer from the City’s General Fund to 
the Rec Center Fund intended for full operation of the Centre by the City through March 2026 (6 
months) as follows: 

$400,000 General Fund Support 
Less $50,000 Renderings/Feasibility/ Public Engagement 
Less $110,000 Fixed City Costs (i.e. property insurance, energy upgrades) 
$240,000 ($40,000/mo. operational support for 6 months) 

Since approving the FY 26 Budget the City and Phelps Health have formally engaged in 
discussions of the Hospital’s leasing and operating The Centre (excluding the 15,000 SF natatorium). 
Such an arrangement would leave sufficient funds to continue operation of the natatorium by the 
City for several months -- sufficient time to engage the Community in plans and options. The budget 
does not include any funds for major mechanical breakdowns/replacements beyond ongoing 
maintenance. 

Centre members are requesting some affirmation, even if just temporary, on the continued 
use of the indoor pool.  The uncertainty is also impacting some prospective members when 
considering joining the Centre.  

It is the recommendation of City Administration for Council to make a motion to continue support 
and operation of the natatorium at least through April 2026.  

VI.F.1



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



CITY OF ROLLA 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 

DEPARTMENT HEAD: Darin Pryor 

ACTION REQUESTED: Motion Bid Award 

ITEM/SUBJECT: Backhoe 

DATE:  10/06/2025  
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
COMMENTARY:

Staff is requesting to participate in the Sourcewell cooperative purchase of a 
Caterpillar 430 Backhoe. The existing backhoe is a 2011 Caterpillar 430 with 3800 
hours. We will surplus the existing backhoe through Purple Wave or other similar 
online auctions. 

The unit is a planned replacement in the Street Department.  The price for the unit is 
$152,645.00 and will be paid for out of existing revenues. 

Sourcewell Cooperative purchasing is “Procurement conducted by, or on behalf 
of, one or more Public Procurement Units” as defined by the American Bar 
Association Model Procurement Code for State and Local Governments. 

Recommendation: Motion to approve the purchase of a Caterpillar 430 backhoe from 
Fabick Cat for $152,645.00 using the Sourcewell program. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

Fund Title Budget Appropriation Item Budget Previous Allocations 

07/5-073.560.00 Equipment  $             200,000.00  $  160,000.00  $         -   

ITEM NO. ________________  
VII.A.1



Proposal 

                     QUOTE NUMBER |228596-02 
  Sep 25, 2025 

CATERPILLAR INC.  430-07HT
  PREPARED FOR 
   CITY OF ROLLA 

VII.A.2



"TO EVER SERVE OUR CUSTOMERS BETTER" 

PRICING INFORMATION 
Total List Price          $211,762.00 
Sourcewell Discount 011723-CAT of 22%        (46,588.00) 
Price after Sourcewell Discount      $165,174.00 

Dealer Cost 
Prep/Fuel/Filters/Freight/Oil Sample kits               5,760.00  
60 Month/3000 Hour Powertrain/Hydraulic/Tech Warranty   2,467.00 
Fabick Discount              (20,756.00)     
Price to Customer Delivered  $152,645.00 

EQUIPMENT PROTECTION PLAN 

Standard Warranty: 
12 Months, Unlimited Hours, Premier  For new 
machines and work tools/attachments the warranty 
period is 12-months/unlimited hours, starting from 
date of delivery to the first user. 

Extended Protection Plan: 430-60 MO/3000 HR POWERTRAIN + 
HYDRAULICS + TECH 

CUSTOMER VALUE AGREEMENT 

First Service Included 

VII.A.3



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



CITY OF ROLLA 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 

DEPARTMENT HEAD: Darin Pryor 

ACTION REQUESTED: Bid Awards (motion X 2) 

ITEM/SUBJECT:     Dump Truck and Bed 

DATE:   10/06/2025 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
COMMENTARY:

Staff is requesting to participate in the Sourcewell cooperative purchase of an 
International HV507 truck and a 16’ dump bed. The truck would be purchased from 
Rush Truck Centers of Missouri and the bed from Viking-Cives Midwest.  The 
existing unit is a 2015 Freightliner dump truck.  We will surplus the existing dump 
truck through Purple Wave or other online platform.   

The unit is a planned replacement in the Street Department.  The price for the truck is 
$132,918.92.  The price for the bed is $118,426.00 and both will be paid for out of 
existing revenues.  Total price for the truck and bed is $251,344.92. 

Sourcewell Cooperative purchasing is “Procurement conducted by, or on behalf 
of, one or more Public Procurement Units” as defined by the American Bar 
Association Model Procurement Code for State and Local Governments. 

Recommendation: Motion approve the following purchases using the Sourcewell 
program: 

An International HV507 truck from Rush Truck Centers of Missouri for $132,918.92. 

A 16’ dump bed to be provided and installed on the International truck from Viking-
Cives Midwest for $118,426.00. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

Fund Title Budget Appropriation Item Budget Previous Allocations 

07/5-073.561.00 Vehicles  $             350,000.00  $  250,000.00  $         -   

ITEM NO. VII.B.1  



VII.B.2



VII.B.3



VII.B.4



VII.B.5



VII.B.6



VII.B.7



VII.B.8



VII.B.9



VII.B.10

stephensd3
Rectangle



07/24/25

Lead Time

Customer Ship To

DateQuote #

07/24/25

Quote

NET 30

Terms

SCOTT

Sales RepCustomer PO

CITY OF ROLLA

ROLLA MO 65402

CITY OF ROLLA MCCUTCHEN

ROLLA MO 65401

Item Ordered Price Per Total PriceDescription UOM

*****email invoices***** 2303 MCCUTCHEN DRIVE

22956 Hwy 61

PO Box 295

Morley, MO 63767

Phone: 573-262-3545

Fax: 573-262-3369 173178

MORLEY, MO

VINFOBShip Via

P O BOX 979

78,325.001.00Sourcewell Contract # 062222-VCM
Customer member # (47718)
Item sold (SW-TK0100, SW-TK0554, SW-SP0105,
SW-SR0116, NJ2500)

Following based on City of Rolla Specifications.

SOURCEWELL EA 78,325.00

0.001.00MoDOT bumper hitch with 12" channel bumper
ends

MSRP1140 EA 0.00

0.001.00CYLINDER 2 1/2 X 10 SA3SK4029 EA 0.00

0.001.0016' Corten steel body - less hoist, load cover, LED
warning lights and installation:
- 36" side height
- 44" tailgate
- 1/4" AR450 one piece floor
- 12" dog house
- 1/4" Corten V-style long sills with drainage hole at
rear.
- 11" Corten bolt on asphalt lip
- (2) Pull out ladders
- Spreader lines routed to driver side rub rail.
- Body Painted Green

MSRP2130 EA 0.00

0.001.00Mailhot CS 140 Series hoist package for Viking
platform or tandem axle dump body.

MSRP2290 EA 0.00

0.001.00Aero 550 load cover with asphalt tarp for 15' bodyMSRP2320 EA 0.00

0.001.00Hydraulic system for (City of Rolla) - Certified
Power System which includes:
- Crankshaft driven Hydraulic pump
- Electronic hoist and plow joystick controls
- Freedom 2 spreader controller
- Valve/tank combo unit - mild steel
- DA Hoist
-SA Plow
- Electric prewet

MSRP3010 EA 0.00

0.001.00Snow and ice hydraulic install kit (includes hoses,
fittings and hardware)

MSRP3190 EA 0.00

VII.B.11



07/24/25

Lead Time

Customer Ship To

DateQuote #

07/24/25

Quote

NET 30

Terms

SCOTT

Sales RepCustomer PO

CITY OF ROLLA

ROLLA MO 65402

CITY OF ROLLA MCCUTCHEN

ROLLA MO 65401

Item Ordered Price Per Total PriceDescription UOM

*****email invoices***** 2303 MCCUTCHEN DRIVE

22956 Hwy 61

PO Box 295

Morley, MO 63767

Phone: 573-262-3545

Fax: 573-262-3369 173178

MORLEY, MO

VINFOBShip Via

P O BOX 979

0.001.00Whelen VCSYS1 municipal lighting packageMSRP5135 EA 0.00

0.001.00LED spreader lightMSRP5175 EA 0.00

0.001.00ABL 3800 Series LED plow lightMSRP5200 EA 0.00

0.001.00Premier 100NS 45-ton pintle hook with pintle plate,
gussets, and d-rings

MSRP6160 EA 0.00

0.001.00VCM supplied 7-wire pigtail - RV styleMSRP6115 EA 0.00

0.001.00Tandem axle install kit (includes miscellaneous
electrical components, hardware and labor)

MSRP9110 EA 0.00

0.001.00Mud flap kit (includes front anti-sails and rear
removable pin brackets)

MSRP9140 EA 0.00

0.001.00Dump body vibratorMSRP9370 EA 0.00

0.001.0018X18X24 stainless steel tool box (includes
stainless handle and brackets installed)

MSRP9150 EA 0.00

9,940.001.00MW36R11 Plow assembly with push frame,
A-frame, two-chain lift, deflector, Bull Dog Jack,
plow markers, MoDot Swivel and Carbide plow
blade.

MSRP1250 EA 9,940.00

25,428.001.0016' Viking-Cives VCM-C-16-82-50 201SS drag
chain spreader (ss floor)

MO18SCSPR134-MW EA 25,428.00

4,733.001.0016' galvanized steel spreader standMO18SCOPT122 EA 4,733.00

0.001.00Please select the desired option(s). Option pricing
will need to be added to total quote cost.

- 16' Viking-Cives VCM-A-16-82-54 201SS single
auger spreader w/tanks.
Deduct  ($1,360.00) IN LIEU OF CHAIN STYLE
SPREADER.

- Stainless Steel Shovel Holder
(ADD $161.00)
- Review Camera System includes 7" color monitor
mounted to dash, (2) camera's mounted in upper
rear corner post.
(ADD $1,752.00)
- Armour Seal truck frame.
(ADD $730.00)

OPTIONS EA 0.00

VII.B.12



07/24/25

Lead Time

Customer Ship To

DateQuote #

07/24/25

Quote

NET 30

Terms

SCOTT

Sales RepCustomer PO

CITY OF ROLLA

ROLLA MO 65402

CITY OF ROLLA MCCUTCHEN

ROLLA MO 65401

Item Ordered Price Per Total PriceDescription UOM

*****email invoices***** 2303 MCCUTCHEN DRIVE

22956 Hwy 61

PO Box 295

Morley, MO 63767

Phone: 573-262-3545

Fax: 573-262-3369 173178

MORLEY, MO

VINFOBShip Via

P O BOX 979

- Review Camera System includes 7" color monitor
mounted to dash, (2) camera's mounted in upper
rear corner post.
(ADD $1,752.00)
- Armour Seal truck frame.
(ADD $730.00)

0.001.00The price and terms on this quotation are not
subject to verbal changes or other agreements
unless approved in writing by the Home Office of
the Seller. All quotations and agreements are
contingent upon strikes, accidents, fires, availability
of material and all other causes beyond our control.
Prices are based on costs and conditions existing
on date of quotation and are subject to change by
the Seller before final acceptance. Typographical
and stenographic errors subject to corrections.
Purchaser agrees to accept either overage or
shortage not in excess of ten percent to be
charged pro-rata. Purchaser assumes liability for
patent and copyright infringement when goods are
mode to Purchaser's specifications. When
quotation specifies material to be furnished by the
purchaser, ample allowance must be made for
reasonable spoilage and material must be of
suitable quality to facilitate efficient production.
Conditions not specifically stated herein shall be
governed by the established trade customs. Terms
inconsistent with those stated herein which may
appear on Purchaser's formal order will not be
binding on the Seller. Unless otherwise stated,
Installation charges do not include modifications to
exhaust systems, cab protectors or bumpers.

NOTES EA 0.00

VII.B.13



Sub-Total

Memo:

Prepared By: sboyer@vikingcivesmidwest.com 118,426.00

0.000

0.00Taxes

118,426.00Total

Shipping

Customer must fill out the information below before the order can be processed.

Accepted by:_______________________________  Date:_____________  P.O.#:___________________

*Quoted price does not include any applicable taxes.
*Terms are Due Upon Receipt unless prior credit
*Terms for established accounts, NET 30 days
*Please note if chassis is furnished, it is as a convenience and terms are Net Due on Receipt of Chassis

Discount 0.00

VII.B.14



DEPARTMENT: 

DATE: 

SUBJECT: 

COMMENTARY: 

CITY OF ROLLA 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 

John D. Bi City Administrator ACTION REQUESTED: Motion 

October 6, 2025 BUDGET APPROPRIATION: $1,558,585 

A Motion to Award Health Insurance Excess Coverage 

Attached to this commentary is the renewal obtained on behalf of the City of Rolla by our benefit 
consultant/broker, Ollis, Akers, Amey (OAA). Effective October P1, the City made changes in Third 
Party Administrator (TPA) services (Consociate) and Pharmacy Benefit Management (PBM) services 
(Ventegra). Since these changes restructured the City health insurance plan design and required 
significant data sharing, data was not readily available to solicit catastrophic coverage quotes. 

Total medical costs incurred by the City's self-insured plan can range from $4.5 - 5.6M including this 
cost for re-insurance or excess coverage. Employees contribute 33% of all health insurance costs 
through premiums, deductibles, and co-insurance and the City of Rolla covers the remaining 67%. 

There are two (2) primary areas to consider when reviewing excess coverage: "Total Annual 
Premiums" and the "Annual Aggregate Attachment Point". The Total Annual Premiums are the fixed 
costs which represent premiums paid for reinsurance. The Annual Aggregate Attachment Point 
represents the expected liability in the claims set by the reinsurance canier based on past years' claims 
information. These totals combined represent the total estimated plan costs based on past trends. 
Effective October l, 2025, the fixed premium will be $1,558,585 and coupled with the Annual 
Aggregate Attachment Point represents a 10.5% increase over last year for the "Total Estimated self­
funded plan costs". 

Currently the City has a deductible for excess coverage of $100,000 per covered life before re­
insurance kicks in. OAA explored additional deductibles of $125,000 and $150,000 but the exposure 
(risk) to additional costs incurred by the City offset the premium savings. On average the City 
typically has 4 - 7 lives that exceeded the $100,000 deductible (hence triggering re-insurance). 

Due to the September 301b contract expiration date, City Administration had to renew with Sunlife 
effective 10/1/26. Next year OAA will solicit various options with the complete date from our new 
TP A/PBM program. 

Recommendation: Motion to ratify City Administration's renewal with Sunlife and maintain the 
current deductible of $100,000. 

ITEMNO. 

VII.C.1



September 15, 2025 

Renewal options 

To accept the renewal proposal, please do the following: 
• At the bottom of this page, select a renewal option and s(&n where Indicated. 

• Email, fax or mail this page lo me by September 1 

Policyholder name City Of Rona
Policyholder Address: PO BOX 979

2025 1n order to avoid a lapse in coverage, 

Situs State; 
Renewal Eff. Date 

Rolta, MO 65402 
MO 

October 1. 2025 

Cunent and renewal rate aummary 
Tier 
Single 
Fami"y 
Total 

Specific Stop-Loaa policy detalls and renewal options 
Plan threshold• 
lnd1Vtdual Specific deducbble 
Aggregating Specific deductible 
Annual m8Xlmum 
Lifetime maximum 
Claims basis 
Benefits covered 
Single 
Family 
Total monthly premium 
Renewal rate action as a % lnetease to current monthly premium 

Employees 
84 
87 
171 

Cunent 
$100,000 

None 
Unlimited 
Unlimited 

PAID 
Medical and Rx 

$294.11 
$676.66 

$83,574.68 

Aggregate Stop-Loaa poHcy detalla and renewal options 
Aggregate rates Cunent 
Aggregate Benefit Ma,omum $1,000,000 
Per employee per month rate $11 21 
Total monthly premium $1,916.91 
Renewal rate action as a� -inctease to aimint monthly ,,...,_ 

Aggregate threaholda and rates 
Claims basis 
Benefits covered 
Corridor 
Minimum Attachment Point % 
Single Aggregate daductlble factor 

Medical 
RxDNg 

Family Aggregate deductible fac tor 
Medical 
RxOrug 

Minimum Attachment Point 
E,tlmated monthly renewal liability 
Renewal rate action as a % ,ncrease 10 current monthly 
•ggiegate deductible factors 

Total eatlrnated annual plan costs 
Total costs 
Total annual premium 
Annual Aggregate Attachment Point 
Total eatlmated ulf.fundecl plan coats 
Renewal rate action as a % increase lo lolal estimated annual 
plan cost. 

!Select renewal optJon

Current 
Paid 

Medical& Rx 
125% 
90% 

$1,032.68 
$779 63 
$25305 

$2,891.50 
$2 182 95 
$708 55 

$304,475.06 
$3311,305.82 

Current 
$1,025,898.84 
4,059,667 44 

$5,085,568.28 

Account number 962854 
Renewal status: Open 
TPA Name; Consociate 
PPO Name: Aetna PPO 

Renewal option 1 
$100,000 

None 
Unlimited 
Unhmiled 

PAID 
Medical and Rx 

$449.99 
$1,035.29 

$127,869.39 
53,0% 

Renewal option 1 
$1,000.000 

$11.77 
$2,012.87 

5.0% 

Renewal option 1 
Paid 

Medical & Rx 
125% 
90% 

$1,032.68 
$779.63 
$253 05 

$2,891.50 
$2,182 95 
$708.55 

$304,475.08 
$338,305.62 

0 0% 

Renewal option 1 
$1,558 584.72 
4,059,667.44 

$5,618,252.16 
10 5% 

is 

Renewal option 2 
$125000 

None 
Unlimited 
Unlimited 

PAID 
Medical and Rx 

$399.99 
$920.26 

$113,681.78 
36 0¾, 

Renewal option 2 
S1,000,000 

$11 77 
$2,012.87 

5.0% 

Renewal option 2 
Paid 

Medical & Rx 
125% 
90% 

$1,068.22 
$81517 
$253.05 

$2,991.02 
$2,282.47 
$708.55 

$314,954.30 
$349,949.22 

34"4 

Renewal option 2 
$1,388 093.40 
4, 199.390.64 

$5,587,414.04 
9 9% 

Renewal option 3 
$150 000 

None 
Unlimited 
Unlimited 

PAIO 
Medical and Rx 

$344.11 
$791.69 

$97,782.27 
170¾ 

Renewal option 3 
$1 000,000 

$11 77 
$2,012.87 

5 0% 

Renewal option 3 
Paid 

Medical & Rx 
J25% 
90% 

$1.099.58 
$846.51 
$253.05 

$3,078.77 
$2,370,22 
$708.55 

$324,194.43 
$3&0,218.03 

6 5% 

Renewal option 3 
$1,197,539 28 
4.322,592 36 

$5,520,131.8' 
8.5% 

Please Indicate the renewal option you have selected by lnl11alln1 one of the three boxes above. The premium rates agreed upor'I as part of the renewal 
will be effective on the Policy Renewal Effective Date. Your signature on the renewal proposal constitutes your acceptance of the terms. conditions, 
assumptions and contingencies set forth in it 

Please ad<nowledge your acceptance of the renewal proposal, which includes all pages of the proposal, by signing below and returning the signed page 
to Dominic Whalen. 

Pl·)PoSJ fo, C.tv Of A;ultd 

GSlOT-is; I SLP( !•l•� OS/ll (••o 05/231 

J 

VII.C.2



STOP-LOSS 

Renewal Proposal 
Created for 

City Of Rolla 

Presented by Dominic Whalen 

Dominic.Whalen@sunlife.com 

·") Sun Life·

VII.C.3



Why Sun Life? 

A leader you can 
continue to count on 

As employers make the decision to take on 
additional risk with self-funding, finding a stop­

loss carrier you can count on to provide financial 

protection from high-cost claims is often an 
essential step. At Sun Life, we know that being 

your best partner for stop-loss means being 
dependable, responsive, and innovative. 

We work together with you, our clients and 
broker partners, to optimize care and cost and 

to reimburse your most expensive claims, fast. 

Healthcare advocacy 
and care navigation 
Count on our cllnlcal experts to 
empower membtr1 to navlptt 
tht healthcare system, 1cc111 the 
cart they nNd, and confidently 
makt decisions about their 
health. 

• Access to a wide variety of
programs including medical
Rx management, negotiation
specialists, and condition�speclfic
management

• Clinical expertise and in-depth
knowledge of the healthcare
system

• Fast, seamless, objective process
to get expert guidance, quickly

• Improved health outcomes.
better member experiences and
potential cost savings

Proponl :or Cty Of Rolla 

GSLOT-255 I, 5lPC 2�342 OS 21 letp 0�/23) 

Strength and Stability 
Count on us to deliver the 
coverage and customized 
solutlons that belt flt your netds. 

• The largest independent stop-loss
provider'

• A dedicated team of experts to
support you every step of the Wll( 

• Over 5.SM covered members and
$2.58 of In-force premium'

• Strong financial ratings,
consistent underwriting
and dependable, fastdaim
reimbursement

Insights and 
Innovation 
Count on III to provlclt actlonabte 
Insight. that make It Nlltr to 
makt the right decisions for your 
Hlf-fundtd mtdlcal plans. 

• Annual high-cost claim and
injectable drug trends analysis
with actionable recommendations

• Insights on emerging Rx trends
and legislitive topics that could
impact employers

• Self-funding best practices and
customized benchmarking data to
guide your self-funded strategy

• Interactive tools to make doing
business with us even Hsier

VII.C.4



Predictable renewals 

Our comprehensive renewal approach provides 

customers with fair and predictable renewals. 

Proposal for City Of Rolla 

GSLOT 25S1. SLPC 24H2 05/ll (e.,p 05/23 

All of Sun Life Stop-Loss renewals 
include the following: 

1. An explanation about how pooling helps
deliver rate stability

2. A claims summary showing how your plan is
performing

3. Education about market factors that affect
stop-loss rates

4. A clear renewal illustration that outlines
current rates and renewal options

VII.C.5



o�o SECTION ONE

\.o,/ How pooling helps deliver renewal rate stability over time

Sun Life is able to provide increased rate stability through pooling. 

Pooling combines stop-loss claims experiences between companies to help spread 

risk and create the opportunity to produce more consistent renewal costs across 

a large book of business. 

.,._ Claims 

-....Premium 

Vear 1 Vear 2 

Consistent renewals 

Vear 3 Year4 Year 5 Year6 

The chart above shows how our pooled approach can provide protection against significant changes in 

renewal costs. Your Stop-Loss claims can rise and fall from year to year, largely due to the volatility 

often associated with high-cost claims. 

In a non-pooled approach, your renewal premium would likely be adjusted each year to reflect your 

individual claims experience. The corresponding rate changes might be extreme, depending on how 

poor or how favorable the experience was during the most recent contract periods. Pooling decreases 

volatility, since the cost of the high-cost claim is shared by the entire customer pool. 

,,. Proven results you can depend on 

Our pooled approach has provided stability for our clients in good times and bad. 

Below is the distribution of rate increases over the last three renewal years 2020-2022 ': 

Greater than 20% Greater than 30% Greater than 40% 

• • 

,, 

f•roi1os�I for C,t I Of Ro1 � 

GSLOT 2551 >LP( lJH2 os1a (e,;> 52• 

. 

VII.C.6



9 ., 
SECTIONTWO 

(0 Specific claims summary
City Of Rolla, Specific claims summary 

The charts below show your current Specific claims activity related to your Specific deductible. 

This chart shows the total number of claims that exceeded the Specific deductible during the contract 
period(s). For the current period, the expected claim count is a vear•to-date number to be 
comparable to the claim count. 

Number of claims beyond Specific deductible 

Year 

Current 
Prior 1 
Prior 2 

Totals 

Spec level 

$100.000 
$75.000 

Claim count 

2 
6 

8 

Expected 

2 
5 

8 

Actual to expected 

83% 
109% 

101% 

This chart shows the total number of claims that exceeded the Specific deductible during the contract period(s) 
For the current period, the expected claim count is a year-to-date number to be comparable to the claim count. 

Reimbursed claims compared to paid premiums 

Year 

Current 
Prior 1 
Prior 2 

Totals 

Claim count 
1 

6 

7 

Paid claims 

$484,623 
$999.178 

$1.483,801 

This chart shows your total reimbursed claims compared to total paid premiums, 

SI.I00.000 

SU00.000 

St,400,000 

s,.200.000 

SI 000.000 

SI00.000 

$600.000 

$400.000 

szoo.ooo 

so 

Paid claims versus paid premiums 

Paid premium 

$825,364 
$779.288 

$1,604.652 

Priorl 

■P11d �,emium 

This chart shows your total reimbursed claims compared to total premiums. 

Estimated reimbursable claims 

loss ratio 

59% 
128% 

92% 

rcuak 

When preparing your renewal options, Sun Life assumes that a number of claims have not yet been 
reported in the current policy period. We use a completion factor to help us predict how many claims 
will be submitted for reimbursement in the remaining months of the policy period. A completfon factor is 
an estimated amount of time it might take for an incurred stop-loss claim to be submitted for reimbursement 

Estimated relmbursable clalms projection 

Reported claims 

Spanning the 8 completed 
months of the policy year 

32% 

Not-yet-reported claims 

Spanning the remaining 4 months in 
the policy year 

68" 

This chart shows the estimated percentage of reported and not-yet-reported claims 
for your policy year as of the date of this renewal proposal. 

Propo;al for Cit•, Of Rolla 

GSLOT-2S51 5LPC 24342 0S/ll (esp 0S/231 

VII.C.7



SECTION THREE 

Market factors that affect stop-loss rates 

A variety of market factors impact the development 
of your stop-loss rates Some of the more influential 
are medical trend, leveraged trend, your healthcare 
plan design, and your group's demographics. However, 
other factors such as economic conditions, current 

federal and stale legislation, and the stop-loss industry 
itself are also taken into consideration. 

Factors that affect stop-loss rates: 

� e-) 
Healthcare plan and group demographics

Healthcare plan design services may llke co-payments, deductibles, employee 

premium contributions, wellness programs. and participation levels 

Type of health plan network is a health maintenance organization {HMO). 

national exclusive provider organization (EPO) or preffered provider organization (PPO) or a reference-based pricing approach 

/aoTI 

Group demographics like the employee population, geographic 

location of the employer, and type of industry. 

Medical trend is a prediction of how much healthcare costs will change over time. It is 

driven by a combination of the changes in costs for services as well as the rates of 

utilization. Historically, medical trend has increased at a rate that has outpaced 

inflation.• 

Leveraged trend is a prediction of how much the cost of high-cost claims - the type of 

claims that stop-loss insurance covers - will rise or fall over time in relation to 

healthcare costs. 

If the stop-loss deductible remains the same from year to year, the division of risk 

between the employer and the stop-loss insurer will change and the stop-loss carrier will 

assume a larger portion of the risk in return for higher premiums, 

How can you reduce the Impact of leveraged trend? 
An employer can offset the effect of leveraged trend on its Speoltic 
stop-loss premium by choosing a higher specific deductible to offset the 
additional risk absorbed bv the carrier 

Leveraged trend example 

Impact without• change to Stop-Loss Deductible lmpKl with .. inause to Stop-Loss Deductibl& 

0...aHClaim Medal 

L __ 
-:>rcpc� Ji f�r Cit/ Ot ;iVIIJ 

G:iU)7 �551, SL.:>C 2J l-l( C.S/21 !P'<P- OS/.H) 

0-allClalm 

Slap-l.ms 

SS0,000 

� 

$100,000 

0-allClalm 

sno..ooo 

Step-Loss 

L.aYWaged 
Tnftd1" � 

MN!cel Sl5,GOO 
lNnd� 

f----

I 
I 

-..:a: 

VII.C.8



Renewal options, continued 

Policyholder name· 
Account number· 
Renewal status· 
Renewal Eff Date: 

City Of Rolla 
962854 
Open 
October I. 2025 

Specific: Stop-Lou co11era1e 

The following options 1nd pi'.:,grams are ,r,�ludcd ;n yo,ut policy: 

• Expert Cancer Review: 
For oovered members ...,th a cancer diagnosis or ongoing cancer treatment. we provide access to a 
written second opinion service from leading onoology speo,alists at Sun llfe·s expense 

• No New Later Gene Therapy Enhancement: 
With this enhancement we will not add a new laser, modify or mcrease the amount of an existing laser lhat 
was previously set for another treatment or cond tion, directly related to the cost of a gene therapy drug. 
We will continue 10 employ slraleg.es to m1bgate the impact of h1ghccosl gene therapy da1ms ensunng 
renewal stabil ty 
A gene lherapy drug is a prescribed treatment that modifies a person"s genes lo treat or cure disease, 
Geoe therapy drugs must be designated as a gene lherapy and FDA approved 
Existing 1nd vidual Speo,fic Benefit Deductibles applied to a specific Covered Person due to the member's 
under1ymg conditon 0< other reasons will apply. 
Y)ew oor Notice of Enhanced Business Practice here. 

• No New Lasers at Renewal option with Renewal Rate Cap of 50% 
This option prevents new lasers from being added to the new pohcy 1f 11 renews The rate cap applies to 
Speafic Benefit rates and the Aggregaling Specific dedudible (if applicable) and ,t assumes there are no 
material changes to lhe under1ymg plan. the Sun Life Stop-Loss policy or lhe covered group 

• Advance Funding option 
Thrs opbon enhances the cash ftow of your self-funded pla11 by advancing lhe slop-loss funds to you 
0< your adm,nislralor up front. before you pay the provider 

• Retiree coverage 
• Rx claims are included and bundled with the administration Cno carve-out PBM► 

This proposal assumes that your stop-loss insurance will include coverage f0< prescription drug claims 
and that the standard large claimant reporbng from your medical admm stralor wtU include both medical 
and prescrrpt,on drug da,ms Based on the inf0<malion provided. your PBM vendor ,s Ventegra 
SunElite .. medical document review service 
SunElite is a medical plan documenl review seivice for Sun Life Stop-Loss c"1ents Your custom SunEhte 
report .,..;11 analyze the plan's cosl-containment, federal law comphance and discrelionary authority 

• Sun Life Clinical 360 
Sun Life Clintcal 360 is a program utilizing clinical experts who act as a second set of eyes, 
reviewing claim data to identify cosl savings and care optimization opportun·ties 

This program ,s aulomatically included for all Sun L,te Stop-Loss clienls. 

The follow,ng are not included in your policy-
• Terminal Liability option 
• Experience Rating Refund 

Producer commissions 
Sun Life pays the following commission percent 10 the Stop-Loss producer 0.0% 

Specific Benefit Stop-Lon ran-al acc■ptance 
Acceptance of your Specific Benefit Stop-Loss renewal by Sun Life ,s subject to timely receipl of a signed renewal 
proposal and contingent upon a review of large daims over $50,000 with d1agnosis/prognosIs for the penod of 
October 1, 2024, through June 30, 2025, with accompany,ng requ.red information For large elaims 
the required mformation •ndudes paid claims, pending daims, and notificalion of known s1Iuabons. Upon 
review of your large claims informalion, we reserve the nghl 10 recalculale quoted rales 

Sun Life will not reimburse for cl;i"ms expenses incurred outside the Policy Yeaf paramelers. 

AQgregate e.neflt Stop-loss 
• Features 

Monthly Aggregate Accommodation is included 
Terminal Liability option is nol induded 

Aggregate Stop-Loss renewal acceptance 
Renewal acceptance of Aggregate Benefit coverage by Sun Life Is subIect to bmely receipl of a signed renewal 
proposal and conllngenl upon a review of month,y c,la1ms and l,ves by line of coverage for lhe period 
of Oclober 1 2024. through June 30, 2025 Upon rev,ew of lhat 1nfD<mation we reserve the 
right to recalculate the Aggregate Benefil Anachmenl Point 

General co,,_,. 

• Captive coverage 
Any Stop Loss policy issued to a policyholder lhal is part of a capI,ve program, IS exeluded from any and aN 

September 15, 2025 

VII.C.9



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Thursday, 16 October, 2025 | 6 pmThursday, 16 October, 2025 | 6 pm
register: bit.ly/RHSHOCO25 

 email: rbridgeman@rolla31.org
register: bit.ly/RHSHOCO25 

 email: rbridgeman@rolla31.org
rhs.rolla31.orgrhs.rolla31.org

R H S  S T U C O  P R E S E N T SR H S  S T U C O  P R E S E N T S

Under the
Lanterns
Under the
Lanterns

A NightA Night

T H E  2 0 2 5  H O M E C O M I N G  P A R A D ET H E  2 0 2 5  H O M E C O M I N G  P A R A D E

https://docs.google.com/forms/d/e/1FAIpQLScKk1E2JbDt-9MXP4IQ9gMcDKAscD4t3iHVTruS-Tls2ynCrg/viewform
https://docs.google.com/forms/d/e/1FAIpQLScKk1E2JbDt-9MXP4IQ9gMcDKAscD4t3iHVTruS-Tls2ynCrg/viewform


Under the
Lanterns
Under the
Lanterns

ParadeParade

A NightA Night

rhs.rolla31.org

The Route
Stage on 7th, Rolla, & Main
Proceed North on Rolla Street
Turn right on 11th Street
Turn Right on Oak Street
Turn left on 8th Street & proceed to RHS

REGISTER HERE


	20251006 cm
	Ministerial Alliance
	AGENDA OF THE ROLLA CITY COUNCIL
	Monday, October 6th, 2025; 6:30 P.M.
	City Hall Council Chambers
	901 North Elm Street
	PRESIDING: Mayor Pro-Tempore Kevin Greven
	COUNCIL ROLL: Vacancy, AUGUST ROLUFS, ANDREW BEHRENDT, NATHAN CHIRBAN, STEVE JACKSON, AARON PACE, WILLIAM HAHN, TOM MC NEVEN, KEVIN GREVEN, DAVID SHELBY, TINA BALCH AND MICHEAL DICKENS
	Councilwoman Balch
	I. CONSENT AGENDA –
	A. Consider Approval of the City Council Minutes of:
	1. City Council Minutes – September 2nd, 2025
	2. Closed Session Minutes – September 2nd, 2025
	3. City Council Minutes – September 17th, 2025
	4. City Council Workshop Minutes – September 17th, 2025
	a) Environmental Services Department Monthly Report August 2025
	b) Building Codes monthly report – August 2025
	c) Rolla Municipal Court summary – August 2025
	d) Police Department Monthly Report – August 2025
	e) Animal Control Division Report – August 2025
	f) The Centre Income Statement ending August 2025
	g) Fire Incident Report for August 2025
	h) City of Rolla Financials for August 2025
	III. PUBLIC HEARINGS -
	A. Public Hearing and Ordinance to approve the renaming of Sandstone Street to Sandstone Drive. (City Planner Tom Coots) Public Hearing/First Reading
	IV. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS and SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS – None
	VI. NEW BUSINESS –
	A. Ordinance authorizing a Municipal Agreement with the Missouri Highways and Transportation Commission for repairs to the 10th Street (Route BB) bridge over the railroad. (Public Works Director, Darin Pryor) First Reading
	B. Ordinance  prohibiting parking on Little Oaks Road between Route 63 and Rolla Street. (PW Director Darin Pryor) First Reading
	C. Ordinance authoring the execution of an Airport Infrastructure Grant Agreement with the Missouri Highways and Transportation Commission. (PW Director Darin Pryor) First Reading
	D. Ordinance regarding the rights and duties of pedestrians and motorists in roadways and intersections. (Police Chief Sean Fagan) First Reading
	E. Ordinance to amend Chapter 18 of the City Code pertaining to trash service fees. (Environmental Services Director Roger Pankey) First Reading
	F.     Discussion/Motion to ratify the Centre’s Natatorium (indoor pool)-continued operation. (City Administrator John Butz)
	VII. CLAIMS and/or FISCAL TRANSACTIONS –
	A. Motion to award bid to Fabick Cat for a Caterpillar 430 Backhoe. (PW Director Darin Pryor)
	B. Motion to award bid to:
	a. Rush Truck Centers of Missouri for the purchase of an International HV507 truck.
	b.  Viking-Cives Midwest for a 16’ dump bed. (PW Director Darin Pryor)
	C. Motion to ratify City Administration’s renewal with Sunlife for excess coverage for health insurance. (City Administrator, John Butz)
	IX. MAYOR/CITY COUNCIL COMMENTS
	X. COMMENTS FOR THE GOOD OF THE ORDER
	A. Next City Council meeting, Monday, October 20th.
	B. Gina Zervos – RHS Director of Communications: 2025 Homecoming Parade on Thursday, October 16th at
	6:00 p.m.
	A. CLOSED SESSION – Closed Session per RSMo 610.021 – NONE
	XI. ADJOURNMENT -

	MInutes
	20250902 cm
	ROLLA CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES
	TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 2ND, 2025; 6:30 P.M.
	ROLLA CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS
	Mayor Louis J. Magdits IV called the meeting to order at approximately 6:30 p.m. and asked Councilman Greven to lead in the Pledge of Allegiance.
	I. CONSENT AGENDA –
	A. Consider Approval of the City Council Minutes of:
	A. City Council Minutes – August 4th, 2025
	B. Closed Session Minutes – August 4th, 2025
	C. City Council Minutes – August 18th, 2025
	D. City Council Workshop Minutes – August 25th, 2025
	A motion was made by Shelby, seconded by Chirban, to approve the minutes. Motion passed unanimously by voice vote.
	a) Environmental Services Department Monthly Report July 2025
	b) Building Codes monthly report – July 2025
	c) Police Department Monthly Report – July 2025
	d) Animal Control Division Report – July 2025
	e) The Centre Income Statement ending July 2025
	f) Fire Incident Report for July 2025
	g) City of Rolla Financials for July 2025
	h) Rolla Municipal Court summary – July 2025
	i) Enhanced Enterprise Zone Board Minutes for August 21, 2025
	There were no notable comments or questions regarding the reports.
	III. PUBLIC HEARINGS -
	IV. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS and SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS – None
	A. Ordinance to approve the Conditional Use Permit to allow an Agricultural Business Use (golf driving range) in the R-1, Suburban Residential district at 1905 Country Ridge Rd. (City Planner Tom Coots) There were multiple concerns expressed about the...
	B. Ordinance to approve the vacation of an easement at 418 Hutchinson Drive. (City Planner Tom Coots) City Counselor Nathan Nickolaus read the ordinance for its final reading by title: ORDINANCE 4874: AN ORDINANCE APPROVING THE VACATION OF AN EASEMENT...
	VI. NEW BUSINESS –
	A. Ordinance to approve the 2025-2026 sewer service availability fee increase. PW Director Darin Pryor presented the proposed increases as discussed in the earlier public hearing and as is included in the proposed 2025-2026 Budget. City Counselor Nath...
	B. Motion to appoint a Council attendee or to delegate same to the City Administrator for the Annual LAGERS meeting, October 30th-31st, 2025. (City Administrator John Butz) A motion was made by Jackson to nominate Greven, seconded by Chirban. Motion p...
	C. Resolution to demonstrate support for a possible affordable housing project by showing our commitment to extend the Acorn Trail. (Community Development Director Dawn Bell) City Counselor Nathan Nickolaus read the resolution for one reading, by titl...
	VII. CLAIMS and/or FISCAL TRANSACTIONS –   None
	IX. MAYOR/CITY COUNCIL COMMENTS
	A. Consider to further table the Centre discussions until the September 17th Council Meeting. (No motion needed as it was tabled at the previous August 18th meeting.
	B. Councilman Chirban commented on all the new events being posted on the Park’s Department website and asked Parks Director Floyd Jernigan to share about the new Introduction to Archery class for kids being hosted in conjunction with the Missouri Con...
	C. Councilman Greven talked about Fort Leonard Wood and its importance to Rolla.
	X. COMMENTS FOR THE GOOD OF THE ORDER
	A. (cancelled) Next Council Workshop, Tuesday, September 9th, 2025 (Note: This will begin in closed session then move to open session). It was later decided that this tentative date was to be cancelled. More discussion will be had on this in the future.
	B. Next City Council meeting, Wednesday, September 17th (due to MML Conference)
	C. Community Development Director Dawn Bell shared that mandatory classes for the Managed Deer Hunt will be on September 4th at 5:30 p.m., September 8th at 5:30 p.m., and September 10th, at 7:00 a.m. in the City Council Chambers.
	D. Mayor Magdits encouraged everyone to attend the Fall Nature Festival & Native Plant Sale scheduled for Saturday, September 13th from 8:00 a.m.-2:00 p.m. at the Audubon Trails Nature Center. Parks Director Floyd provided more detail as to the offeri...
	E. Parks Director Floyd Jernigan invited everyone to the Canine Plunge at the Splash Zone Waterpark on September 13th from noon to 2:00 p.m.
	XI. CLOSED SESSION –
	A. Closed Session per RSMo 610.021 – (12) Contract Negotiations (18) Law Enforcement Investigation.
	At 8:19 p.m., a motion was made by Jackson, seconded by Hahn, to go into closed session. A roll call vote showed: Ayes: Greven, McNeven, Behrendt, Jackson, Chirban, Pace, Dickens, Rolufs, Shelby, and Hahn. Nays: none.
	At 9:52 p.m., Council returned from closed session where there were no final actions taken.
	XII. ADJOURNMENT –

	20250917 cm
	ROLLA CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES
	WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 17TH, 2025; 6:30 P.M.
	ROLLA CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS
	Mayor Louis J. Magdits IV called the meeting to order at approximately 6:30 p.m. and asked Councilman Shelby to lead in the Pledge of Allegiance.
	I. PUBLIC HEARINGS -  None
	II. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS and SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS – None
	A. Ordinance to approve the FY 2026 Budget. (City Administrator John Butz)
	A motion was made by Hahn to amend the ordinance to read, “All expenditures represented by this budget that require individual prior City Council resolution or ordinance shall include an executive summary that includes the following information: Depa...
	A motion was made by Hahn regarding a new Finance report, but was later withdrawn to allow Administration time to explore options.
	City Counselor Nathan Nickolaus read the ordinance for its final reading, by title: ORDINANCE 4875: AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING AN ANNUAL BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING ON OCTOBER 1, 2025 AND APPROPRIATING FUNDS PURSUANT THERETO.A motion was made by ...
	B. Ordinance to approve the 2025-2026 sewer service availability fee increase. (PW Director Darin Pryor) City Counselor Nathan Nickolaus read the ordinance for its final reading, by title: ORDINANCE 4876: AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CERTAIN SECTIONS OF CHAP...
	IV. NEW BUSINESS –
	A. Ordinance to approve Preliminary Engineering Agreement with BNSF for 18th/Bardsley Roundabout. (Public Works Director) In 2021, Lochmueller Group recommended a single-lane roundabout based on a traffic study. Council approved continued design work ...
	B. Ordinance to enter into agreement with MoDOT for Transportation Alternatives Funds Agreement to replace 45 non-compliant curb ramps. (PW Director Darin Pryor) City Counselor Nathan Nickolaus read the ordinance for its first reading by title: AN ORD...
	C. Ordinance amending Sec.31-3 of the Rolla City Code pertaining to Loitering and Park Hours. (Parks Director Floyd Jernigan) A motion was made by Hahn, seconded by McNeven, to amend the proposed ordinance to read, “It shall be unlawful for any person...
	V. CLAIMS and/or FISCAL TRANSACTIONS –
	A. Motion to award bank depository services to Phelps County Bank for a 4-year term expiring in 2029. (Finance Director Steffanie Rogers) A motion was made by Greven, seconded by Jackson, to award the bid to Phelps County Bank. Motion passed unanimous...
	VII. MAYOR/CITY COUNCIL COMMENTS
	A. Mayor update on Rec Center/Natatorium.
	Mayor Magdits began with a summary on the Centre’s business model change from a traditional community recreation center to a medically integrated facility and reminded Council that The Centre is the only Certified Medical (recreational) facility in M...
	The Natatorium is operating at a $50–$300K annual deficit, while SplashZone was losing a similar amount over just a three-month period. Additionally, approximately $700K in capital expenditure repairs are needed." There was discussion about the possi...
	B. Councilman Jackson commented that he attended the last RACC luncheon where a presentation was made regarding the Missouri S&T Protoplex. He was excited about the hundreds of jobs this may create in Rolla.
	C. Councilman Hahn shared information about the upcoming Ranney Run which has raised significant funds and been a champion for the Animal Shelter for almost a decade.
	VIII. COMMENTS FOR THE GOOD OF THE ORDER
	A. Next City Council meeting, Monday, October 6th.
	B. Public Works Director Darin Pryor shared that the Arts and Crafts event will be October 4th from 9:00 am -3:00 pm with 100+ vendors.
	C. Park’s Director Floyd Jernigan shared that Kid’s Night Out would be Saturday, September 27th and details about a Free PE class at Eugene Northern.
	D. Councilman Jackson asked if there would be a fall clean-up. Env. Ser. Director Roger Pankey shared that this event was only in the spring.
	IX. CLOSED SESSION –
	A. Closed Session per RSMo 610.021 – (12) Contract Negotiations
	At 8:49 p.m. a motion was made by Shelby, seconded by Balch, to go into closed session. A roll call vote showed: Ayes: McNeven, Behrendt, Jackson, Hahn, Pace, Dickens, Rolufs, Greven, Balch, and Shelby.
	At 10:01 Council returned from closed session where there were no final actions taken.
	X. ADJOURNMENT -

	02 B Blank Page - Copy - Copy - Copy - Copy - Copy (2)

	reports
	Sandstone name change
	STR25-01 CC Report
	STR25-01 Ordinance
	STR25-01 Area Map
	Slide 1


	bnsf
	10-06-25  Bardsley Roundabout BNSF agreement commentary
	10-06-25 Ordinance BNSF Preliminary Engineering Agreement
	9-17-25 BNSF Preliminary Engineering Agreement

	modot tap
	10-06-25 Commentary for MoDOT TAP Grant Agreement Ramps 45
	10-06-25 Ordinance TAP Grant Ramps
	10-06-25 MoDOT TAP agreement 2025-08-88303
	ADA Ramps (45)

	parks hours
	Park Hours Lauber ord draft (2)
	ADP2CB5.tmp
	CITY OF ROLLA


	golf driving range
	CUP25-02 CC Report Final Oct 6
	CUP25-02 Ordinance
	CUP25-02 Revised Site Plan
	CUP25-02 Revised Letter of Request
	CUP25-02 Public Notice
	Slide 1
	Slide 2


	10street bridge
	10-06-25 Commentary for MoDOT Municipal agreement
	10-06-25 Ordinance MoDOT Route BB municpal agreement
	10-06-25 MoDOT JCD0089 Phelps BB municipal agreement

	little oaks road 
	10-06-25 Commentary Little Oaks no parking
	10-06-25 Sec27-92-Little Oaks no parking ordinance
	Sec. 27-92 Parking Prohibited – On certain streets or parts of streets.

	10-6-25 Little Oaks Road No Parking map

	airport
	10-06-25 AirportTaxiway CM fees grant
	10-06-25 Ordinance Airport Grant CM Fees
	10-6-25 Airport Grant AgreementVIH IIJA SBGA for 23-056A-1

	pedestrians
	rate fee increase
	The Centre's Natatorium
	CITY OF ROLLA

	backhoe
	10-6-25 Concrete Backhoe Commentary
	10-6-25 Concrete backhoe 430-City of Rolla-Caterpillar 430

	dumptruck
	10-06-25 Dump Truck Commentary
	10-6-25 Dump Truck Proposal #5272-01_09-16-2025
	10-6-25 Truck Bed VIKINGQUOTE_Quote173178

	health insurance
	2025 HOCO PARADE FLYER (1)



